# TRANSFORMERS GET STABLE: AN END-TO-END SIG-NAL PROPAGATION THEORY FOR LANGUAGE MODELS

#### **Anonymous authors**

Paper under double-blind review

## Abstract

In spite of their huge success, transformer models remain difficult to scale in depth. In this work, we provide formulae that govern the moments of the forward and backward signal through all transformer components, and develop a unified signal propagation theory for transformers. Our framework can be used to understand and mitigate vanishing/exploding gradients, rank collapse, and instability associated with high attention scores. We also propose DeepScaleLM, an initialization and scaling scheme that conserves unit output/gradient moments throughout the model, enabling the training of very deep models with 100s of layers. We find that transformer models could be much deeper – our deep models improve 1.0 points in perplexity, and 2.2 points in downstream tasks compared to shallow models across multiple model sizes, without any extra parameters, and even outperform larger shallow models using only half the number of parameters.

## **1** INTRODUCTION

Transformer models have become extremely popular across different domains of machine learning. However, deep transformers are plagued with issues of gradient explosion/vanishing (Shleifer et al., 2021; Takase et al., 2022), and of rank collapse (Shi et al., 2022; Zhou et al., 2021; Noci et al., 2022) that adversely affect training stability. Several remedies have been proposed to alleviate these issues, such as changing the location of layernorm to stabilize model training (Xiong et al., 2020), adding extra layernorms after attention (Dehghani et al., 2023), initializing weights as zero (Bachlechner et al., 2020), and changing the scaling of residuals (Wang et al., 2022a; Zhang et al., 2019).

Theoretical analysis of deep transformers, via signal propagation, kernel methods, etc. has led to an improved understanding of these issues. However, these works have inherent simplistic assumptions such as IID inputs, uncorrelated outputs, assuming no effect of attention query/key initialization, simplified treatment of effects of non-linearity, etc (Xu et al., 2019; Davis et al., 2021; Dong et al., 2023). We observed that each one of these assumptions breaks down in a model with real world data, adversely affecting model stability.

Furthermore, these modifications may lead to unintended degradation caused by side effects. For example, changing the position of the Layernorm in Pre-LN can lead to gradient mismatch (Shleifer et al., 2021). Moreover, the optimal initialization/scaling can vary based on data/model characteristics (Zhang et al., 2023; Marion et al., 2022). Detailed discussion of related works is provided in Appendix B. These issues highlight the need for a holistic theoretical framework that can fully explain signal propagation through transformer models with real data, and enable comparative analysis along the stability-performance trade-off curve.

In this paper, we first derive the first and second-order moments (mean and variance) of the outputs and gradients of each of the components of the transformer model – Embeddings, FFN, Re-LU/GeLU, LayerNorm, Dropout, Softmax, Single-Head Attention, and provide complete closedform expressions for the same. Combining these expressions enables us to derive the equations that describe the forward and backward signal flow through the transformer Attention and FFN blocks, and through the entire transformer model for both Pre-LN and Post-LN variants. We validate our theory by empirically verifying the derived equations.

Our theoretical framework can be used to understand multiple training instability issues with very deep transformer – specifically, it demonstrates the vanishing/exploding gradient of deep transform-

ers, rank collapse, and instability caused by high QK values of attention. It can pinpoint the root cause behind these issues, and suggests simple fixes to alleviate them.

Montúfar et al. (2014); Raghu et al. (2017) show that the complexity of Deep Neural Nets increases polynomially with width and exponentially with depth. However, deep transformers are often unstable due to the above mentioned issues Smith et al. (2022); Chowdhery et al. (2022). Our theory further enables us to propose DeepScaleLM, a novel initialization scheme that augments residual/output scaling, and ensures the moments of outputs and gradients to remain fully conserved throughout the model at initialization. The theory also allows practitioners to tune the model stability based on their requirements, at the possible expense of model performance.

DSLM enables us to break the depth barrier and train both Pre-LN and Post-LN models with 100s of layers. We find that transformer models could be much deeper – our 192-layer model outperforms a standard 12-layer model without extra parameters or compute. Similarly, 96 and 384-layer models outperform the 24-layer BERT-large model. Deep DSLM-models are able to beat models with twice the number of parameters. These improvements persist after fine-tuning for downstream tasks.

Our contributions are as follows –

- 1. We derive and verify the moments for signal propagation through the transformer components, blocks, and the entire model. To the best our knowledge, this is the first work to provide closed-forms for many of these components, for the blocks, and the entire model.
- 2. We leverage our formulae to tackle vanishing/exploding gradients and outputs, rank collapse, and instability caused by high QK values all under one framework.
- 3. We propose DeepScaleLM, an initialization and scaling scheme that conserves unit output/gradient throughout the model at initialization, and bounds gradients during training.
- 4. Our experiments suggest that transformer models could be much deeper (100s of layers) for improved performance with the same number of parameters and compute.

## 2 MOMENTS OF TRANSFORMER MODELS

Table 1: Signal propagation for forward  $(\sigma_{x_{out}}^2)$  and backward  $(\sigma_{g_{in}}^2)$  passes through components of a transformer. The expressions here are illustrative simplification of full closed form formulae in Appendices C and E.

Component	$\mu_{\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{out}}}$	$\sigma^{2}_{\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{out}}}$	$\sigma^{2}_{\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{in}}}$	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{out}}}^{\mathrm{l}}$	${f r}^l_{{f g}_{in}}$
Embeddings	0	$\sum \sigma^2_{w_{ m embd}}$	-	$\frac{\pi^2}{18*\log( V )^2} + \frac{2}{9}$	0
Linear ( $d_{\rm in} \rightarrow d_{\rm out}$ )	0	$d_{\rm in}\sigma_w^2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2+\mu_{x_{\rm in}}^2)$	$d_{\rm out}\sigma_w^2\sigma_{g_{\rm out}}^2$	$\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l + \mu_{x_{\rm in}}^2/\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{1 + \mu_{x_{\rm in}}^2/\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}$	$r^l_{g_{out}}$
ReLU	$\frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}}{\sqrt{(2\pi)}}$	$rac{(\pi-1)}{(2\pi)}\sigma_{x_{ ext{in}}}^2$	$\frac{1}{2}\sigma_{g_{\rm out}}^2$	$0.7r_{x_{\rm in}}^l + 0.3r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l^{-2}}$	$(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\sin^{-1}\left(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\right)}{\pi})\mathrm{r}_{\mathrm{g}_{\mathrm{out}}}^{\mathrm{l}}$
LayerNorm (d)	0	1	$rac{\sigma_{g_{ m out}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{ m in}}^2}$	$r^l_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}$	$r^l_{g_{ m out}}$
Dropout (p)	$\mu_{x_{in}}$	$\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + p \mu_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{1-p}$	$\frac{1}{1-p}\sigma_{g_{\rm out}}^2$	$\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l(1-p)}{1+p\mu_{x_{\rm in}}^2/\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}$	$(1-p)r_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^l$
SHA-without V	0	$r_{x_{ ext{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{ ext{in}}}^{2}$	$r^l_{g_{ ext{out}}}\sigma^2_{g_{ ext{out}}}$	1	1
Softmax	$\frac{1}{L}$	$\frac{e^{(1-r_{x_{\rm in}}^d)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}-1}{L^2}$	$\frac{e^{(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^d)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}}{L^2}\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^2$	-	-

**Moments of Transformer Components** Following an analysis similar to that of Xavier/Glorot initialization (Glorot & Bengio, 2010), we derive closed-form expressions for the mean and variance

of the output and of the backpropagated gradient for all the components of the transformer model in Table 1 – Embeddings, Linear, ReLU (GeLU in supplementary), LayerNorm, Dropout, Softmax and Single-Head Attention(SHA).

Here  $\mu_{x_{\rm in}}, \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2, \mu_{x_{\rm out}}, \sigma_{x_{\rm out}}^2$  are the mean and variance of the input/outputs respectively.  $\sigma_{g_{\rm out}}^2, \sigma_{g_{\rm in}}^2$  are the variance of the gradient back-propagated to and from the component, respectively.  $r^l, r^d$  are the correlations across sequence length and hidden dimension, respectively. p is the dropout probability, L sequence length,  $d_{\rm in}, d_{\rm out}$  input/output dimensions of Linear layer,  $\sigma_w^2, \sigma_{w_{\rm embd}}^2$  variances of the weights of the Linear layer and the Embeddings table respectively.

Except for SHA, all other derivations of transformer components are fully exact, assuming only normal distribution of inputs, weights and gradients. For LayerNorm and softmax, we assume that the hidden dimension / sequence length are large. Detailed proofs are provided in Appendix C, and all assumptions are also summarized in Appendix L.2. These formulae were also numerically verified by simulations (Section 4.1), and the verification shows that our expectations are tight.

**Moments of Transformer Blocks** Combining the expressions reported in Table 1, we derive closed-form expressions for the moment transformation during the forward and backward pass of the transformer Attention and FFN blocks. The Attention block refers to the Q, K, V projection, followed by Multi-Head Attention, and Output-Projection Layer. The FFN block refers to the Linear layer, followed by non-linearity (ReLU), and output Linear layer. Table 2 provides our derived equations for these, where  $\sigma_v^2$ ,  $\sigma_o^2$ ,  $\sigma_{w_1}^2$ ,  $\sigma_{w_2}^2$  are the variances for V weights, Output-Projection weights, and weights of FFN block Linear layers, and d is model the hidden size.

These results show that considering correlation  $r^l$ , dropout p and effects of non-linearity are crucial for correctly modelling signal propagation through Transformer blocks.  $r^l_{x_{in}}$  originates from repeated tokens in the input, segment embeddings, and transformer layers. The correlation in embeddings is estimated theoretically by assuming that input tokens follow Zipf (1999) distribution. The equations in Table 2 are simplified from their complete closed form, which can be found in Appendix D.

Component	$\sigma^{2}_{\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{out}}}$	$ m r_{x_{out}}^{l}$	$\sigma^{2}_{\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{in}}}$
Attention Block	$\frac{d^2\sigma_o^2\sigma_v^2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2*r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{(1-p)}$	1-p	$\frac{d^2\sigma_o^2\sigma_v^2*\sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^2}{L(1-p)}(1+(L-1)r_{g_{\text{out}}}^l)$
FFN Block	$\frac{2d^2\sigma_{w_1}^2\sigma_{w_2}^2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{(1-p)}$	$(1-p)(\frac{1}{\pi} + \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{2} + (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\pi}){r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}^2)$	$\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{out}}}^2*\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^2$

Table 2: Moment Propagation through the blocks of a transformer layer. Exact closed forms and proofs for these equations are in Appendices D and E.

**Moments of Entire Transformer Model** By repeatedly applying the expressions in Table 2 for each layer, we calculate the propagation of moments of outputs and gradients through the entire transformer model. We do this for both Pre-LN style transformers, in which the skip connection bypasses the LayerNorm, and for Post-LN style transformers, in which the Layernorm is applied before the skip-connection. The method is fully detailed in Appendix H.1 for Pre-LN and in Appendix H.2 for Post-LN. Our derived moments have remarkably low error even after 192 layers, for both the forward output and backward gradient, as can be seen from Figures 1, 2 and 3 for a 192-layer 256-d model at initialization, initialized with Xavier initialization. These formulae were also verified by simulations, as detailed in Section 4.1.

## 3 APPLICATIONS

#### 3.1 EXPLAINING VARIANCE EXPLOSION IN VANILLA TRANSFORMER

Our approach theoretically proves the gradient vanishing/explosion with increasing number of layers, for both Pre-LN and Post-LN transformers, as listed in Table 3.



Figure 1: Pre-LN: Forward variance increases linearly with number of layers N.



Figure 3: Post-LN: Backward gradient variances vanish exponentially with N (log-scale).



Figure 2: Pre-LN: Backward gradient variance increases hyperbolically with N.



Figure 4: DeepScaleLM: The variances remain conserved for both backward and forwards.

**Exploding Output and Gradient in Pre-LN** As we prove in Appendix H.1, with increasing depth N, the forward output increases linearly for Pre-LN transformer since each layer's output is directly added to the skip connection, as can be seen in Figure 1. For the backward pass, the gradient increases hyperbolically with increasing N, as shown in as can be seen in Figure 2. Intuitively, this is because the gradient increases in every layer when a block's gradient is added to the skip connection, and the fractional increase in gradient is inversely proportional to the forward variance (which increases by N) because of LayerNorm.

**Vanishing/Exploding Gradient in Post-LN** While layernorm solves the explosion in the forward pass of networks with residual connections (De & Smith, 2020), it has the opposite impact on the gradient. As proved in Appendix H.2, the moment for the gradient in a Post-LN transformer grows/decays exponentially with the number of layers (Figure 3).

Intuitively, the gradient is first transformed within the layer and then at the LayerNorm placed before the layer. The multiplicative factor is applied repeatedly, and causes gradient to vanish or explode exponentially, as was also observed in Schoenholz et al. (2017). This exponential decay/explosion also explains why Post-LN models are more challenging to train than Pre-LN for deeper networks (Wang et al., 2022a; Shleifer et al., 2021; Takase et al., 2022).

Method		Post-LN			Pre-LN	
	Forward	Backward	Sensitivity	Forward	Backward	Sensitivity
Vanilla (Xavier/Fixed init)	1	$\mathcal{O}(c^{\pm N})$	$\mathcal{O}(N)$	$\mathcal{O}(N)$	$\mathcal{O}(N)$	$\mathcal{O}(log(N))$
DeepScaleLM (Ours)	1	$\mathcal{O}(1)$	$\mathcal{O}(1)$	1	$\mathcal{O}(1)$	$\mathcal{O}(1)$
DSInit	1	$\mathcal{O}(1)$	$\mathcal{O}(N^{-1})$	$\mathcal{O}(1)$	$\mathcal{O}(1)$	$\mathcal{O}(N^{-1})$
DeepNet	1	$\mathcal{O}(1)$	$\mathcal{O}(N^{-0.5})$	-	-	-

Table 3: Comparison of maximum theoretical forwards pass and backward pass growth in variance for the entire transformer model across methods. (See Appendix H for proofs)

#### 3.2 DEEPSCALELM: ENABLING DEEP TRANSFORMERS WITH 100S OF LAYERS

We propose a new initialization and re-scaling scheme, DeepScaleLM (DSLM), that aims to alleviate the explosion issues discussed above.

**Residual/Skip-Connection Scaling** Let  $\sigma_{\text{skip}}^2$ ,  $\sigma_{\text{block}}^2$ ,  $\sigma_{\text{model}}^2$  be the variances of the skip connection, the block, and the output of the final layer of the model, respectively. Let  $\sigma_{\text{skip}}^2 = \sigma_{\text{block}}^2$ , and we scale them by scalars  $\lambda$  and  $\beta$  respectively. Then, as has been proven in numerous works (Appendix B.3), if  $\lambda^2 + \beta^2 = 1$ , this scaling will maintain the variance after addition of the residual.

**Initialization** However while ensuring  $\sigma_{skip}^2 = \sigma_{block}^2$  (and equal to the variance of model input) has been done for ResNets (Appendix B.1), it is difficult to achieve theoretically for transformers. By leveraging the equations in Table 2, our theory provides us the tools to achieve this. We modify the initialization of the components of the transformer FFN and Attention blocks such that the variance of their output is 1, as further detailed in Appendix M –

- 1. We set the variance of embedding weights as  $\sigma_e^2 = \frac{1-p}{num_{embd}}$ , where  $num_{embd}$  is the number of embeddings types. As embeddings are followed by a dropout, this ensures the input variance to the model is 1.
- 2. We set  $\sigma_{w_2}^2 = \sigma_{w_1}^2 = \frac{1}{d} * \sqrt{\frac{1-p}{2}}$ , to make the output of the FFN block 1.
- 3. We iteratively calculate layer-by-layer  $r_{x_{in}}^l$ ,  $r_{x_{out}}^l$  using expressions from Table 2, and calculate the initial variance of the attention block weights to make the output variance 1.

This initialization of transformer blocks, combined with the scaling of the skip connection and residual, and correct initialization of the embeddings, results  $\sigma_{\text{model}}^2 = 1$ , irrespective of the number of layer N. This initialization also preserves the backward gradient, as proved for Pre-LN and Post-LN, in Appendices H.3 and H.4. Empirically, we show the backward gradient being preserved for both Pre-LN and Post-LN even across 192 layers at the start of training (Figure 4).

**Choice of Scaling Parameters** While any choice of  $\beta$  will work at initialization, higher values of  $\beta$ , for example  $\beta^2 = 0.5$  causes gradients to vanish (Figure 10, Table 4). This is because covariance between residual and skip connection increases the forward variance, which causes normalization to decrease backward gradient (De & Smith, 2020).

Similar to other prior works (Appendix B.3), we use  $\beta^2 = \frac{k}{N}$  in all our experiments, where k is some small constant. This enables us to bound the fall in gradient (Appendix H.3) for Pre-LN. For Post-LN,  $\beta^2 \leq \frac{k}{N^2}$  is theoretically required to bound the gradient (Appendix H.6). In practice, with  $\beta^2 = \frac{2}{N}$ , even with 768 layers, we empirically observed the final output variance from the model does not exceed 30, and all our models converge. We hence use  $\beta^2 = \frac{k}{N}$  (Figure 11), but a practitioner may choose  $\beta^2 = \frac{k}{N^{\alpha}}$ , with  $\alpha > 1$  if more stability is required at the expense of performance/"sensitivity" (Refer to Section 4.4 and comparison to prior works in Section 4.3). While the above analysis assumes positive covariance (which we always observed experimentally), negative covariance follows a similar reasoning, and will cause gradient explosion instead.

**Simpler Initialization** Another avenue to handle the covariance between residual and skip connection could be to set  $\lambda^2 + \beta^2 < 1$ . We therefore also consider a simpler initialization method(Appendix M), in which we modify the initialization of attention value and output matrices to be the same as those of FFN block. This decreases the "effective"  $\beta$  of the attention block, but as the attention block has 2x fewer params than FFN, this change in weightage seems reasonable. As we show in Appendices H.5 and H.6 while variances are no longer unit at initialization, they are still bounded. This change does not impact performance significantly, as we show in Table 10.

With the above initialization and skip/residual scaling, our DSLM method enables us to train models with 768 transformer layers for both Pre-LN and Post-LN. As our experiments will show, we find that for the same number of parameters and compute, deeper-narrower models with our method outperform standard-sized models during both pre-training and finetuning.

#### 3.3 EXPLAINING IMPACT OF LARGE QK VALUES

In Dehghani et al. (2023), the authors observed large QK values destabilized the training, and solved this empirically by adding a layernorm after attention scores. Prior work on signal propagation in transformers, either ignored the effect of QK initialization (Wang et al., 2022a) or suggest that the backpropagated gradients have a linear relation to QK variance (Noci et al., 2022). Critically, note from our derivations of softmax(Appendix C.7), the backwards gradients from Q/K are exponentially related to their variance. This exponential dependence points out the critical significance of correct initialization of Q/K. For e.g., by initializing them to only 2x the xavier values (keep all other initializations the same), backwards gradients exploded 10000x through a 192 layer model. Our theory explains these empirical observations of the detrimental impact of large QK values, and suggests simple initialization strategy to fix this problem, achieving the same variance on QK without the overhead of LayerNorm.

#### 3.4 EXPLAINING AND MITIGATING RANK COLLAPSE

Similar to our work, Noci et al. (2022) also analyze moment propagation through the transformer, and observed the rank collapse of the token's representations at initialization after just a few layers, i.e., all the token representations became the same ( $r_x^l \approx 1$  after just 12 layers) at initialization. This has also been reported in Shi et al. (2022); Zhou et al. (2021); Wang et al. (2022b); He et al. (2023); Bachlechner et al. (2020); Zhai et al. (2023), and suggested modifications such as adding a skip connection on attention scores, initializing Q/other weights to 0, or normalizing all FFN weights.





Figure 5: Forward  $r^l$  for FFN and Attention blocks with p = 0.1. FFN reduces  $r^l$  above 0.65, and attention always has < 1.

Figure 6: No rank collapse is observed with Xavier initialization with dropout.  $r^l$  increases slower with  $\beta^2 = \frac{2}{N}$  or for DeepScaleLM.

Our theory suggests a very simple solution – Dropout. As our closed form expressions suggest, both FFN block (because of ReLU) and dropout reduce the correlation(Figure 5). With dropout, our method shows that such a rank collapse will not occur, and  $r_x^l$  will quickly reach a stable value < 1 (Appendix G), and we verify this empirically in Figure 6.

Alternatively, scaling the block output by  $\beta = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}$ , or equivalently initializing the weights very small in Post-LN will also prevent rank collapse, even without Dropout. For Pre-LN,  $\lambda = 1$  slows down increase in  $r^l$  compared to  $\lambda^2 = 1 - \frac{1}{N}$  (but the same slowdown can be achieved by decreasing  $\beta$ ). While similar to Noci et al. (2022), we highlight some issues in Noci et al. (2022) in Appendix G. For DSLM, applying our block equations iteratively shows that  $r_x^l < 1 - \frac{1}{e^2}$  after N layers. This highlights the criticality of correct initialization, dropout and scaling for deep transformer models, as well as the explainability power of our theoretical framework proposed in the paper.

#### 4 **RESULTS**

#### 4.1 NUMERICAL VALIDATION OF THEORETICAL RESULTS

We verify the theoretical formulas of transformer components and blocks by running simulations with real and synthetic data, as detailed in Appendix F, over a large range. These simulation results are all fully reproducible using our code released as supplementary material. Even at 99 percentile, no error (other than SHA gradient variance) is larger than 10%, verifying our assumptions.

We also verify our formulae for the entire transformer model, as shown in Figures 1, 2, 3 and 4. Our formulae predict the observed gradient and forward/backward norms with remarkable accuracy. We further vary the model depths [1 - 768], and model dimensions [128 - 6096], and the reported formulae are within 10% error, even across 768 layers of the transformer model.

#### 4.2 VALIDITY OF THEORETICAL PREDICTIONS EVEN AFTER TRAINING

Interestingly, our theoretical estimates hold approximately even after the models have been trained for a large number of steps. The model stays in the regime it is initialized with (as has also been shown in Li & Liang (2018); Lee et al. (2019); Jesus et al. (2021); Arora et al. (2019a;b)), highlighting the importance of correct initialization. Further, we analyze forward explosion in a 48-layer PreLN model (after 100k training steps) and gradient explosion in a 64-layer PreLN model (after 150k training steps) and use our theory to predict the moments. Our linear estimation for the forward growth and hyperbolic estimation for the gradient explosion match closely with the observed moments as shown in Appendix in Figures 8 and 9.

#### 4.3 DEEPSCALELM: PERPLEXITY IMPROVEMENTS FOR VERY DEEP MODELS

**Implementation Details** We test our method on the Masked Language Modelling task with the BERT Devlin et al. (2019) model. We use Pile-CC dataset Gao et al. (2021) to train our model, and report LM test-set perplexities on the same. We use k = 2 for  $\beta$ , and we use all original hyper-parameters of BERT, except for learning rate (LR). We find that higher LR is needed for our deeper-narrower models (similar to Yang et al. (2021)). Hence, we search for LR for all the models. The training steps were decided based on Chinchilla (Hoffmann et al., 2022). Table 21 provides all hyper-parameter details. When using DSLM, model output was down-scaled by  $\sqrt{d}$  before LM-head.

We train different language models with the same number of parameters and compute – while increasing the depth (N), we reduce the hidden dimension d keeping number of parameters  $(Nd^2)$  constant. When changing from 12-layer 1024-d model to 192-layer 256-d model, compute negligibly increases by only 6.6% when keeping  $Nd^2$  constant (Table 20).

Table 4: Performance (perplexity) of models
with same compute and different shapes. Deep
Thin models provide large improvements.

Model (N,d)	Pre-LN	Post-LN	DSLM
	165M Pa	rams	
12, 1024	21.7	14.2	15.6
48, 512	18.0	14.8	13.1
192, 256	19.8	17.1	12.9
768, 128	26.9	diverge	18.4
	330M Pa	rams	
24, 1024	19.4	13.2	14.0
96, 512	24.0	diverge	12.2
384, 256	18.5	diverge	12.3

Table 5: Comparison with prior deep methods.

Layers	DSInit	DeepNorm	DSLM
96	diverge	13.4	12.2
192	15.9	14.4	12.9

Table 6: DSLM with deep Pre-LN.

Model (N,d)	Baseline	DSLM
384, 256	18.5	17.2
768, 128	26.9	25.9

**Perplexity Improvements after Pre-Training** In Table 4, we provide the results for two different model sizes, 165M and 330M, with DSLM applied to Post-LN. Post-LN is known to outperform Pre-LN Wang et al. (2022a) (observe Row-1 and Row-4). However, since deeper Post-LN models diverge, most current large LMs (such as GPT3 Brown et al. (2020)) are Pre-LN. Using our method, even a 768 layer Post-LN model (with 2300 Linear and 768 attention layers) converges.

Figure 7 shows that DSLM stabilizes the training of Post-LN models while significantly improving the performance compared to Pre-LN models. Our method is comparable to the baseline for shallow models but starts to outperform as the model gets deeper. Our 192-layer model outperforms the vanilla 12-layer, and our 96 layer outperforms the vanilla 24-layer model. The 165M 192-layer model outperforms the vanilla 24-layer 330M model with  $2 \times$  params and compute.

**Perplexity Improvements after Pre-training for Pre-LN models** We also applied DSLM to the deep Pre-LN models reported in Table 4 for both model sizes. Table 7 and Table 6 show that DSLM significantly improves the performance of the Pre-LN model across a range of model depths.

**Comparison with Prior Methods for Deep Transformers** DSInit and DeepNet stabilize the model training at the expense of reduced "sensitivity" (Section 4.4) by using smaller effective values of  $\beta^2$ , at  $\mathcal{O}(N^{-2})$  and  $\mathcal{O}(N^{-1.5})$  respectively. This is also verified by our experiments. Table 6 shows that DSLM outperforms DSInit Zhang et al. (2019) and DeepNet Wang et al. (2022a) across different model depths. Interesting, 96-layer model diverges with DSInit, inspite of DSInit using a smaller  $\beta$  asymptotically – this is because the constants hidden in  $\mathcal{O}(N^{-2})$  are much larger for DSInit. Our method, by analysing signal propagation, has constants exactly 1.

T 11 7 0		1 . 1	• •	1 .1
Table /· (	omnaricon	while	increasing	denth
1able / . C	ombarison	winte	mercasme	ucom.

Ν	d	Baseline	DSLM
		Post-LN	
192	256	17.1	12.9
384	256	diverge	12.3
48	512	14.8	13.1
96	512	diverge	12.2
		Pre-LN	
12	512	29.4	26.0
96	512	24.0	20.2



Figure 7: Visualizing performance vs. Depth for 165M models.

Effect of Increasing Model Size Table 7 compares the performance of our approach with the baseline as we vary the model depth (N) while keeping the hidden dimension (d) constant. The baseline either fails to converge, as observed for Post-LN, or leads to performance degradation, as seen for Pre-LN. By stabilizing the training, DSLM allows training larger models with better performance, for both Pre-LN and Post-LN.

**Downstream Finetuning Results** We finetune the baseline and DSLM models on the public RACE-M and RACE-H (Lai et al., 2017) datasets. The improvements observed during pre-training (Table 4) are similarly translated into downstream task performance. Table 8 demonstrates the effectiveness of DSLM compared to both Pre-LN and Post-LN baselines.

Table 8: Downstream fine-tuning accuracy on the Middle/High school datasets of RACE benchmark.

Model Size	Overall		R/	RACE-Middle		RACE-High			
	Pre	Post	DSLM	Pre	Post	DSLM	Pre	Post	DSLM
165M	51.7	56.9	59.1	57.7	63.0	65.6	49.2	54.3	56.3
330M	53.5	56.5	59.7	58.9	63.6	66.2	51.2	53.6	57.0

#### 4.4 ANALYSIS OF DEEPSCALELM

**Compute** Appendix J provides detailed theoretical and wall-clock compute overheads for making models deeper. We observe that up to 200 layers, the theoretical compute is within 6 - 7% of the original shallow model, and wall-clock times also have small overheads less than 15%. While our 192-layer 256-d model requires 6% extra compute than the 24-layer 165M parameter model, it manages to outperform the 24-layer 330M model, that has 62.5% extra compute, at equal wall-clock time and at equal number of tokens.

Ablation of Residual Scaling Table 9 provides the results corresponding to the different components of our proposed DSLM scheme for training 96-layer 512-d model Post-LN model. The model fails to converge without the proposed residual scaling.  $\beta$  may also be set as learnable (similar to

BatchNorm Ioffe & Szegedy (2015)), after initializing it with  $\beta^2 = \frac{2}{N}$ . We find that this does not significantly impact performance, and  $\beta$  remains within  $[0.2 - 5] \times$  of its initialized values.

Ablation of Initialization Table 10 provides ablation results for our proposed initialization. All experiments in Table 10 were conducted for the Pre-LN model with our proposed scaling  $(\lambda, \beta)$ , since the Post-LN model diverged with Xavier initialization. Xavier initialization performs significantly worse for very deep models. BERT default initialization with  $\sigma = 0.02$  also performs worse. Finally, DSLM simpler initialization performs comparably to DSLM.

Table 9:	Ablation	of various	DeepScaleLM
compone	nts, for a l	Post-LN m	odel.

Table 10: Ablation of the initializations.

		Model	Model Size (N,d)	Perf
Model	Perf	Xavier	165M (192,256)	38.2
Vanilla Xavier	diverge	Fixed $\sigma = 0.0$	)2 165M (192,256)	31.6
Xavier + $\beta^2 = 0.5$	diverge	DSLM	165M (192,256)	20.8
DSLM-Init	diverge	DSLM (simpl	e) 165M (192,256)	20.7
DSLM-Init + $\beta^2 = 0.5$	diverge	Fixed $\sigma = 0.0$	)2 330M (96,512)	20.5
DSLM-Init + $\beta^2 = \frac{2}{N}$	12.2	DSLM	330M (96,512)	20.2

**Discussion of Relative Strength** Existing works have tried to use different values of  $\beta$  to stabilize model training (Appendix B.3). In general, for a  $\beta$  of the form  $\beta^2 = \frac{k}{N^{\alpha}}$ , we can choose from a wide range of values for the constant k and exponent  $\alpha$ . Intuitively, as k decreases/ $\alpha$  increases, the contribution of each layer is reduced, and the observed issues, such as forward growth and gradient explosion/vanishing, are mitigated. However, reducing each layer's weight makes the model more linear, and can affect performance.

Davis et al. (2021) defines "sensitivity" as the variance of relative change in output for small perturbations in parameters, averaged across all parameters. If  $\sigma_{\text{skip}}^2 = 1$ , sensitivity can be shown to be mean across layers of  $N * (1/\sigma_{\text{block}}^2) = N * \beta^2$ . Mean is not robust to outliers, and hence we suggest median may provide a more robust measure. For e.g., for vanilla pre-LN, Davis et al. (2021)'s definition gives sensitivity as  $\mathcal{O}(\log(N))$ , whereas using median provides a more robust measure as  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ . But only the first N/10 layers have  $\mathcal{O}(\log(N))$  sensitivity, and the last 9N/10 layers have  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  sensitivity. We will use median in the discussion below.

In Appendix K, we show that the fall in gradient for both pre-LN and post-LN for  $\beta^2 = k/N^{\alpha}$  is  $\mathcal{O}(e^{kN^{1-\alpha}})$ . The sensitivity is hence  $kN^{1-\alpha}$ . As we decrease k/increase  $\alpha$ , the gradient fall/growth is reduced by  $\mathcal{O}(e^{kN^{1-\alpha}})$ , and the training becomes more stable. However, the sensitivity reduces by  $\mathcal{O}(kN^{1-\alpha})$ .

For DSLM, we chose  $\alpha = 1$ , that is the sweet spot on the stability-expressivity curve where both the gradient fall bound and sensitivity expressions become independent of model depth. For DS-Init,  $\alpha = 2$ , and for DeepNet effectively has  $\alpha = 1.5$ . Although the gradient also becomes stable using  $\alpha = 1.5$  or 2, the model expressivity reduces with depth, as shown in Table 3. We conjecture that such models might not be able to extract better results when going deeper, as we indeed verify empirically in the comparison with prior works paragraph in Section 4.3. However, depending on the training landscape for a particular problem, a practitioner might need to increase  $\alpha$  (and/or decrease k) to stabilize model training and ensure convergence.

## 5 CONCLUSION

We theoretically derive closed forms for the growth of variances for forward and backward pass through individual transformer components as well as the entire transformer model. These formulae enable us to identify and solve the key reasons for vanishing/exploding gradients and rank collapse in very deep transformers. Via scaling and correct initialization, we also enable training very deep transformers up to 768 layers. Our experiments suggest that deeper transformers should be explored - using our method, models with 100s of layers outperform standard models at the same number of parameters and compute.

#### **Reproducibility Statement**

We release the code for our numerical verification results in the supplementary. Pseudo-code of our proposed DSLM method is provided in Appendix M, and DSLM-simple method can be very easily applied to existing codebases.

Details of implementation are provided in Section 4.3. All hyper-parameters including optimizer, warm-up steps and LR values in Appendix N. Nvidia's Megatron LM (https://github.com/ NVIDIA/Megatron-LM), at commit 1a26b2910d6b64d8ce6bdebe807739d4ea67f3d7 was used for verification and plots of gradients. Note that while this codebase only supports fixed initialization, modifications to use Xavier instead were minor.

#### REFERENCES

- Anonymous. Normalisation is dead, long live normalisation! In *Blog Track at ICLR 2022*, July 2022. URL https://openreview.net/forum?id=C9llY9kJJLL.
- Sanjeev Arora, Simon Du, Wei Hu, Zhiyuan Li, and Ruosong Wang. Fine-Grained Analysis of Optimization and Generalization for Overparameterized Two-Layer Neural Networks. In *Proceedings* of the 36th International Conference on Machine Learning, pp. 322–332. PMLR, May 2019a. URL https://proceedings.mlr.press/v97/arora19a.html.
- Sanjeev Arora, Simon S. Du, Wei Hu, Zhiyuan Li, Ruslan Salakhutdinov, and Ruosong Wang. On exact computation with an infinitely wide neural net. In *Proceedings of the 33rd International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems*, pp. 8141–8150. Curran Associates Inc., Red Hook, NY, USA, December 2019b.
- Devansh Arpit, Victor Campos, and Yoshua Bengio. How to Initialize your Network? Robust Initialization for WeightNorm & ResNets, October 2019. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1906.02341.
- Thomas Bachlechner, Bodhisattwa Prasad Majumder, Huanru Henry Mao, Garrison W. Cottrell, and Julian McAuley. ReZero is All You Need: Fast Convergence at Large Depth, June 2020. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2003.04887.
- David Balduzzi, Marcus Frean, Lennox Leary, J. P. Lewis, Kurt Wan-Duo Ma, and Brian McWilliams. The Shattered Gradients Problem: If resnets are the answer, then what is the question?, June 2018. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1702.08591.
- Charlie Blake, Douglas Orr, and Carlo Luschi. Unit Scaling: Out-of-the-Box Low-Precision Training, May 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2303.11257.
- Andrew Brock, Soham De, and Samuel L. Smith. Characterizing signal propagation to close the performance gap in unnormalized ResNets. In *International Conference on Learning Representations*, January 2021. URL https://openreview.net/forum?id=IX3Nnir2omJ.
- Tom B. Brown, Benjamin Mann, Nick Ryder, Melanie Subbiah, Jared Kaplan, Prafulla Dhariwal, Arvind Neelakantan, Pranav Shyam, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, Sandhini Agarwal, Ariel Herbert-Voss, Gretchen Krueger, Tom Henighan, Rewon Child, Aditya Ramesh, Daniel M. Ziegler, Jeffrey Wu, Clemens Winter, Christopher Hesse, Mark Chen, Eric Sigler, Mateusz Litwin, Scott Gray, Benjamin Chess, Jack Clark, Christopher Berner, Sam McCandlish, Alec Radford, Ilya Sutskever, and Dario Amodei. Language models are few-shot learners. *CoRR*, abs/2005.14165, 2020. URL https://arxiv.org/abs/2005.14165.
- Ming Chen, Zhewei Wei, Zengfeng Huang, Bolin Ding, and Yaliang Li. Simple and Deep Graph Convolutional Networks, July 2020. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2007.02133.
- Aakanksha Chowdhery, Sharan Narang, Jacob Devlin, Maarten Bosma, Gaurav Mishra, Adam Roberts, Paul Barham, Hyung Won Chung, Charles Sutton, Sebastian Gehrmann, et al. Palm: Scaling language modeling with pathways. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2204.02311*, 2022.

- Kevin Clark, Minh-Thang Luong, Quoc V. Le, and Christopher D. Manning. ELECTRA: pretraining text encoders as discriminators rather than generators. In 8th International Conference on Learning Representations, ICLR 2020, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, April 26-30, 2020. OpenReview.net, 2020. URL https://openreview.net/forum?id=r1xMH1BtvB.
- Jared Q. Davis, Albert Gu, Krzysztof Choromanski, Tri Dao, Christopher Re, Chelsea Finn, and Percy Liang. Catformer: Designing Stable Transformers via Sensitivity Analysis. In *Proceedings* of the 38th International Conference on Machine Learning, pp. 2489–2499. PMLR, July 2021. URL https://proceedings.mlr.press/v139/davis21a.html.
- Soham De and Samuel L. Smith. Batch Normalization Biases Residual Blocks Towards the Identity Function in Deep Networks, December 2020. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2002. 10444.
- Mostafa Dehghani, Josip Djolonga, Basil Mustafa, Piotr Padlewski, Jonathan Heek, Justin Gilmer, Andreas Steiner, Mathilde Caron, Robert Geirhos, Ibrahim Alabdulmohsin, Rodolphe Jenatton, Lucas Beyer, Michael Tschannen, Anurag Arnab, Xiao Wang, Carlos Riquelme, Matthias Minderer, Joan Puigcerver, Utku Evci, Manoj Kumar, Sjoerd van Steenkiste, Gamaleldin F. Elsayed, Aravindh Mahendran, Fisher Yu, Avital Oliver, Fantine Huot, Jasmijn Bastings, Mark Patrick Collier, Alexey Gritsenko, Vighnesh Birodkar, Cristina Vasconcelos, Yi Tay, Thomas Mensink, Alexander Kolesnikov, Filip Pavetić, Dustin Tran, Thomas Kipf, Mario Lučić, Xiaohua Zhai, Daniel Keysers, Jeremiah Harmsen, and Neil Houlsby. Scaling Vision Transformers to 22 Billion Parameters, February 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2302.05442.
- Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. BERT: Pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. In Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers), pp. 4171–4186, Minneapolis, Minnesota, 2019. Association for Computational Linguistics. doi: 10.18653/v1/N19-1423. URL https://aclanthology.org/N19-1423.
- Yihe Dong, Jean-Baptiste Cordonnier, and Andreas Loukas. Attention is Not All You Need: Pure Attention Loses Rank Doubly Exponentially with Depth, August 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2103.03404.
- Leo Gao, Stella Biderman, Sid Black, Laurence Golding, Travis Hoppe, Charles Foster, Jason Phang, Horace He, Anish Thite, Noa Nabeshima, Shawn Presser, and Connor Leahy. The pile: An 800gb dataset of diverse text for language modeling. *CoRR*, abs/2101.00027, 2021. URL https://arxiv.org/abs/2101.00027.
- Xavier Glorot and Yoshua Bengio. Understanding the difficulty of training deep feedforward neural networks. In *Proceedings of the thirteenth international conference on artificial intelligence and statistics*, pp. 249–256. JMLR Workshop and Conference Proceedings, 2010.
- Boris Hanin and David Rolnick. How to Start Training: The Effect of Initialization and Architecture, November 2018. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1803.01719.
- Soufiane Hayou, Arnaud Doucet, and Judith Rousseau. On the Impact of the Activation Function on Deep Neural Networks Training, May 2019. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1902.06853.
- Bobby He, James Martens, Guodong Zhang, Aleksandar Botev, Andrew Brock, Samuel L. Smith, and Yee Whye Teh. Deep Transformers without Shortcuts: Modifying Self-attention for Faithful Signal Propagation, February 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2302.10322.
- Kaiming He, Xiangyu Zhang, Shaoqing Ren, and Jian Sun. Delving Deep into Rectifiers: Surpassing Human-Level Performance on ImageNet Classification, February 2015. URL http://arxiv. org/abs/1502.01852.
- Pieter-Jan Hoedt, Sepp Hochreiter, and Günter Klambauer. Normalisation is dead, long live normalisation! In *Blog Track at ICLR 2022*, July 2022. URL https://openreview.net/ forum?id=C911Y9kJJLL.

- Jordan Hoffmann, Sebastian Borgeaud, Arthur Mensch, Elena Buchatskaya, Trevor Cai, Eliza Rutherford, Diego de Las Casas, Lisa Anne Hendricks, Johannes Welbl, Aidan Clark, et al. Training compute-optimal large language models. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2203.15556*, 2022.
- Sergey Ioffe and Christian Szegedy. Batch normalization: Accelerating deep network training by reducing internal covariate shift. In *International conference on machine learning*, pp. 448–456. pmlr, 2015.
- Ricardo J. Jesus, Mário L. Antunes, Rui A. da Costa, Sergey N. Dorogovtsev, José F. F. Mendes, and Rui L. Aguiar. Effect of Initial Configuration of Weights on Training and Function of Artificial Neural Networks. *Mathematics*, 9(18):2246, January 2021. ISSN 2227-7390. doi: 10.3390/ math9182246. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2227-7390/9/18/2246.
- Hyunjik Kim, George Papamakarios, and Andriy Mnih. The Lipschitz Constant of Self-Attention, June 2021. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2006.04710.
- Günter Klambauer, Thomas Unterthiner, Andreas Mayr, and Sepp Hochreiter. Self-Normalizing Neural Networks, September 2017. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1706.02515.
- Antoine Labatie, Dominic Masters, Zach Eaton-Rosen, and Carlo Luschi. Proxy-Normalizing Activations to Match Batch Normalization while Removing Batch Dependence. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, January 2022. URL https://openreview.net/ forum?id=pzmwfDLoANS.
- Guokun Lai, Qizhe Xie, Hanxiao Liu, Yiming Yang, and Eduard Hovy. Race: Large-scale reading comprehension dataset from examinations. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1704.04683*, 2017.
- Jaehoon Lee, Lechao Xiao, Samuel S. Schoenholz, Yasaman Bahri, Roman Novak, Jascha Sohl-Dickstein, and Jeffrey Pennington. Wide neural networks of any depth evolve as linear models under gradient descent. In *Proceedings of the 33rd International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems*, pp. 8572–8583. Curran Associates Inc., Red Hook, NY, USA, December 2019.
- Yuanzhi Li and Yingyu Liang. Learning overparameterized neural networks via stochastic gradient descent on structured data. In *Proceedings of the 32nd International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems*, NIPS'18, pp. 8168–8177, Red Hook, NY, USA, December 2018. Curran Associates Inc.
- Stan Lipovetsky. Integrals related to the error function: by nikolai e. korotkov and alexander n. korotkov. boca raton, fl: Chapman and hall/crc press, taylor & francis group, 2020, 228 pp., 140.00(hardback), 46.36 (ebook), isbn: 978-0-367-40820-6 (hardback)., 2020.
- Liyuan Liu, Xiaodong Liu, Jianfeng Gao, Weizhu Chen, and Jiawei Han. Understanding the Difficulty of Training Transformers, September 2020a. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2004. 08249.
- Xiaodong Liu, Kevin Duh, Liyuan Liu, and Jianfeng Gao. Very Deep Transformers for Neural Machine Translation, October 2020b. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2008.07772.
- C. F. Lo. WKB approximation for the sum of two correlated lognormal random variables. Applied Mathematical Sciences, 7:6355–6367, 2013. ISSN 13147552. doi: 10.12988/ams.2013.39511. URL http://www.m-hikari.com/ams/ams-2013/ams-125-128-2013/39511. html.
- Pierre Marion, Adeline Fermanian, Gérard Biau, and Jean-Philippe Vert. Scaling ResNets in the Large-depth Regime, June 2022. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2206.06929.
- James Martens, Andy Ballard, Guillaume Desjardins, Grzegorz Swirszcz, Valentin Dalibard, Jascha Sohl-Dickstein, and Samuel S. Schoenholz. Rapid training of deep neural networks without skip connections or normalization layers using Deep Kernel Shaping, October 2021. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2110.01765.
- Dmytro Mishkin and Jiri Matas. All you need is a good init, February 2016. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1511.06422.

- Guido Montúfar, Razvan Pascanu, Kyunghyun Cho, and Yoshua Bengio. On the Number of Linear Regions of Deep Neural Networks, June 2014. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1402. 1869.
- Edward W. Ng and Murray Geller. A table of integrals of the Error functions. *Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards, Section B: Mathematical Sciences*, 73B(1):1, January 1969. ISSN 0098-8979. doi: 10.6028/jres.073B.001. URL https://nvlpubs.nist.gov/nistpubs/jres/73B/jresv73Bn1p1\_Alb.pdf.
- Toan Q. Nguyen and Julian Salazar. Transformers without Tears: Improving the Normalization of Self-Attention. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Spoken Language Translation*, Hong Kong, November 2019. Association for Computational Linguistics. URL https://aclanthology.org/2019.iwslt-1.17.
- Lorenzo Noci, Sotiris Anagnostidis, Luca Biggio, Antonio Orvieto, Sidak Pal Singh, and Aurelien Lucchi. Signal Propagation in Transformers: Theoretical Perspectives and the Role of Rank Collapse. In S. Koyejo, S. Mohamed, A. Agarwal, D. Belgrave, K. Cho, and A. Oh (eds.), Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, volume 35, pp. 27198–27211. Curran Associates, Inc., 2022. URL https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper\_files/paper/2022/file/ae0cba715b60c4052359b3d52a2cff7f-Paper-Conference.pdf.
- Maithra Raghu, Ben Poole, Jon Kleinberg, Surya Ganguli, and Jascha Sohl-Dickstein. On the Expressive Power of Deep Neural Networks. In *Proceedings of the 34th International Conference on Machine Learning*, pp. 2847–2854. PMLR, July 2017. URL https://proceedings.mlr.press/v70/raghu17a.html.
- Yu Rong, Wenbing Huang, Tingyang Xu, and Junzhou Huang. DropEdge: Towards Deep Graph Convolutional Networks on Node Classification. In *International Conference on Learning Representations*, September 2019. URL https://openreview.net/forum?id= HkxlqkrKPr.
- Samuel S. Schoenholz, Justin Gilmer, Surya Ganguli, and Jascha Sohl-Dickstein. Deep Information Propagation, April 2017. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1611.01232.
- Sheng Shen, Zhewei Yao, Amir Gholami, Michael W. Mahoney, and Kurt Keutzer. PowerNorm: Rethinking Batch Normalization in Transformers, June 2020. URL http://arxiv.org/ abs/2003.07845.
- Han Shi, Jiahui Gao, Hang Xu, Xiaodan Liang, Zhenguo Li, Lingpeng Kong, Stephen M. S. Lee, and James T. Kwok. Revisiting Over-smoothing in BERT from the Perspective of Graph, February 2022. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2202.08625.
- Sam Shleifer, Jason Weston, and Myle Ott. NormFormer: Improved Transformer Pretraining with Extra Normalization, November 2021. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2110.09456.
- Shaden Smith, Mostofa Patwary, Brandon Norick, Patrick LeGresley, Samyam Rajbhandari, Jared Casper, Zhun Liu, Shrimai Prabhumoye, George Zerveas, Vijay Korthikanti, Elton Zhang, Rewon Child, Reza Yazdani Aminabadi, Julie Bernauer, Xia Song, Mohammad Shoeybi, Yuxiong He, Michael Houston, Saurabh Tiwary, and Bryan Catanzaro. Using DeepSpeed and Megatron to Train Megatron-Turing NLG 530B, A Large-Scale Generative Language Model, February 2022. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2201.11990.
- Christian Szegedy, Sergey Ioffe, Vincent Vanhoucke, and Alex Alemi. Inception-v4, Inception-ResNet and the Impact of Residual Connections on Learning, August 2016. URL http:// arxiv.org/abs/1602.07261.
- Sho Takase, Shun Kiyono, Sosuke Kobayashi, and Jun Suzuki. On Layer Normalizations and Residual Connections in Transformers, June 2022. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2206.00330.
- Hongyu Wang, Shuming Ma, Li Dong, Shaohan Huang, Dongdong Zhang, and Furu Wei. Deep-Net: Scaling Transformers to 1,000 Layers, March 2022a. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/ 2203.00555.

- Peihao Wang, Wenqing Zheng, Tianlong Chen, and Zhangyang Wang. Anti-Oversmoothing in Deep Vision Transformers via the Fourier Domain Analysis: From Theory to Practice, March 2022b. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2203.05962.
- Ruibin Xiong, Yunchang Yang, Di He, Kai Zheng, Shuxin Zheng, Chen Xing, Huishuai Zhang, Yanyan Lan, Liwei Wang, and Tie-Yan Liu. On Layer Normalization in the Transformer Architecture, June 2020. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2002.04745.
- Jingjing Xu, Xu Sun, Zhiyuan Zhang, Guangxiang Zhao, and Junyang Lin. Understanding and Improving Layer Normalization, November 2019. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1911. 07013.
- Ge Yang, Edward Hu, Igor Babuschkin, Szymon Sidor, Xiaodong Liu, David Farhi, Nick Ryder, Jakub Pachocki, Weizhu Chen, and Jianfeng Gao. Tuning large neural networks via zero-shot hyperparameter transfer. *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, 34:17084–17097, 2021.
- Yang You, Igor Gitman, and Boris Ginsburg. Large Batch Training of Convolutional Networks, September 2017. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1708.03888.
- Yang You, Jing Li, Sashank Reddi, Jonathan Hseu, Sanjiv Kumar, Srinadh Bhojanapalli, Xiaodan Song, James Demmel, Kurt Keutzer, and Cho-Jui Hsieh. Large Batch Optimization for Deep Learning: Training BERT in 76 minutes. In *International Conference on Learning Representations*, March 2020. URL https://openreview.net/forum?id=Syx4wnEtvH.
- Adams Wei Yu, Lei Huang, Qihang Lin, Ruslan Salakhutdinov, and Jaime Carbonell. Block-Normalized Gradient Method: An Empirical Study for Training Deep Neural Network, April 2018. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1707.04822.
- Shuangfei Zhai, Tatiana Likhomanenko, Etai Littwin, Dan Busbridge, Jason Ramapuram, Yizhe Zhang, Jiatao Gu, and Joshua M. Susskind. Stabilizing Transformer Training by Preventing Attention Entropy Collapse. In *Proceedings of the 40th International Conference on Machine Learning*, pp. 40770–40803. PMLR, July 2023. URL https://proceedings.mlr.press/v202/zhai23a.html.
- Biao Zhang, Ivan Titov, and Rico Sennrich. Improving deep transformer with depth-scaled initialization and merged attention. In *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP)*, pp. 898–909, 2019.
- Hongyi Zhang, Yann N. Dauphin, and Tengyu Ma. Fixup Initialization: Residual Learning Without Normalization. In *International Conference on Learning Representations*, February 2022. URL https://openreview.net/forum?id=H1gsz30cKX.
- Huishuai Zhang, Da Yu, Mingyang Yi, Wei Chen, and Tie-Yan Liu. Stabilize Deep ResNet with A Sharp Scaling Factor \$\tau\$, January 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/1903.07120.
- Haiteng Zhao, Shuming Ma, Dongdong Zhang, Zhi-Hong Deng, and Furu Wei. Are More Layers Beneficial to Graph Transformers?, March 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2303. 00579.
- Daquan Zhou, Bingyi Kang, Xiaojie Jin, Linjie Yang, Xiaochen Lian, Zihang Jiang, Qibin Hou, and Jiashi Feng. DeepViT: Towards Deeper Vision Transformer, April 2021. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2103.11886.
- George Kingsley Zipf. *The psycho-biology of language: An introduction to dynamic philology*, volume 21. Psychology Press, 1999.

## A APPENDIX

## CONTENTS

B	Rela	ted Works	16
	B.1	Initialization	16
	B.2	Signal Propagation	17
	B.3	Moment Control & Residual Scaling	17
	B.4	Other Network modifications for Deep Networks	18
С	Mon	nent Propagation through Transformer Components	18
	C.1	Embeddings	18
	C.2	Linear	19
	C.3	Dropout	21
	C.4	ReLU	22
	C.5	GeLU	27
	C.6	LayerNorm	41
	C.7	Softmax	44
	C.8	Scaled Dot-Product Attention	46
D	Mon	nent Propagation through Transformer Blocks	59
	D.1	Transformer Attention Block	59
	D.2	Transformer FFN Block	59
Е	Sum	mary Table of Moment Propagation through Transformer Components	60
F	Nun	nerical Verification	64
G	Ran	k Collapse and Correlation Analysis	65
н	Mon	nent Propagation through the Entire Transformer Model	66
	H.1	Vanilla Pre-LN	66
		H.1.1 Forward Pass	66
		H.1.2 Backward Pass	67
	H.2	Vanilla Post-LN	69
		H.2.1 Forward Pass	69
		H.2.2 Backward Pass	69
	H.3	DeepScaleLM Pre-LN	70
		H.3.1 Forward Pass	70
		H.3.2 Backward Pass	70
	H.4	DeepScaleLM Post-LN	71
		H.4.1 Forward Pass	71

		H.4.2 Backward Pass	71
	H.5	DeepScaleLM (Simplified) Pre-LN	71
		H.5.1 Forward Pass	71
		H.5.2 Backward Pass	73
	H.6	DeepScaleLM (Simplified) Post-LN	73
		H.6.1 Forward Pass	73
		H.6.2 Backward Pass	73
I	Mod	el Moment figures	74
	I.1	Validity of Theoretical Predictions and Exploding Gradients even after Training	74
	I.2	Importance of Residual Scaling	74
J	Com	pute	75
	J.1	Theoretical compute	75
	J.2	Wall Clock times	76
K	Disc	ussion of Relative Strength	76
L	Disc	ussion of Approximations and Assumptions	77
	L.1	Illustrative Approximations of Full Formulae in Main Paper	77
	L.2	Assumptions and Approximations in Derivations	77
М	Deep	oScaleLM Pseudocode	78
N	Нур	er-parameters	79

## **B** RELATED WORKS

## **B.1** INITIALIZATION

Several works, such as (Glorot & Bengio, 2010; He et al., 2015; Brock et al., 2021) improved the initialization of ResNets/ReLU networks, but crucially these works do not consider the impact of correlation in the input, which is large in Transformer models. Schoenholz et al. (2017) initializes weights for networks with bounded activations so that correlation reaches 1 asymptotically.

Some works, such as Mishkin & Matas (2016), sequentially profile each layer empirically by running forward passes through the model, and scaling the weights and/or output to achieve unit variance., and Liu et al. (2020a;b) applied the same method for Transformers. Blake et al. (2023) also tries to achieve unit variance, but does not consider correlation in input or across tokens, and ignores the non-zero mean of ReLU, resulting in incorrect scale. Bachlechner et al. (2020) shows unit variance leads to faster convergence at the start of the training.

We demonstrate that this profiling is unnecessary, and can instead be done theoretically in Deep-ScaleLM. Furthermore, where output or gradient increases in some prior works with more layers (eg. for ADMIN (Liu et al., 2020a), grad and output increase by O(log(N))), our method allows maintaining both unit output and equal gradient across all layers at initialization, and bounded during training.

## **B.2** SIGNAL PROPAGATION

Signal propagation has long been studied for ResNets, such as De & Smith (2020); Brock et al. (2021); He et al. (2015); Schoenholz et al. (2017); Anonymous (2022); Labatie et al. (2022); Marion et al. (2022); Klambauer et al. (2017); Balduzzi et al. (2018). Some of these works also compute variances with respect to joint distributions of weights and inputs, resulting in estimates that do not correspond to any single instantiation of the network, as also pointed out by Martens et al. (2021). In our work, we take expectations over inputs for a single instantiation of the network.

For transformers, signal propagation was studied in Xu et al. (2019); Dong et al. (2023); Davis et al. (2021); Noci et al. (2022). Our work also considers previously neglected effects of dropout, input correlation between tokens, non-linearity, QK initialization, and provides closed forms with verifiable correctness of this signal propagation. Ours is the first work to theoretically constrain the output and gradient to almost exactly unit without any profiling passes, showing the validity of our formulae and of our assumptions. See the section Section 3.4 for more discussion on Noci et al. (2022) specifically.

He et al. (2023) extends neural kernel methods of DKS (Martens et al., 2021) to Transformers to model network behaviour, assuming the MLP to be linear in its effect on attention. Q/C maps in kernel methods are similar to signal propagation, as expected moments are equivalent to q and m values of kernels (Martens et al., 2021). Our method relaxes these assumptions, and we show that considering the impact of ReLU/GeLU on correlation is critical to correctly modelling attention.

We also account for cases with non-IID inputs that may occur due to segment/position embeddings or due to non-uniform token distributions in real data (that are distributed approximately per Zipf's law Zipf (1999)) – and find that this strongly affects output variance of the attention block.

## B.3 MOMENT CONTROL & RESIDUAL SCALING

Bounded gradients, or normalizing per-layer gradients, have been shown to results in better/faster convergence (Shen et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2018; You et al., 2017; 2020). Woks such as Takase et al. (2022); Shleifer et al. (2021); Hayou et al. (2019) also achieved improved training by empirically mitigating the gradient explosion.

Scaling with  $\lambda^2 + \beta^2 = 1$  to control moments have often been used for ResNets (Balduzzi et al., 2018; Szegedy et al., 2016; Hanin & Rolnick, 2018; Arpit et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2022; Hoedt et al., 2022). Szegedy et al. (2016) proposed to use any small  $\beta$ , Balduzzi et al. (2018) proposed to set  $\beta^2 = 0.5$ , Bachlechner et al. (2020) sets  $\beta = 0$  and learnable. De & Smith (2020) showed that  $\lambda^2 = 0.5$  is not sufficient to solve vanishing gradients.

 $\beta^2 = \frac{k}{N}$  was used to control growth of moments in Arpit et al. (2019); Brock et al. (2021); Marion et al. (2022); Zhang et al. (2023); He et al. (2023); Noci et al. (2022)) .  $\beta^2 = \frac{k}{n}$ , where *n* is the current layer, was used in De & Smith (2020); Liu et al. (2020a;b); Davis et al. (2021); Blake et al. (2023), but this results in logarithmic bounds instead of constant for forward propagation if  $\lambda = 1$  is used, and vanishing gradient for backward propagation otherwise.

Values of  $\beta^2 < \frac{k}{N}$ , such as (effectively)  $\frac{1}{N^2}$  for DSInit (Zhang et al., 2019) or  $\frac{1}{N^{1.5}}$  for Deep-Net (Wang et al., 2022a) decrease sensitivity of the model, and may result in the model becoming "too linear". DeepNet shows performance improvements by making the model deeper, but keeping the hidden dimension constant. Our setting is much more strict - we keep the number of parameters (and hence compute) constant, and our method still show performance improves on making the model deeper. For example, DeepNet's 200 layer model is 3.2B params, whereas ours is 330M params.

Sometimes, these  $\beta$  values are used in conjunction with  $\lambda = 1$ , such as in Liu et al. (2020a;b), but as shown in He et al. (2023), fully normalized residual connections with  $\lambda^2 + \beta^2 = 1$  often perform better than those with  $\lambda = 1$ . We also observed lower performance with  $\lambda = 1$  in our initial experiments, and hence we fully normalize the residual connections.

Our contribution goes beyond providing an optimal scaling scheme. Using the theoretical framework and closed-form expressions for moment propagation through both Pre-LN and Post-LN developed in this work, practitioners can make informed choices about using any of the scaling factors above based on the stability-performance tradeoffs, such as using a lower  $\beta$  for scenarios with high correlation, or using higher  $\beta$  with uncorrelated inputs.

#### **B.4** OTHER NETWORK MODIFICATIONS FOR DEEP NETWORKS

Shi et al. (2022); Zhou et al. (2021); Wang et al. (2022b); Dong et al. (2023) showed that attention causes rank collapse in deeper models, and Chen et al. (2020); Zhao et al. (2023) showed the same for graphs. Takase et al. (2022) added some extra skip connections from the input of the model, Nguyen & Salazar (2019) modified layernorm slightly, Zhai et al. (2023) normalized all linear layers by their spectral norm, and Shleifer et al. (2021) added extra layer norms. The methods in these works are orthogonal to our approach, and our equations can be easily extended to cover the architectural modifications suggested in these.

## C MOMENT PROPAGATION THROUGH TRANSFORMER COMPONENTS

We provide detailed proofs of the closed-form expression for each of the transformer component – Linear layer, Dropout, ReLU, GeLU, LayerNorm, and Softmax.

For any component, input is represented as  $\mathbf{x}_{in}$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{out}$  is the output. The gradient flowing in into the component from the output side is represented as  $\mathbf{g}_{out}$  and the backpropagated gradient towards the input is  $\mathbf{g}_{in}$ . We switch from vector to matrix notation ( $\mathbf{X}_{in}, \mathbf{X}_{out}$ ) whenever needed. We assume that the input is distributed normally  $\mathcal{N}(0, \sigma_{x_{in}})$ . Further, input is not assumed to be IID and it can have covariance both along the sequence length and hidden dimension. Additional assumptions needed to derive the proofs for softmax and attention can be found in the respective proofs. We derive the forward and backward variants for a specific initialization of weights that corresponds to exactly one network instance - all expectations are taken over inputs for a given instantiation of the network.

#### C.1 EMBEDDINGS

We do not assume the input embeddings to be IID. Repetition of same token introduces correlation across the sequence length. We assume that the input tokens have been sampled from a multinomial distribution. The words / token ids are distributed almost according to zipf's law. Assuming we initialize all the embeddings with variance  $\sigma_{w_{embd}}^2$ , the relevant statistics for word embeddings output  $x_{\text{out}_{we}}$  are as follows

$$\mu_{x_{\text{out}_{we}}} = 0$$

$$\sigma_{x_{\text{out}_{we}}}^2 = \sigma_{w_{\text{embd}}}^2$$

$$\text{Cov}^l(x_{\text{out}_{we}}) = \sum \frac{N_i * (N_i - 1)}{L * (L - 1)} * \sigma_{w_{\text{embd}}}^2$$

$$r^l(x_{\text{out}_{we}}) = \sum \frac{N_i * (N_i - 1)}{L * (L - 1)}$$

$$\text{Cov}^d(x_{\text{out}_{we}}) = 0$$

Assume *i*th word occurs  $N_i$  times, it contributes  $\frac{N_i * (N_i - 1)}{L * (L - 1))}$  to the covariance along sequence length. Similarly, we can calculate the correlation for segment-type embeddings output  $x_{\text{out}_{sc}}$ . Zipf's law states that the probability for each token is inversely proportional to its rank. For the word with rank  $i, p_i = \frac{c}{i}$ , where  $c = \frac{1}{\sum_i \frac{1}{i}}$ . For a sentence of length L, the token with probability  $p_i$  is expected to occur  $p_i.L$  times. Hence, for a given vocabulary size |V|, we can calculate the correlation as follows

$$r^{l}(x_{\text{out}_{we}}) = \sum \frac{N_{i} * (N_{i} - 1)}{L * (L - 1)}$$

$$= \sum_{i}^{|V|} \frac{p_i L * (p_i L - 1)}{L * (L - 1)}$$
$$= \frac{\sum_{i} p_i^2 * L - 1}{L - 1}$$
$$\approx \frac{\frac{L\pi^2}{6 \cdot \log(|V|)^2} - 1}{L - 1}$$
$$\approx \frac{\pi^2}{6 \cdot \log(|V|)^2}$$

Similarly, the segment type embeddings have two possible values denoting the sentence order. If first sentence has length x, we can consider this as a special case of the analysis performed above with two possible tokens, where  $N_1 = x$  and  $N_2 = L - x$ . Assuming x is distributed uniformly between 0 to L, L - x also has the same distribution. Hence,

$$r^{l}(x_{\text{out}_{se}}, N_{1}, N_{2}) = \frac{N_{1}^{2} + N_{2}^{2} - L}{L * (L - 1)}$$

Taking expectation, we get

$$\begin{split} r^l(x_{\text{out}_{se}}) &= \frac{\frac{2}{3}*L^2-L}{L*(L-1)} \\ &\approx \frac{2}{3} \end{split}$$

The correlation from position embeddings is 0. Since the variance is same for all embedding types, the final correlation is the average of the three. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} r^{l}(x_{\text{out}}) &= \frac{1}{3}(r^{l}(x_{\text{out}_{we}}) + r^{l}(x_{\text{out}_{se}})) \\ &= \frac{\pi^{2}}{18 * \log(|V|)^{2}} + \frac{2}{9} \end{aligned}$$

For our case, |V| = 32000 and sequence length L = 256, the theoretically prediction correlation  $r_{x_{in}}^l = 0.247$  which is within 10% of the empirically observed correlation (0.221).

Hence, the final moments for the embedding output are

$$\begin{split} \mu_{x_{\text{out}}} &= 0\\ \sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2 &= 3 * \sigma_{w_{\text{embd}}}^2\\ \text{Cov}_{x_{\text{out}}}^l &= (\frac{\pi^2}{18 * \log(|V|)^2} + \frac{2}{9})\sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2\\ \text{Cov}_{x_{\text{out}}}^d &= 0 \end{split}$$

## C.2 LINEAR

For linear layer with  $d_{in}$  dimensional input  $\mathbf{x}_{in}$ , and  $d_{out}$  dimensional output  $\mathbf{x}_{out}$ , we can define the forward pass mathematically as,

$$\mathbf{x}_{\text{out}} = \mathbf{x}_{\text{in}} \mathbf{W}$$
$$\implies x_{\text{out}_j} = \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} x_{\text{in}_i} W_{i,j}$$

Similarly, we define the backward pass as,

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{in}} = \mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{out}} \mathbf{W}^{\mathbf{T}}$$
 $\implies g_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} = \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\mathrm{out}}} g_{\mathrm{out}_{i}} W_{j,i}$ 

For expectation of output we have,

$$\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_j}] = \mathbb{E}[\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} x_{\text{in}_i} W_{i,j}] = \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{in}_i} W_{i,j}]$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{in}_i}] \mathbb{E}[W_{i,j}] = \mu_{x_{\text{in}}} \mu_w$$

(As weights and input are independent of each other)

$$\mu_{x_{\text{out}}} = 0 \tag{(\forall j)}$$

To get variance of the output of forward pass we have,

$$\operatorname{Var}(x_{\operatorname{out}_j}) = \operatorname{Var}(\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}}} x_{\operatorname{in}_i} W_{i,j})$$

As the weights are initialized independently each term in summation is independent of each other

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} (\text{Var}(x_{\text{in}_i} W_{i,j}))$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} ((\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}^2)(\sigma_w^2 + \mu_w^2) - \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \mu_w^2)$$
(As weights and input are independent of

f each other)

$$\begin{split} &= \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} (\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}^2) \sigma_w^2 \\ &\text{Var}(x_{\text{out}_j}) = d_{\text{in}} (\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}^2) \sigma_w^2 \\ &\boxed{\sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2 = d_{\text{in}} (\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}^2) \sigma_w^2} \end{split}$$
(  $\forall j$ )

If we have two inputs  $\mathbf{x}_{in}$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{in}$  such that for all i we have  $\operatorname{Corr}(x_{in_i}, y_{in_i}) = r_{x_{in}}^l$ , and  $\mathbf{x}_{out} = \mathbf{x}_{in} \mathbf{W}$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{out} = \mathbf{y}_{in} \mathbf{W}$ . Then for any j we have

$$\operatorname{Corr}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}, y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}) = \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}} y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}] - \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}]\mathbb{E}[y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}]}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}})\operatorname{Var}(y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}})}}$$
$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}} y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}]}{\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^{2} \sigma_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^{2}}}$$
$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}[\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}}} x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}} W_{i,j} \sum_{k=1}^{d_{in}} y_{\operatorname{in}_{k}} W_{k,j}]}{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^{2}}$$
$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}[\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}}} x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}} y_{\operatorname{in}_{i}} W_{i,j}^{2} + \sum_{k=1, k \neq i}^{d_{in}} \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}} x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}} y_{\operatorname{in}_{k}} W_{k,j}]}{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^{2}}}$$

In second summation all terms are independent of each other and as the expectation of weights is 0 we have ,

$$\operatorname{Corr}(x_{\operatorname{out}_j}, y_{\operatorname{out}_j}) = \frac{\mathbb{E}[\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}}} x_{\operatorname{in}_i} y_{\operatorname{in}_i} W_{i,j}^2]}{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^2}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{in}i}y_{\text{in}i}W_{i,j}^{2}]}{\sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^{2}} \qquad \text{(Independence of weight initialization)} \\ &= \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{in}i}y_{\text{in}i}]\mathbb{E}[W_{i,j}^{2}]}{\sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^{2}} \\ &= \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}}(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2})\sigma_{w}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^{2}} \qquad \text{(Definition of correlation)} \\ &= \frac{d_{\text{in}}(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2})\sigma_{w}^{2}}{d_{\text{in}}(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2})\sigma_{w}^{2}} \\ &\text{Corr}(x_{\text{out}_{j}}, y_{\text{out}_{j}}) = \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}} \\ \hline \end{array}$$

As the backward pass has similar structure, assuming  $\mu_{g_{out}} = 0$  we can use the same analysis to get,

$$\begin{split} \mu_{g_{\text{in}}} &= 0 \\ \sigma_{g_{\text{in}}}^2 &= d_{\text{out}} \sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^2 \sigma_w^2 \end{split}$$

#### C.3 DROPOUT

We can define Dropout mathematically as,

$$\mathbf{x}_{out} = \text{Dropout}(\mathbf{x}_{in})$$
$$\implies x_{out_i} = \begin{cases} \frac{x_{in_i}}{(1-p)} & \text{with probability } 1-p\\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

To calculate expectation of dropout,

$$\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}] = 0 * p + (1-p) * \mathbb{E}[\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{(1-p)}]$$
$$\mu_{x_{\text{out}}} = \mu_{x_{\text{in}}}$$

For variance,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Var}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{i}}) &= \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{i}}^{2}] - \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{i}}]^{2} \\ &= 0 * p + (1 - p) * \mathbb{E}[\frac{x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{(1 - p)^{2}}] - \mu_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} \\ &= \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}]}{(1 - p)} - \mu_{x}^{2} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + \mu_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{(1 - p)} - \mu_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} \\ \hline \sigma_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^{2} &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + p\mu_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{(1 - p)} \end{aligned}$$

If we have two inputs  $\mathbf{x}_{in}$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{in}$  such that for all i we have  $\operatorname{Corr}(x_{in_i}, y_{in_i}) = r_{x_{in}}^l$ , and  $\mathbf{x}_{out} = \operatorname{Dropout}(\mathbf{x}_{in})$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{out} = \operatorname{Dropout}(\mathbf{y}_{in})$ . Then for any j we have

$$\operatorname{Corr}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}, y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}) = \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}} y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}] - \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}]\mathbb{E}[y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}]}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}})\operatorname{Var}(y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}})}}$$
$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}} y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}] - \mu_{x_{\operatorname{out}}} \mu_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}}{\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^{2} \sigma_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^{2}}}$$

$$= \frac{p^2 * 0 + 2 * p * (1 - p) * 0 + (1 - p)^2 * \mathbb{E}[\frac{x_{in_j} y_{in_j}}{(1 - p) * (1 - p)}] - \mu_{x_{out}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{out}}^2}$$
$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{in_j} y_{in_j}] - \mu_{x_{out}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{out}}^2}$$
$$\boxed{\operatorname{Corr}(x_{out_j}, y_{out_j}) = \frac{(r_{x_{in}}^l \sigma_{x_{in}}^2)(1 - p)}{\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + p \mu_{x_{in}}^2} = r_{x_{out}}^l}$$

We can define the backward pass of Dropout as,

$$g_{\text{in}_i} = \begin{cases} \frac{g_{\text{out}_i}}{(1-p)} & \text{if } x_i \text{ isn't dropped out (which has probability } (1-p)) \\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

Again we can see that backward has similar definition to that of forward pass. Assuming  $\mu_{g_{x_{out}}} = 0$  and using similar analysis we get,

$$\begin{split} \mu_{g_{\mathrm{in}}} &= 0\\ \sigma_{g_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 &= \frac{\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^2}{(1-p)} \end{split}$$

## C.4 RELU

We can define ReLU mathematically as,

$$\mathbf{x}_{\text{out}} = \text{ReLU}(\mathbf{x}_{\text{in}})$$
$$\implies x_{\text{out}_i} = \begin{cases} x_{\text{in}_i} & \text{if } x_{\text{in}_i} > 0\\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

For getting expectation of output of ReLU for normally distributed input we have,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}] &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\text{ReLU}(x_{\text{in}_i}) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} dx_{\text{in}_i} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{0} \frac{0 * \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} dx_{\text{in}_i} + \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\text{in}_i} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} dx_{\text{in}_i} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\text{in}_i} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} dx_{\text{in}_i} \end{split}$$

Substituting  $t = \frac{x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}$  we have  $dt = \frac{x_{\text{in}_i} dx_{\text{in}_i}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}$  we get,  $\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}] = \int_0^\infty \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}} \exp(-t) dt}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$   $= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} [-\exp(-t)]_0^\infty = \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$ 

Hence, the mean of output

$$\mu_{x_{\text{out}}} = \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \tag{1}$$

Variance of output can be calculated by,

$$\operatorname{Var}(x_{\operatorname{out}_i}) = \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_i}^2] - \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_i}]^2$$

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{(\operatorname{ReLU}(x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}))^{2} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dx_{\operatorname{in}_{i}} - \frac{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{2\pi} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{0} \frac{0 * \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dx_{\operatorname{in}_{i}} + \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dx_{\operatorname{in}_{i}} - \frac{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{2\pi} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dx_{\operatorname{in}_{i}} - \frac{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{2\pi} \end{split}$$
Let  $I = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dx_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}$ , then substituting  $t = -x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}$  we have,
$$I = \int_{0}^{0} \frac{t^{2} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dt$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{0} \frac{t^{2} \exp\left(\frac{-t^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dt$$

$$\implies I + I = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \frac{t^{2} \exp\left(\frac{-t^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dt + \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dx_{\operatorname{in}_{i}} = \sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} \\ 2I = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dx_{\operatorname{in}_{i}} = \sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} \\ \Rightarrow \operatorname{Var}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{i}}) = \frac{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{2} - \frac{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{2\pi} = \frac{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{2} (1 - \frac{1}{\pi})$$

Now for two inputs  $\mathbf{x}_{in}$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{in}$  such that for all i we have  $Corr(\mathbf{x}_{in_i}, \mathbf{y}_{in_i}) = r_{x_{in}}^l$ , and  $\mathbf{x}_{out} = ReLU(\mathbf{x}_{in})$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{out} = ReLU(\mathbf{y}_{in})$ . Then for any j we have,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Corr}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}, y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}) &= \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}} y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}] - \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}]\mathbb{E}[y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}]}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}})\operatorname{Var}(y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}})}} \\ \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}} y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}] &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\operatorname{in}_{j}} y_{\operatorname{in}_{j}}}{2\pi \sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-(x_{\operatorname{in}_{j}}^{2} + y_{\operatorname{in}_{j}}^{2} - 2r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l} x_{\operatorname{in}_{j}} y_{\operatorname{in}_{j}})}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} (1 - (r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dx_{\operatorname{in}_{j}} dy_{\operatorname{in}_{j}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\operatorname{in}_{j}} y_{\operatorname{in}_{j}}}{2\pi \sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-(x_{\operatorname{in}_{j}} - r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l} y_{\operatorname{in}_{j}})^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} (1 - (r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\operatorname{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right) dx_{\operatorname{in}_{j}} dy_{\operatorname{in}_{j}} \end{aligned}$$

Substituting  $t = x_{in_j} - r_{x_{in}}^l y_{in_j}$ , and assuming  $y_{in_j}$  is constant for the inner integral,  $dx_{in_j} = dt$  $\mathbb{E}[x_{out_j}y_{out_j}] =$ 

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \int_{-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}^{\infty} \frac{t + r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-t^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dt dy_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \int_{-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}^{\infty} \frac{t}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-t^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dt dy_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \int_{-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{t} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}^{\infty} \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-t^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}\right) dt dy_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \end{split}$$

Let us first define  $I_1$  and  $I_2$  as:

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \int_{-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}^{\infty} \frac{t}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-t^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dt dy_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \\ I_{2} &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \int_{-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}^{\infty} \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-t^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dt dy_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \\ I_{1} &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \int_{-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{\infty} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}^{\infty} \frac{t}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-t^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dt dy_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \end{split}$$

Substituting 
$$p = \frac{t^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}$$
 we have  $dp = \frac{tdt}{\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}$   
 $I_1 = \int_0^\infty \frac{y_{in_j}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{in_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}\right) \int_{\frac{(r_{x_{in}}^l y_{in_j})^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}} \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-p\right) dp dy_{in_j}$   
 $= \int_0^\infty \frac{y_{in_j}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{in_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}\right) \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-(r_{x_{in}}^l y_{in_j})^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}\right) dy_{in_j}$   
 $= \int_0^\infty \frac{y_{in_j}\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}}{2\pi} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{in_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}\right) dy_{in_j}$ 

Substituting 
$$m = \frac{y_{\text{in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)}, dm = \frac{y_{\text{in}_j}dy_{\text{in}_j}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)},$$
  
 $I_1 = \int_0^\infty \frac{\sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)}}{2\pi} (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \exp(-m)dm$   
 $= \frac{(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}{2\pi}$   
 $I_2 = \int_0^\infty \frac{y_{\text{in}_j}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right) \int_{-r_{x_{\text{in}}}^r y_{\text{in}_j}}^\infty \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l y_{\text{in}_j}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}\sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2}} \exp\left(\frac{-t^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)}\right) dt dy_{\text{in}_j}$   
 $= \int_0^\infty \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l y_{\text{in}_j}^2}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right) \int_{-r_{x_{\text{in}}}^r y_{\text{in}_j}}^\infty \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}\sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2}} \exp\left(\frac{-t^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)\right) dt dy_{\text{in}_j}$ 

Substituting p = -t, where  $\Phi$  is CDF of Standard Normal Distribution

$$\begin{split} I_{2} &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \int_{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}^{-\infty} \frac{-1}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-p^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dp dy_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \int_{-\infty}^{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-p^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dp dy_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \Phi\left(\frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}}\right) dy_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \left[\frac{1}{2}\left(1 + \mathrm{erf}\left(\frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{2(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}}\right)\right)\right] dy_{\mathrm{in}_{j}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{y_{\rm in_j}^2}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \exp{(\frac{-y_{\rm in_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2})} dy_{\rm in_j} + \\ &\qquad \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \int_0^\infty y_{\rm in_j}^2 \exp{(\frac{-y_{\rm in_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2})} \mathrm{erf}(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l y_{\rm in_j}}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}\sqrt{2(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}}) dy_{\rm in_j} \end{split}$$

Let us define  $I_{2,1}$  and  $I_{2,2}$  as

$$\begin{split} I_{2,1} &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{y_{{\rm in}_j}^2}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \exp{(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2})} dy_{{\rm in}_j} \\ I_{2,2} &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \int_0^\infty y_{{\rm in}_j}^2 \exp{(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2})} \exp{(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2})} \exp{(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2})} dy_{{\rm in}_j} \\ I_{2,1} &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{y_{{\rm in}_j}^2}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \exp{(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2})} dy_{{\rm in}_j} \\ I_{2,1} &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{4} \end{split}$$
 (Same integral as in variance calculation)

From Ng & Geller (1969) we have  $\int_0^\infty x^2 \exp(-b^2 x^2) \operatorname{erf}(ax) dx = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{4b^3} - \frac{\tan^{-1}(\frac{b}{a})}{2\sqrt{\pi}b^3} + \frac{a}{2\sqrt{\pi}b^2(a^2+b^2)}$ .

Hence, putting  $a = \frac{r_{x_{in}}^l}{\sigma_{x_{in}}\sqrt{2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}}$  and  $b = \frac{1}{\sigma_{x_{in}}\sqrt{2}}$  we get,

$$\begin{split} I_{2,2} &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{2\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}}} [\frac{2\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^3}{4} - \frac{\tan^{-1}(\frac{\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}}{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l})2\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^3}{2\sqrt{\pi}} + \frac{\sqrt{2}r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^3\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}}{\sqrt{\pi}}] \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{4} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\cos^{-1}(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} + \frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} \\ &= \frac{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} + 2*\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{4} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\cos^{-1}(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} + \frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} \\ &= \frac{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} + 2*\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{4} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\cos^{-1}(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} + \frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\cos^{-1}(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)\sigma_{x}^2}{2\pi} + \sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}}{2\pi} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\cos^{-1}(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} + \frac{\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi}} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\cos^{-1}(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}^2}}{\sqrt{\sqrt{4r(x_{\rm out}_j)}\sqrt{4r(y_{\rm out}_j)}}} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\cos^{-1}(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}^2}^2}{2\pi} + \frac{\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)\sigma_{x}^2}}{2\pi} - \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi}} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\cos^{-1}(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} + \frac{\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)\sigma_{x}^2}}{2\pi} - \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi}} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2} + r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sin^{-1}(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l) + \sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}^l)^2)}} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2} + \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} + \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}^2}}{2\pi} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}^2}}{2\pi} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}^2}}{2\pi} - \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}^2}}{2\pi} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}^2}}{2} + \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_{x_{\rm in}^2}}{2\pi} + \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l\sigma_$$

Backward pass on ReLU can be defined as,

$$g_{\text{in}_i} = \begin{cases} g_{\text{out}_i} & \text{if } x_{\text{in}_i} > 0 \text{ (which has probability } \frac{1}{2}) \\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

Assuming  $\mu_{g_{\text{out}}} = 0$ ,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[g_{\mathrm{in}_i}] &= \frac{1}{2} * 0 + \frac{1}{2} * \mathbb{E}[g_{\mathrm{out}_i}] \\ \hline \mu_{g_{\mathrm{in}}} &= 0 \\ \mathrm{Var}(g_{\mathrm{in}_i}) &= \mathbb{E}[g_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2] - \mathbb{E}[g_{\mathrm{in}_i}]^2 = \mathbb{E}[g_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2] \\ &= \frac{1}{2} * 0 + \frac{1}{2} * \mathbb{E}[g_{\mathrm{out}}^2] \\ \hline \sigma_{g_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 &= \frac{\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^2}{2} \end{split}$$

If for two inputs  $\mathbf{x}_{in}$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{in}$  for all i we have  $\operatorname{Corr}(g_{\operatorname{out}_{x_i}}, g_{\operatorname{out}_{y_i}}) = r_{g_{\operatorname{out}}}^l$ , and  $g_{\operatorname{in}_{x_i}}, g_{\operatorname{in}_{y_i}}$  be the gradient after passing through ReLU layer. Then we have,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[g_{\text{in}_{x_i}}g_{\text{in}_{y_i}}] &= \mathbb{P}(x_{\text{in}_i} > 0, y_{\text{in}_i} > 0)\mathbb{E}[g_{\text{out}_{x_i}}g_{\text{out}_{y_i}}] \\ &= \mathbb{P}(x_{\text{in}_i} > 0, y_{\text{in}_i} > 0)r_{g_{\text{out}}}^l \sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^2 \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}(x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} > 0, y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} > 0) &= \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{2\pi \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\big(\frac{-(x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2} + y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2} - 2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}})}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} (1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})} \big) dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{2\pi \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\big(\frac{-(x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} - r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}})^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} (1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\big) \exp\big(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\big) dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \end{split}$$

Substituting  $t = x_{in_i} - r_{x_{in}}^l y_{in_i}$ , and assuming  $y_{in_i}$  is constant for the inner integral,  $dx_{in_i} = dt$ 

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{P}(x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} > 0, y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} > 0) = \\ \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \int_{-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-t^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dt dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \end{split}$$

Substituting p = -t, where  $\Phi$  is CDF of Standard Normal Distribution

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{P}(x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} > 0, y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} > 0) = \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \int_{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}^{-\infty} \frac{-1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-p^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dp dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \int_{-\infty}^{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-p^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) dp dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \Phi\left(\frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}}}\right) dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \left[\frac{1}{2}\left(1 + \exp\left(\frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{2(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}}\right)\right)\right] dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}\int_{0}^{\infty} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l} y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{2(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}}\right) dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \end{split}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \int_0^\infty \exp{(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2})} \exp{(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l y_{{\rm in}_i}}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}\sqrt{2(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}})} dy_{{\rm in}_i}$$

From Ng & Geller (1969) we have  $\int_0^\infty \exp\left(-b^2 x^2\right) \operatorname{erf}(ax) dx = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2b} - \frac{1}{b\sqrt{\pi}} \tan^{-1}(\frac{b}{a})$ 

Putting 
$$a = \frac{r_{x_{in}}^l}{\sigma_{x_{in}}\sqrt{2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}}$$
 and  $b = \frac{1}{\sigma_{x_{in}}\sqrt{2}}$  we get,

C.5 GELU

Forward pass through GeLU is defined as,

$$\mathbf{x}_{\text{out}} = \text{GeLU}(\mathbf{x}_{\text{in}})$$
$$\implies x_{\text{out}_i} = x_{\text{in}_i} \Phi(x_{\text{in}_i})$$

where  $\Phi(x)$  is CDF of Standard Normal Distribution at x

$$=\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{2}\left(1+\mathrm{erf}(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})\right)$$

To get the mean of output of GeLU, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}] &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\text{out}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right) dx_{\text{in}_i} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\text{in}_i}\left(1 + \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right)}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right) dx_{\text{in}_i} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right) dx_{\text{in}_i} + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\text{in}_i}\operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right) dx_{\text{in}_i} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\text{in}_i}\operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right) dx_{\text{in}_i} \end{aligned} \tag{Integral of odd function) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{\text{in}_i}\operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right) dx_{\text{in}_i} \end{aligned}$$

From 2.6.1.4 of Lipovetsky (2020),  $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z \operatorname{erf}(az) \exp(-a_1 z^2) dz = \frac{a}{a_1 \sqrt{a^2 + a_1}}$ 

Substituting, 
$$a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, a_1 = \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}$$
, we have  

$$\mathbb{E}[x_{out_i}] = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{in}}} \frac{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}}{\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}\sqrt{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{in}}} \frac{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^3}{\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1}}$$

$$\mu_{x_{out}} = \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}{\sqrt{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1)}}$$

For calculating variance of output,

(Definition of variance, and integral of odd function)

$$= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{4} + \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{{\rm in}_i}^2 {\rm erf}^2(\frac{x_{{\rm in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}}) \exp{(\frac{-x_{{\rm in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2})} dx_{{\rm in}_i}$$

From 2.7.3.3 of Lipovetsky (2020)

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z^2 \exp\left(-az^2\right) \operatorname{erf}(a_1 z) \operatorname{erf}(a_2 z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \left(\frac{1}{a\sqrt{a}} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{a_1 a_2}{\sqrt{a^2 + aa_1^2 + aa_2^2}}\right) + \frac{a_1 a_2 (2a + a_1^2 + a_2^2)}{a\sqrt{a + a_1^2 + a_2^2}(a^2 + aa_1^2 + aa_2^2 + a_1^2 a_2^2)}\right)$$

Substituting  $a=\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}, a_1=a_2=\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ 

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{\text{in}_{i}}^{2} \text{erf}^{2} (\frac{x_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}}) \exp{(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}})} dx_{\text{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} (2\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{3} \tan^{-1}{(\frac{\frac{1}{2}}{\sqrt{\frac{1}{4\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{4} + \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}}}) + \frac{\frac{1}{2}(\frac{1}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}} + 1)}{\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}} + 1(\frac{1}{4\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{4}} + \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}} + \frac{1}{4})}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} (2\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{3} \tan^{-1}{(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1)^{2} - \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{4}}}) + \frac{4\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{5}}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1}(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{4} + 2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1)}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} (2\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{3} \sin^{-1}{(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1})} + \frac{4\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{5}}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1}(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1)}) \\ &= \frac{2\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{3}}{\sqrt{\pi}} (\sin^{-1}{(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1})} + \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1}(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1)})) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_{i}}^{2}] &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{4} + \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{\text{in}}^{2} \text{erf}^{2}(\frac{x_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}}) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}\right) dx_{\text{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{4} + \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \frac{2\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{3}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \left(\sin^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}+1}\right) + \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}+1}(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}+1)}\right)\right) \\ \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_{i}}^{2}] &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{4} + \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{2\pi} \left(\sin^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}+1}\right) + \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}+1}(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}+1)}\right)\right) \\ \text{Var}(x_{\text{out}_{i}}) &= \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_{i}}^{2}] - \left(\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_{i}}]\right)^{2} \\ \\ \boxed{\sigma_{x_{out}}^{2}} &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}{2\pi} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}{1 + \sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}} + \sin^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}{1 + \sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}\right) + \frac{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}{(1 + \sigma_{x_{in}}^{2})\sqrt{1 + 2\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}}\right)} \end{split}$$

Now if we have two inputs  $\mathbf{x}_{in}$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{in}$  such that for all values of i, we have  $\operatorname{Corr}(x_{in_i}, y_{in_i}) = r_{x_{in}}^l$ , then we can calculate the covariance  $\operatorname{Cov}(x_{\operatorname{out}_j}, y_{\operatorname{out}_j})$  for any j as,

$$\operatorname{Cov}(x_{\operatorname{out}_j}, y_{\operatorname{out}_j}) = \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_j} y_{\operatorname{out}_j}] - \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_j}]\mathbb{E}[y_{\operatorname{out}_j}]$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_{j}}y_{\text{out}_{j}}] \\ &= \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\text{out}_{j}}y_{\text{out}_{j}}}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}} \exp\big(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}+2r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}x_{\text{in}_{j}}y_{\text{in}_{j}}-y_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\big)dx_{\text{in}_{j}}dy_{\text{in}_{j}} = I \\ &= \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\text{in}_{j}}(1+\operatorname{erf}(\frac{x_{\text{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}))y_{\text{in}_{j}}(1+\operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}))}{8\pi\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}} \exp\big(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}+2r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}x_{\text{in}_{j}}y_{\text{in}_{j}}-y_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\big)dx_{\text{in}_{j}}dy_{\text{in}_{j}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}}(1+\operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}))}{8\pi\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}} \exp\big(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\big)I_{X}dy_{\text{in}_{j}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (1+\cos(x_{\text{in}_{j}}))}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}} \exp\big(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}+2r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}x_{\text{in}_{j}}y_{\text{in}_{j}}}\big) \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (1+\cos(x_{\text{in}_{j}}))}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}} \exp\big(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}+2r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}x_{\text{in}_{j}}y_{\text{in}_{j}}}\big) \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{sup}^{2} \left(1+\cos(x_{\text{in}_{j}})\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}} \exp\big(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}+2r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}x_{\text{in}_{j}}y_{\text{in}_{j}}}\big) \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{sup}^{2} \left(1+\cos(x_{\text{in}_{j}})\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}} \exp\big(\frac{-x_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}+2r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}x_{\text{in}_{j}}y_{\text{in}_{j}}}\big) + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{sup}^{2}} \operatorname{sup}^{2} \left(\frac{-x_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}+2r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}x_{\text{in}_{j}}y_{\text{in}_{j}}}\big) + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{sup}^{2} \operatorname{sup}^{2} \left(\frac{-x_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}+2r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}x_{\text{in}_{j}}y_{\text{in}_{j}}\big) + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{sup}^{2} \operatorname{sup}^{2} \left(\frac{-x_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}+2r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}x_{\text{in}_{j}}y_{\text{in}_{j}}}\big) + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{sup}^{2} \operatorname{sup}^{2} \operatorname{sup}$$

Where 
$$I_X = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{in_j} (1 + erf(\frac{x_{in_j}}{\sqrt{2}})) \exp(\frac{-x_{in_j}^2 + 2r_{x_{in}}^2 x_{in_j} y_{in_j}}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}})^2)}) dx_{in_j}$$
  
 $I_X = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{in_j} (1 + erf(\frac{x_{in_j}}{\sqrt{2}})) \exp(\frac{-x_{in_j}^2 + 2r_{x_{in}}^l x_{in_j} y_{in_j}}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}})^2)}) dx_{in_j}$   
 $= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{in_j} \exp(\frac{-x_{in_j}^2 + 2r_{x_{in}}^l x_{in_j} y_{in_j}}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}})^2)}) dx_{in_j} + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{in_j} erf(\frac{x_{in_j}}{\sqrt{2}}) \exp(\frac{-x_{in_j}^2 + 2r_{x_{in}}^l x_{in_j} y_{in_j}}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}})^2)}) dx_{in_j}$ 

Let, 
$$I_{X,1} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{in_j} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{in_j}^2 + 2r_{x_{in}}^l x_{in_j} y_{in_j}}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}\right) dx_{in_j}$$
  
 $I_{X,2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{in_j} \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x_{in_j}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{in_j}^2 + 2r_{x_{in}}^l x_{in_j} y_{in_j}}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}\right) dx_{in_j}$   
 $I_{X,1} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{in_j} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{in_j}^2 + 2r_{x_{in}}^l x_{in_j} y_{in_j}}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}\right) dx_{in_j}$   
 $= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{in_j} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{in_j}^2 + 2r_{x_{in}}^l x_{in_j} y_{in_j}}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2 y_{in_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}\right) dx_{in_j}$   
 $= \exp\left(\frac{(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2 y_{in_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}\right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{in_j} \exp\left(\frac{-(x_{in_j} - r_{x_{in}}^l y_{in_j})^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}\right) dx_{in_j}$ 

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_j}}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)}} \exp\left(\frac{-(x_{\mathrm{in}_j} - r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l y_{\mathrm{in}_j})^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_j} \\ &= r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l y_{\mathrm{in}_j} \sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)} \exp\left(\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2 y_{\mathrm{in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)}\right) \\ &I_{X,2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{\mathrm{in}_j} \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_j}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_j}^2 + 2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l x_{\mathrm{in}_j} y_{\mathrm{in}_j}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_j} \end{split}$$

From 2.7.2.4 of Lipovetsky (2020),

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z \operatorname{erf}(a_1 z) \exp(-az^2 + bz) dz =$$
  
=  $\frac{\sqrt{\pi}b}{2a\sqrt{a}} \exp(\frac{b^2}{4a}) \operatorname{erf}(\frac{a_1 b}{2\sqrt{a^2 + aa_1^2}}) + \frac{a_1}{a\sqrt{a + a_1^2}} \exp(\frac{b^2}{4a + 4a_1^2})$ 

$$\begin{split} \text{Substituting } a_1 &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, a = \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)}, b = \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l y_{\text{in}_j}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)}, \text{ we get} \\ I_{X,2} &= \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l y_{\text{in}_j}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)}}{2\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^3 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)^2}}} \exp\big(\frac{\frac{(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2 y_{\text{in}_j}^2}{42\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)^2}}\big) \exp\big(\frac{\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)}}{2\sqrt{\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)}}}^2 + \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)}} \big) \\ &+ \frac{1}{\frac{\sqrt{2}}}{\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)} \sqrt{\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)} + \frac{1}{2}}} \exp\big(\frac{(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2 y_{\text{in}_j}^2}{4\frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)} + \frac{1}{2}}} \Big) \\ &= r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l y_{\text{in}_j} \sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}} \sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)} \exp\big(\frac{(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2 y_{\text{in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)} + \frac{1}{2}} \exp\big(\frac{(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2 y_{\text{in}_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^1)^2)} + 1)} + \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^3 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)^\frac{3}{2}}}{\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2) + 1}} \exp\big(\frac{(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2 y_{\text{in}_j}^2}{2(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2) + 1)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)} \big)$$

Let us define  $I_{X,2,1}$  and  $I_{X,2,2}$  as:

$$\begin{split} I_{X,2,1} &= r_{x_{\rm in}}^l y_{\rm in_j} \sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}} \sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)} \exp\big(\frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2 y_{\rm in_j}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}\big) \mathrm{erf}\big(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l y_{\rm in_j}}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)}}\big) \\ I_{X,2,2} &= \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^3 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}{\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1}} \exp\big(\frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2 y_{\rm in_j}^2}{2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}\big) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} I &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}} \left(1 + \text{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right)}{8\pi \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \sqrt{\left(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2}\right)}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \left(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2}\right)}\right) I_{X} dy_{\text{in}_{j}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}} \left(1 + \text{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right)}{8\pi \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \sqrt{\left(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2}\right)}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \left(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2}\right)}\right) (I_{X,1} + I_{X,2,1} + I_{X,2,2}) dy_{\text{in}_{j}} \\ &I_{1} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}} \left(1 + \text{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right)}{8\pi \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \sqrt{\left(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2}\right)}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \left(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2}\right)}\right) I_{X,1} dy_{\text{in}_{j}} \\ &I_{2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}} \left(1 + \text{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right)}{8\pi \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \sqrt{\left(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2}\right)}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \left(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2}\right)}\right) I_{X,2,1} dy_{\text{in}_{j}} \end{split}$$

$$I_{3} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}}(1 + \text{erf}(\frac{y_{\text{in}_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}))}{8\pi\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}\sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}} \exp\big(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_{j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\big)I_{X,2,2}dy_{\text{in}_{j}}$$

We have  $I = I_1 + I_2 + I_3$ 

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}j} \left(1 + \text{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\text{in}j}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right)}{8\pi \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \sqrt{\left(1 - \left(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{1}\right)^{2}\right)}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}j}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \left(1 - \left(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{1}\right)^{2}\right)}\right) r_{x_{\text{m}}}^{l} y_{\text{in}j} \\ &\qquad \sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}} \sqrt{\left(1 - \left(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{1}\right)^{2}\right)} \exp\left(\frac{(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2} y_{\text{in}j}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \left(1 - \left(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}\right)^{2}\right)}\right) dy_{\text{in}j} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}}{4} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}j}^{2} \left(1 + \text{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\text{in}j}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\right)\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}j}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}\right) dy_{\text{in}j} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}}{4} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}j}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}j}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}\right) dy_{\text{in}j} + \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}}{4} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}j}^{2} \text{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\text{in}j}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) dy_{\text{in}j} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{4} \qquad \text{(Definition of variance, and integral of odd function)} \\ I_{2} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\text{in}j} \left(1 + \text{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\text{in}j}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right)}{8\pi \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \sqrt{\left(1 - \left(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}\right)^{2}\right)}} \exp\left(\frac{\left(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}\right)^{2} y_{\text{in}j}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \left(1 - \left(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}\right)^{2}\right)}\right) \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l} y_{\text{in}j}}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \left(1 - \left(r_{x_{\text{in}}^{l}\right)^{2}\right)}}\right) dy_{\text{in}j} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\text{in}j}^{2} \left(1 + \text{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\text{in}j}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}j}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \left(1 - \left(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}\right)^{2}\right)}\right) \exp\left(\frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l} y_{\text{in}j}}{\left(2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} \left(1 - \left(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}\right)^{2}\right)}\right) dy_{\text{in}j} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\text{in}j}^{2} \left(1 + \text{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\text{in}j}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right) \exp\left(\frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} y_{\text{in}j}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l} y_{\text{in}j}}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l} \left(1 - \left(r_{x_{\text{in}}^{l}\right)^{2}\right)}}\right) dy_{\text{in}j} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\text{in}}^{2} \exp\left(\frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} y_{\text{in}}^{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l} y_{\text{in}j}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l} y_{\text{in}j}}\right) dy_{\text{in}j}$$

$$\begin{aligned} &4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g_{\rm inj}^{2} \exp\left(2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)}}\right) dy_{\rm inj} \\ &+\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\rm inj}^{2} \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\rm inj}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\rm inj}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}\right) \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}y_{\rm inj}}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)}}\right) dy_{\rm inj} \\ &=\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\rm inj}^{2} \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{y_{\rm inj}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\rm inj}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}\right) \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}y_{\rm inj}}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)}}\right) dy_{\rm inj} \end{aligned}$$

(Integral of Odd function)

From 2.7.3.3 of Lipovetsky (2020),

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z^2 \exp\left(-az^2\right) \operatorname{erf}(a_1 z) \operatorname{erf}(a_2 z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} \left(\frac{1}{a\sqrt{a}} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{a_1 a_2}{\sqrt{a^2 + aa_1^2 + aa_2^2}}\right) + \frac{a_1 a_2 (2a + a_1^2 + a_2^2)}{a\sqrt{a + a_1^2 + a_2^2}(a^2 + aa_1^2 + aa_2^2 + a_1^2 a_2^2)}\right)$$

Substituting  $a = \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}, a_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, a_2 = \frac{r_{x_{in}}^l}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)+1)}}$  $a_1 a_2 = \frac{r_{x_{in}}^l}{2\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)+1)}}$  $a^2 + aa_1^2 + aa_2^2 = \frac{1}{4\sigma_{x_{in}}^4} + \frac{1}{4\sigma_{x_{in}}^2} + \frac{(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2}{4\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)+1)}$ 

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1 + \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2) + \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{4 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4)} = \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2}{4 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} = \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2}{4 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} \\ a + a_1^2 + a_2^2 &= \frac{a^2 + aa_1^2 + aa_2^2}{a} = \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2}{4 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} * 2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \\ &= \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2}{2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} + \frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2}{4 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} \\ a^2 + aa_1^2 + aa_2^2 + a_1^2 a_2^2 = \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2}{4 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} + \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2}{4 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} \\ &= \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2 + (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2}{4 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} \\ &= \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2 + (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2}{2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} \\ &= \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2 + \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)}{2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} \\ &= \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2 + \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)}{2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} \\ &= \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)}{2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)} \\ &= \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 2 - \sigma_{x_{\rm in}^2}^2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (\sigma_$$

$$\begin{split} I_{2} &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm m}}^{l}}{4\sqrt{2}\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} (2\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{3}\tan^{-1}(\frac{\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{1})^{2})+1)}{\sqrt{\frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm m}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{1}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}}}))) \\ &+ \frac{r_{x_{\rm m}}^{l}}{4\sqrt{2}\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}}(\frac{(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{1})^{2})+1)}{(\frac{1}{2}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{1})^{2})+1)}\frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{1})^{2})+1)}{(2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{1})^{2})+1)}\frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{1})^{2})+1)}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{1})^{2})+1)}\frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)^{2}}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{1})^{2})+1)}\frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)^{2}}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{1}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}})) \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm m}}^{l}}{4\sqrt{2}\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}}(2\sqrt{2}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{3}\tan^{-1}(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}}))) \\ &+ \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}}{4\sqrt{2}\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}}(\frac{2\sqrt{2}r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{5}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}})) \\ &+ \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}}{4\sqrt{2}\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}}(\frac{2\sqrt{2}r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{5}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+2)}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}}}) \\ &I_{2} = \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{8\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}(\sin^{-1}(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})+1)}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}}}) \\ &I_{3} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\frac{y_{\rm in}(1+{\rm erf}(\frac{y_{\rm in}}{\sqrt{2})})}{8\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}\sqrt{(1-(r_{{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})}}}\exp((\frac{-y_{{\rm in}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}^{2}}^{2}(1-(r_{{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})})) \\ &\frac{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{{\rm in}}^{l})^{2}+1)}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})})dy_{\rm in}} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})y_{in_{j}}(1+\operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{in_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}))}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1}} \exp\big(\frac{-y_{in_{j}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})}{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1)\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})}\big)dy_{in_{j}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})y_{in_{j}}(1+\operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{in_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}))}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1}} \exp\big(\frac{-y_{in_{j}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}+1)(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})}{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1)\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})}\big)dy_{in_{j}} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{in_{j}}(1+\operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{in_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}}))\exp\big(\frac{-y_{in_{j}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}+1)}{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1)\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}\big)dy_{in_{j}} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{in_{j}}\exp\big(\frac{-y_{in_{j}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}+1)}{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1)\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}\big)dy_{in_{j}} \\ &+ \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{in_{j}}\operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{in_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}})\exp\big(\frac{-y_{in_{j}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}+1)}{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1)\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}\big)dy_{in_{j}} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{in_{j}}\operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{in_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}})\exp\big(\frac{-y_{in_{j}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}+1)}{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1)\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}\big)dy_{in_{j}} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{in_{j}}\operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{in_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}})\exp\big(\frac{-y_{in_{j}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}+1)}{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1)\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}\big)dy_{in_{j}} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{in}}^{l})^{2})+1}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{in_{j}}\operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{in_{j}}}{\sqrt{2}})\exp\big(\frac{y_{in_{j}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}+1)}{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2$$

(Integral of Odd function)

From 2.6.1.4 of Lipovetsky (2020),  $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{zerf}(az) \exp(-a_1 z^2) dz = \frac{a}{a_1 \sqrt{a^2 + a_1}}$ Substituting,  $a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, a_1 = \frac{(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + 1)}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2) + 1)}$ , we have

$$\begin{split} I_{3} &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1}} (\frac{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}}{(\frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)}\sqrt{\frac{1}{2}+\frac{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)}})) \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1}\frac{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{3}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)^{\frac{3}{2}}}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{4}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})}+\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1}} \\ I_{3} &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{4}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})}{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}}} \end{split}$$

Finally we have,

$$\begin{split} I &= I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{4} + \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{2\pi} (\sin^{-1} \left(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1}\right) + \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2}) + 2)}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1) \sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1)^{2} - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}}} \\ &+ \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{4} (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2}) + 1)(1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})}{2\pi (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1) \sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1)^{2} - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}}} \\ I &= \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{4} + \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{2\pi} \sin^{-1} \left(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1}\right) + \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{4} (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2}) + 1 + (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})}{2\pi (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1) \sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1)^{2} - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}}} \\ I &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{4} \left[ r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} + \frac{2r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sin^{-1} \left(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1}\right) + \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2}) + 1 + (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2}}{\pi (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1) \sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1)^{2} - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2}}} \right] \end{split}$$

We have,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Cov}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}, y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}) &= I - \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}]\mathbb{E}[y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}]\\ \operatorname{Cov}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}, y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}) &= I - \frac{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{4}}{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + 1)} \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Cov}(x_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}, y_{\operatorname{out}_{j}}) &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{4\pi}(\pi r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l} + 2r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l} \sin^{-1}(\frac{r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + 1}) \\ &+ \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l})^{2}) + 1 + (r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l})^{2})}{(\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + 1)\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + 1)^{2} - (r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l} \sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2})^{2}}} - \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{(\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + 1)}) \end{aligned}$$

The backward pass through GeLU is defined as,

$$g_{\text{in}_{i}} = (\Phi(x_{\text{in}_{i}}) + \frac{x_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right))g_{\text{out}_{i}}$$
$$= \left(\frac{1}{2}\left(1 + \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right) + \frac{x_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right)\right)g_{\text{out}_{i}}$$

So the mean of gradient is obtained as following,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[g_{\text{in}_{i}}] &= \mathbb{E}[(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \text{erf}(\frac{x_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{x_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp{(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2})})g_{\text{out}_{i}}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \text{erf}(\frac{x_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{x_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp{(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2})})]\mathbb{E}[g_{\text{out}_{i}}] = 0 \\ \boxed{\mu_{g_{\text{in}}} = 0} \end{split}$$

Similarly for variance,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[g_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}] &= \mathbb{E}[(\frac{1}{2}(1+\mathrm{erf}(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right))^{2}g_{\mathrm{out}_{i}}^{2}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[(\frac{1}{2}(1+\mathrm{erf}(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right))^{2}]\mathbb{E}[g_{\mathrm{out}_{i}}^{2}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[(\frac{1}{2}(1+\mathrm{erf}(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right))^{2}]\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^{2} \\ I &= \mathbb{E}[(\frac{1}{2}(1+\mathrm{erf}(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right))^{2}] \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2}(1+\mathrm{erf}(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right)\right)^{2} \frac{\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}} dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ I &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{\mathrm{erf}^{2}(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})}{4} + \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}\exp\left(-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}\right)}{2\pi} + \frac{\mathrm{erf}(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}})}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\right) \frac{\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}} dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ I_{1} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{4} \frac{\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}} dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ I_{1} &= \frac{1}{4} \end{split}$$

$$I_{2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\operatorname{erf}^{2}(\frac{x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})}{4} \frac{\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} dx_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{erf}^{2}(\frac{x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}}) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}\right) dx_{\operatorname{in}_{i}}$$

From 2.7.1.3 of Lipovetsky (2020),

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{erf}(a_1 z) \operatorname{erf}(a_2 z) \exp(-az^2) dz = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi a}} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{a_1 a_2}{\sqrt{a^2 + aa_1^2 + aa_2^2}}\right)$$

Substituting  $a=\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}, a_1=a_2=\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ 

$$\begin{split} I_{2} &= \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}}} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}}{\sqrt{4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + \frac{1}{4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}}}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2\pi}} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1}}\right) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1)^{2} - \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{4}}}\right) \\ I_{2} &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \sin^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1}}\right) \\ I_{3} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2} \exp\left(-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}\right)}{2\pi} \frac{\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1)}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1)}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1}}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}{\sqrt{(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1)}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1)}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1)}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}} \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}{\sqrt{(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1)}} \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1)}} (\text{Definition of variance}) \\ &I_{3} = \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{2\pi(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \\ &I_{4} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}} dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} = 0 \qquad \text{(Integral of odd function)} \\ &I_{5} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}} \frac{\exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}} dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}}\right) dx_$$

 $= \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{\text{in}_i} \operatorname{ert}\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}\right) dx_{\text{in}_i}$ From 2.6.1.4 of Lipovetsky (2020),  $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{zerf}(az) \exp\left(-a_1 z^2\right) dz = \frac{a}{a_1 \sqrt{a^2 + a_1}}$ 

Substituting,  $a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, a_1 = \frac{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}$ , we have  $I_6 = \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{in}}} \frac{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}}{\frac{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}\sqrt{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}}$ 

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^3}{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1)\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1}} \\ I_6 &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{\pi(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1)\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1}} \\ I &= I_1 + I_2 + I_3 + I_4 + I_5 + I_6 \\ &= \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\sin^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1}\right) + \frac{\sigma_{2\pi(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}}}{2\pi(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} + \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{\pi(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1)\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1}} \\ &= \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\sin^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1}\right) + \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2(4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 2 + \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1)}{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1)(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \\ I &= \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\sin^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1}\right) + \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2(5\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 3)}{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1)(2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \end{split}$$

So the variance of gradient of input of GeLU comes out to be

$$\mathbb{E}[g_{\text{in}_{i}}^{2}] = I\sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^{2}$$

$$\boxed{\sigma_{g_{\text{in}}}^{2} = \left[\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\sin^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1}\right) + \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}(5\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 3)}{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1)(2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2} + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}}\right]\sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^{2}}$$

If for two inputs  $\mathbf{x}_{in}$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{in}$  for all i we have  $\operatorname{Corr}(g_{\operatorname{out}_{x_i}}, g_{\operatorname{out}_{y_i}}) = r_{g_{\operatorname{out}}}^l$ , and  $g_{\operatorname{in}_{x_i}}, g_{\operatorname{in}_{y_i}}$  be the gradient after passing through GeLU layer. Then we have,

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[g_{\text{in}_{x_i}}g_{\text{in}_{y_i}}] = \\ & = \mathbb{E}[(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \text{erf}(\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp{(\frac{-x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2})})g_{\text{out}_{x_i}}(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \text{erf}(\frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp{(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2})})g_{\text{out}_{y_i}}] \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[g_{\text{in}_{x_i}}g_{\text{in}_{y_i}}] &= \mathbb{E}[\{\frac{1}{2}(1+\text{erf}(\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \\ &\quad \frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(-\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2}\right))(\frac{1}{2}(1+\text{erf}(\frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(-\frac{y_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2}\right))]\mathbb{E}[g_{\text{out}_{x_i}}g_{\text{out}_{y_i}}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[(\frac{1}{2}(1+\text{erf}(\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \\ &\quad \frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(-\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2}\right))(\frac{1}{2}(1+\text{erf}(\frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(-\frac{-y_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2}\right))]r_{g_{\text{out}}}^{l}\sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^{2}} \\ &I = \mathbb{E}[(\frac{1}{2}(1+\text{erf}(\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \\ &\quad \frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(-\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2}\right))(\frac{1}{2}(1+\text{erf}(\frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(-\frac{-y_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2}\right))]r_{x_{\text{in}_i},y_{\text{in}_i}}^{l}dx_{\text{in}_i}dy_{\text{in}_i} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{2}(1+\text{erf}(\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(-\frac{y_{\text{in}_i}^2}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(-\frac{y_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2}\right)\right)p_{x_{\text{in}_i},y_{\text{in}_i}}dx_{\text{in}_i}dy_{\text{in}_i} \\ &\text{Where } p_{x_{\text{in}_i},y_{\text{in}_i}} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}})^2)}\exp\left(-\frac{x_{\text{in}_i}^2 + 2r_{x_{\text{in}}x_{\text{in}_i}y_{\text{in}_i}} - y_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^2))}\right) \\ &I = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{(\frac{1}{2}(1+\text{erf}(\frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{y_{\text{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(-\frac{y_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2}\right)}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^2)^2)}}\exp\left(-\frac{y_{\text{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}^2)^2}\right)}I_Xdy_{\text{in}_i} \end{aligned}$$
Where,

$$\begin{split} I_X &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(1 + \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right) + \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2}{2}\right)\right) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2 + 2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1 x_{\mathrm{in}_i} y_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2\right)}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_i} \\ I_{X,1} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2 + 2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1 x_{\mathrm{in}_i} y_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2\right)}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2 y_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2\right)}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2 y_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2\right)}\right) \exp\left(\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2 y_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2\right)}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_i} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \exp\left(\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2 y_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2\right)}\right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(\frac{-(x_{\mathrm{in}_i} - r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1 y_{\mathrm{in}_i})^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2\right)}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_i} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \exp\left(\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2 y_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2\right)}\right) \sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 - r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 y_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2\right)}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_i} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \exp\left(\frac{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}} \sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2)}}{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 y_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^1)^2\right)}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_i} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)}{2} \exp\left(\frac{(r_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2 + 2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 x_{\mathrm{in}_i} y_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2)^2\right)}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_i} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2 + 2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 x_{\mathrm{in}_i} y_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \left(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2)^2\right)}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_i}. \end{split}$$

From 2.7.1.6 of Lipovetsky (2020),

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{erf}(a_1 z) \exp(-az^2 + bz) dz = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{a}} \exp(\frac{b^2}{4a}) \operatorname{erf}(\frac{a_1 b}{2\sqrt{a^2 + aa_1^2}})$$

Substituting  $a_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, a = \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}, b = \frac{r_{x_{in}}^l y_{in_i}}{\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)}$  $(r_{x_{i..}}^l)^2 y_{in..}^2$ 

$$\begin{split} I_{X,2} &= \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}}} \exp{(\frac{\frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2 y_{{\rm in}_i}^2}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 (1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)^2}})} \exp{(\frac{\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l y_{{\rm in}_i}}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}}}{2\sqrt{\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 (1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}}}) \exp{(\frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2 y_{{\rm in}_i}^2}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 (1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}})}) \\ I_{X,2} &= \frac{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)^2}} \exp{(\frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2 y_{{\rm in}_i}^2}{\sqrt{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)^2} + \frac{1}{4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}}}) \end{split}$$

$$I_{X,2} = \frac{1}{2} \exp\left(\frac{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 - m_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}\right) \exp\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)}}\right)$$

$$\begin{split} I_{X,3} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}+2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})} \right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})+1)+2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})} \right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}+\frac{2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})+1)}}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}+\frac{2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})+1)}}\right) dx_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \end{split}$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\big(\frac{-x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2} + \frac{2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{t}x_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{1})^{2})+1)}}\big) \exp\big(\frac{\frac{-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{t})^{2}y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{1})^{2})+1)}}\big) \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{1})^{2})+1)}{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{1})^{2})+1)}}\big) \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{t})^{2}y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{1})^{2})+1)}}\big) \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{t})^{2}y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{1})^{2})+1)^{2}}}) \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{t})^{2}y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{1})^{2})+1)}}) \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{t})^{2}y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{t})^{2})+1)}} \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})+1))}{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2})+1)}} \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2})}{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2})+1)}} \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2})}{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2})}} \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2})}{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2})}} \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2})}{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2})}} \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}^{2})^{2})})}{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}$$

$$I_{X,3} = \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l y_{\rm in_i} \sigma_{x_{\rm in}} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2}}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2 y_{\rm in_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1)}\right)$$

$$I =$$

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{\mathrm{i}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})\right) + \frac{y_{\mathrm{i}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{i}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right)}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{i}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) (I_{X,1} + I_{X,2} + I_{X,3}) dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}$$

$$I_{1} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})\right) + \frac{y_{\text{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right)\right)}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}\sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\text{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})}\right) I_{X,1}dy_{\text{in}_{i}}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}(1+\mathrm{erf}(\frac{y_{\mathrm{h}i_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})\right) + \frac{y_{\mathrm{i}n_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{i}n_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right))}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{i}n}}^{2}\sqrt{\left(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}\right)}}\exp\left(\frac{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2})}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\left(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}\right)}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}(1+\mathrm{erf}(\frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right)\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}\exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right)dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &I_{1,1} = \frac{1}{4}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}\exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right)dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} = \frac{1}{4} \\ &I_{1,2} = \frac{1}{4}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{erf}(\frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}\exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right)dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} = 0 \\ &I_{1,3} = \frac{1}{2}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}\exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}\right)}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}\exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right)dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} = 0 \\ &(\text{Integral of odd function}) \end{split}$$

$$I_{2,2} = \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{erf}(\frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2}}) \exp{(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2})} \mathrm{erf}(\frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l y_{\mathrm{in}_i}}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)+1)}}) dy_{\mathrm{in}_i}$$

From 2.7.1.3 of Lipovetsky (2020),

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{erf}(a_1 z) \operatorname{erf}(a_2 z) \exp(-az^2) dz = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi a}} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{a_1 a_2}{\sqrt{a^2 + aa_1^2 + aa_2^2}}\right)$$

Substituting 
$$a = \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}, a_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, a_2 = \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^*}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)+1)}}$$

$$I_{2,2} = \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}}} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)+1)}}{\sqrt{\frac{1}{4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4} + \frac{1}{4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2} + \frac{(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2}{4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)+1)}}}\right)$$

$$I_{2,2} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4 + 2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^4}}}\right) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2}}\right)$$

$$I_{2,2} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sin^{-1}\left(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1}}\right)$$

$$I_{2,3} = \frac{1}{4\pi\sigma} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\rm in_i} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\rm in_i}^2}{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\rm in_i}^2}{2\sigma^2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-r_{\rm in_i}^2}{2\sigma^2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{r_{\rm in_i}^2 r_{\rm in_i}}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1}\right)$$

$${}_{3} = \frac{1}{4\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{{\rm in}_{i}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_{i}}}{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_{i}}}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_{i}}}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_{i}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_{i}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)}}\right) dy_{{\rm in}_{i}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{4\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{{\rm in}_{i}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{{\rm in}_{i}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}\right) \exp\left(\frac{r_{{\rm in}_{i}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}+1)}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l})^{2})+1)}}\right) dy_{{\rm in}_{i}}$$

From 2.6.1.4 of Lipovetsky (2020),  $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} z \operatorname{erf}(az) \exp(-a_1 z^2) dz = \frac{a_1}{a_1 \sqrt{a^2 + a_1}}$ 

Substituting, 
$$a = \frac{r_{x_{in}}^l}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)+1)}}, a_1 = \frac{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2+1)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}$$
, we have  
 $I_{2,3} = \frac{1}{4\pi\sigma_{x_{in}}} \frac{\frac{r_{x_{in}}^l}{\sqrt{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)+1)}}}{\frac{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2+1)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}\sqrt{\frac{(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2}{2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{in}}^l)^2)+1)} + \frac{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2+1)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}}}$ 

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{r_{x_m}^l \sigma_{x_m}^2}{2\pi (\sigma_{x_m}^2 + 1) \sqrt{\sigma_{x_m}^l + 2\sigma_{x_m}^2 + 1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2 \sigma_{x_m}^4}}{2\pi (\sigma_{x_m}^2 + 1) \sqrt{(\sigma_{x_m}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_m}^l \sigma_{x_m}^2)^2}} \\ &I_{2,3} = \frac{r_{x_m}^l \sigma_{x_m}^2}{2\pi (\sigma_{x_m}^2 + 1) \sqrt{(\sigma_{x_m}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_m}^l \sigma_{x_m}^2)^2}}}{2\pi (\sigma_{x_m}^2 + 1) \sqrt{(\sigma_{x_m}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_m}^l \sigma_{x_m}^2)^2}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{n_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2)}\right) I_{X,3} dy_{\text{in}_i} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \text{erf}(\frac{y_m}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{y_m}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{y_m^l}{2}\right)\right)}{2\pi \sigma_{x_m}^2 \sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2)}}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{m_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2)}\right) \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \text{erf}(\frac{y_m}{\sqrt{2}})) + \frac{y_m}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{y_m^l}{2}\right)\right)}{2\pi \sigma_{x_m}^2 \sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2)}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{m_i}^2}{2\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2)}\right) \\ &= \frac{r_{x_m}^l (\frac{y_m}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \sqrt{1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2})}{\left(\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1\right)^\frac{3}{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\text{in}_i} \left(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \text{erf}(\frac{y_m}{\sqrt{2}})\right) + \frac{y_m}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{y_{m_i}^2}{2}\right)\right) \\ &= \frac{r_{x_m}^l (\frac{y_m}{\sqrt{2\pi}} (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1)^\frac{3}{2}}{2\pi \sigma_{x_m}^2 (\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1)} \exp\left(\frac{r_{x_m}^l y_m^2}{2\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2)}\right) \exp\left(\frac{r_{x_m}^l (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2)}{2\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1)^\frac{3}{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\text{in}_i} \left(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \text{erf}(\frac{y_{m_i}}{\sqrt{2}})\right) + \frac{y_{m_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{y_{m_i}^2}{2}\right)\right) \\ &= \frac{r_{x_m}^l (\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1)\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2)}{2\pi \sigma_{x_m} (\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1)\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2)} dy_{\text{in}_i} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_m}^l (\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1)\sigma_{x_m}^2}{2\pi \sigma_{x_m} (\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1)\sigma_{x_m}^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\text{in}_i} \left(\frac{1}{2}(1 + \text{erf}(\frac{y_m}{\sqrt{2}})\right) + \frac{y_{m_i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{y_{m_i}^2}{2}\right) \\ &= \exp\left(\frac{r_{x_m}^l (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1}{2\sigma_{x_m}^2 (\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1}\right) dy_{\text{in}_i} \\ \\ &= \frac{r_{x_m}^l (\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1}{2}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\text{in}_i} \exp\left(-\frac{y_{m_i}^2 (\sigma_{x_m}^2 + 1)}{2\sigma_{x_m}^2 (\sigma_{x_m}^2 (1 - (r_{x_m}^l)^2) + 1}\right) dy_{\text{in}_i} \\ \\ &= \frac{r_{x_m}^l (\sigma_{x_m}^2$$

$$I_{3,2} = \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{4\pi\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)+1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y_{\rm in_i} \operatorname{erf}(\frac{y_{\rm in_i}}{\sqrt{2}}) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\rm in_i}^2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2+1)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2(1-(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)+1)}\right) dy_{\rm in_i}$$
  
From 2.6.1.4 of Lipovetsky (2020), 
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{zerf}(az) \exp\left(-a_1 z^2\right) dz = \frac{a}{a_1 \sqrt{a^2 + a_1}}$$

Substituting, 
$$a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, a_1 = \frac{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2) + 1)^3}$$
, we have  

$$I_{3,2} = \frac{r_{x_{in}}^l}{4\pi\sigma_{x_{in}}(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2) + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}}{\frac{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2) + 1)}} \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2) + 1)}}}$$

$$= \frac{r_{x_{in}}^l \sigma_{x_{in}}^2}{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1)\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{in}}^4 + 2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2\sigma_{x_{in}}^4}}$$

$$I_{3,2} = \frac{r_{x_{in}}^l \sigma_{x_{in}}^2}{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1)\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{in}}^l \sigma_{x_{in}}^2)^2}}$$

$$I_{3,3} = \frac{r_{x_{in}}^l}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{in}}(\sigma_{x_{in}}^2(1 - (r_{x_{in}}^l)^2) + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}}.$$

$$\begin{split} & \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1)}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}})^{2})+1)}\right) dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}})^{2})+1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \\ & \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{4}+2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})^{2}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{4}}\right) dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}})^{2})+1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-y_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}^{2}((\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2}\right)} dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}})^{2})+1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2}}} {\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2}}} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}})^{2})+1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2}}} {2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}})^{2})+1)} \right) dy_{\mathrm{in}_{i}}} \\ &= \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}})^{2})^{\frac{3}{2}}}} \\ I_{3,3} &= \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{2\pi((\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{\frac{3}{2}}} \\ I &= I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3} \\ &= I_{1,1} + I_{1,2} + I_{1,3} + I_{2,1} + I_{2,2} + I_{2,3} + I_{3,1} + I_{3,2} + I_{3,3} \\ I &= \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \sin^{-1}\left(\frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1\right)} + \frac{2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{2\pi((\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1)\sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{2}} + \frac{2r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{2\pi((\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}+1)^{2}-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2})^{\frac{3}{2}}} \\ \end{split}$$

$$I = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1} \right) + \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 3)(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1) - 2(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2)}{2\pi (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)((\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}$$

We defined  $Cov(g_{in_{x_i}}, g_{in_{y_i}})$ , as

$$\operatorname{Cov}(g_{\operatorname{in}_{x_i}}, g_{\operatorname{in}_{y_i}}) = Ir_{g_{\operatorname{out}}}^l \sigma_{g_{\operatorname{out}}}^2$$

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Cov}(g_{\operatorname{in}_{x_{i}}},g_{\operatorname{in}_{y_{i}}}) &= \\ & \left[\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\sin^{-1}\left(\frac{r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + 1}\right) + \frac{r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2}((2\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + 3)(\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + 1) - 2(r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2})^{2})}{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + 1)((\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2} + 1)^{2} - (r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^{2})^{2})}\right]r_{g_{\operatorname{out}}}^{l}\sigma_{g_{\operatorname{out}}}^{2}\end{aligned}$$

# C.6 LAYERNORM

For an input  $\mathbf{x}_{in}$  the forward pass of LayerNorm is,

$$\mathbf{x}_{\text{out}} = \text{LayerNorm}(\mathbf{x}_{\text{in}})$$
$$\implies x_{\text{out}_i} = \frac{x_{\text{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\text{in}}}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}}}$$

Where

$$\bar{x}_{\rm in} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\rm in}} x_{{\rm in}_i}}{d_{\rm in}}$$

$$\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}} = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} (x_{\text{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\text{in}})^2}{d_{\text{in}}}}$$

To get expectation of output of LayerNorm,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}] &= \mathbb{E}[\frac{x_{\text{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\text{in}}}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}}}]\\ \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}] &= \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\frac{x_{\text{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\text{in}}}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}}}]\\ &= \mathbb{E}[\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} \frac{x_{\text{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\text{in}}}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}}}]\\ &= \mathbb{E}[\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} (x_{\text{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\text{in}})}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}}}]\\ &= \mathbb{E}[\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} (x_{\text{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\text{in}})}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}}}] \end{split}$$

By symmetry for any i, j and  $i \neq j$  we have  $\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}] = \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_j}] = \mu_{x_{\text{out}}}$ 

$$\implies d_{\rm in}\mu_{x_{\rm out}} = 0$$

$$\mu_{x_{\rm out}} = 0$$

Similarly we calculate variance of output by,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Var}(x_{\operatorname{out}_i}) &= \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_i}^2] - \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_i}]^2 = \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_i}^2] \\ &\mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_i}^2] = \mathbb{E}[\frac{(x_{\operatorname{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\operatorname{in}})^2}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^2}] \\ &\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}}} \mathbb{E}[x_{\operatorname{out}_i}^2] = \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\frac{(x_{\operatorname{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\operatorname{in}})^2}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^2}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}}} \frac{(x_{\operatorname{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\operatorname{in}})^2}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^2}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}}} (x_{\operatorname{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\operatorname{in}})^2}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^2}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}}} (x_{\operatorname{in}_i} - \bar{x}_{\operatorname{in}})^2}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^2}] \end{aligned}$$

By symmetry for any i,j and  $i\neq j$  we have  $\mathbb{E}[x_{\mathrm{out}_i}^2]=\mathbb{E}[x_{\mathrm{out}_j}^2]=\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{out}}}^2$ 

$$\implies d_{\rm in}\sigma_{x_{\rm out}}^2 = d_{\rm in}$$

$$\sigma_{x_{\rm out}}^2 = 1$$

Now we have  $\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}} \xrightarrow{a.s} \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}$  for large  $d_{\text{in}}$ . So for large values of  $d_{\text{in}}$  we can treat  $\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}}$  as a constant which has value  $\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}$ . We use this approximation to get the following results. For two inputs  $\mathbf{x}_{\text{in}}$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{\text{in}}$  such that for all i,  $\operatorname{Corr}(x_{\text{in}_i}, y_{\text{in}_i}) = r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l$ . For all j we have,

$$Corr(x_{\text{out}_j}, y_{\text{out}_j}) = \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_j} y_{\text{out}_j}] - \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_j}]\mathbb{E}[y_{\text{out}_j}]}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(x_{\text{out}_j})\operatorname{Var}(y_{\text{out}_j})}}$$
$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_j} y_{\text{out}_j}] - \mu_{x_{\text{out}}}\mu_{x_{\text{out}}}}{\sqrt{\sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2 \sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2}}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_{j}} y_{\text{out}_{j}}] - 0}{\sqrt{1}} \\ &= \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_{j}} y_{\text{out}_{j}}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_{j}} y_{\text{out}_{j}}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\frac{(x_{\text{in}_{j}} - \bar{x}_{\text{in}})(y_{\text{in}_{j}} - \bar{y}_{\text{in}})}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}} \hat{\sigma}_{y_{\text{in}}}}] \\ &\approx \mathbb{E}[\frac{(x_{\text{in}_{j}} - \bar{x}_{\text{in}})(y_{\text{in}_{j}} - \bar{y}_{\text{in}})}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}} \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}}] \\ &= \frac{\mathbb{E}[(x_{\text{in}_{j}} - \bar{x}_{\text{in}})(y_{\text{in}_{j}} - \bar{y}_{\text{in}})]}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}} \\ &= \frac{\mathbb{E}[(x_{\text{in}_{j}} - \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} x_{\text{in}_{k}}}{d_{\text{in}}})(y_{\text{in}_{j}} - \frac{\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} y_{\text{in}_{l}}}{d_{\text{in}}} + \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} x_{\text{in}_{k}}}{d_{\text{in}}} \sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} y_{\text{in}_{l}}} \\ &= \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{in}_{j}} y_{\text{in}_{j}} - y_{\text{in}_{j}} \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} x_{\text{in}_{k}}}{d_{\text{in}}} - x_{\text{in}_{j}} \frac{\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} y_{\text{in}_{l}}}{d_{\text{in}}} + \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} x_{\text{in}_{k}}}{d_{\text{in}}} \sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} y_{\text{in}_{l}}}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}} \end{split}$$

Elements belonging to different dimensions from  $\mathbf{x}_{in}$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{in}$  are independent of each other and hence for i, j and  $i \neq j$  we have  $\mathbb{E}[x_{in_i}y_{in_j}] = \mu_{x_{in}}^2$ .

$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}[x_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}] - \mathbb{E}[y_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}x_{\mathrm{in}_{k}}}{d_{\mathrm{in}}}] - \mathbb{E}[x_{\mathrm{in}_{j}}\frac{\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}y_{\mathrm{in}_{l}}}{d_{\mathrm{in}}}] + \mathbb{E}[\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}x_{\mathrm{in}_{k}}}{d_{\mathrm{in}}}\frac{\sum_{l=1}^{l}y_{\mathrm{in}_{l}}}{d_{\mathrm{in}}}]}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + \mu_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} - \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + d_{\mathrm{in}}\mu_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{d_{\mathrm{in}}} - \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + d_{\mathrm{in}}\mu_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{d_{\mathrm{in}}^{2}} + \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2} + d_{\mathrm{in}}^{l}\mu_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}}$$

$$= \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1 - \frac{1}{d_{\mathrm{in}}})}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}$$

$$\operatorname{Corr}(x_{\operatorname{out}_j}, y_{\operatorname{out}_j}) = r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^l (1 - \frac{1}{d_{\operatorname{in}}}) \approx r_{x_{\operatorname{in}}}^l = r_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^l$$

From Xu et al. (2019) (Eq. 17), the backward pass through LayerNorm is,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{g}_{\text{in}} &= \frac{\mathbf{g}_{\text{out}}}{\hat{\sigma}_{x_{\text{in}}}} (\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{d}_{\text{in}}} - \frac{\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{d}_{\text{in}}}^{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{d}_{\text{in}}} + \mathbf{x}_{\text{out}}^{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{x}_{\text{out}}}{d_{\text{in}}}) \\ &\approx \frac{\mathbf{g}_{\text{out}}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} (\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{d}_{\text{in}}} - \frac{\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{d}_{\text{in}}}^{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{d}_{\text{in}}} + \mathbf{x}_{\text{out}}^{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{x}_{\text{out}}}{d_{\text{in}}}) \end{split}$$

We have  $\lim_{d_{in}\to\infty} \frac{\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{d}_{in}}^{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{d}_{in}} + \mathbf{x}_{out}^{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{x}_{out}}{d_{in}} = \mathbf{O}_{\mathbf{d}_{in},\mathbf{d}_{in}}$  where  $\mathbf{O}_{\mathbf{d}_{in},\mathbf{d}_{in}}$  is zero matrix with shape  $d_{in} \times d_{in}$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{g}_{\text{in}} &\approx \frac{\mathbf{g}_{\text{out}}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}}(\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{d}_{\text{in}}}) \\ &= \frac{\mathbf{g}_{\text{out}}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \\ &\Rightarrow g_{\text{in}_i} = \frac{g_{\text{out}_i}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}} \end{aligned}$$

 $\Longrightarrow$ 

If  $\mu_{g_{\text{out}}} = 0$ ,

$$egin{split} \mu_{g_{ ext{in}}} &= 0 \ \sigma_{g_{ ext{in}}}^2 &= rac{\sigma_{g_{ ext{out}}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{ ext{in}}}^2} \end{split}$$

#### C.7 SOFTMAX

Assumption: Other than assuming normally distributed inputs, we also assume that L is large L >> 1 to derive softmax variance.

The forward pass of Softmax can be defined as

$$\mathbf{x}_{\text{out}} = \text{Softmax}(\mathbf{x}_{\text{in}})$$
$$x_{\text{out}_i} = \frac{e^{x_{\text{in}_i}}}{\sum_{j=1}^{L} e^{x_{\text{in}_j}}}$$

For calculating mean we can easily see that,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{L} x_{\text{out}_i} = 1$$

Taking expectation both sides, we get

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{L} x_{\text{out}_i}\right] = 1$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}] = 1$$

By symmetry we can assume that for any  $i, j, i \neq j$ , we have  $\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}] = \mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}]$ 

$$L\mathbb{E}[x_{\text{out}_i}] = 1$$
$$\mu_{x_{\text{out}}} = \frac{1}{L}$$

Let us define  $z = \sum_{j} e^{y_j}$  where  $y_j = x_j - x_i$  is normally distributed  $\mathcal{N}(0, \sigma_j)$ . Hence, each  $e^{y_j}$  is log-normally distributed, and z is a sum of correlated log-normals. Following (Lo, 2013), this sum of log-normals can be approximated as another log-normal random variable,  $Log\mathcal{N}(\mu_z, \sigma_z)$ , where  $\mu_z$  and  $\sigma_z$  are as follows -

$$\begin{split} S_{+} &= E[\sum_{j} y_{j}] = \sum_{j} e^{\frac{\sigma_{j}^{2}}{2}} \\ \sigma_{z}^{2} &= \frac{1}{S_{+}^{2}} \sum_{j,k} corr_{j,k} \sigma_{j} \sigma_{k} e^{\frac{1}{2}(\sigma_{j}^{2} + \sigma_{k}^{2})} \\ \mu_{z} &= ln(S_{+}) - \frac{\sigma_{z}^{2}}{2} \end{split}$$

Since the difference of two normals  $x_j$  and  $x_i$  is also normal, from the M.G.F. of normal distribution, we have  $\sigma_j^2 = 2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1 - r_{x_{\text{in}}})$  if  $j \neq i$ , and  $\sigma_j^2 = 0$  if j = i.

Also,  $corr_{j,k} = 0$  if j = i or k = i, else  $corr_{j,k} = \frac{1}{2}$ .

We can substitute these values in the above equations, to get

$$S_{+} = (L-1)e^{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}(1-r_{x_{\text{in}}})} + 1$$
  
$$\sigma_{z}^{2} = \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}(1-r_{x_{\text{in}}})\frac{L}{L-1}$$

$$\mu_z = \ln(S_+) - \frac{\sigma_z^2}{2}$$

Since z is log-normal,  $x_{out} = \frac{1}{z}$  is also log-normal with  $Log\mathcal{N}(-\mu_z, \sigma_z)$ . The variance of log-normal distribution can be obtained from standard formulae for log-normal distribution as  $(e^{\sigma_z^2} - 1)e^{\sigma_z^2 - 2\mu_z}$ .

Substituting the values of  $\mu_z$  and  $\sigma_z$  from above, we get

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2 &= \frac{(e^{\sigma_z^2}-1)e^{2*\sigma_z^2}}{S_+^2} \\ &= \frac{(e^{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-r_{x_{\text{in}}})\frac{L}{L-1}}-1)e^{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-r_{x_{\text{in}}})\frac{L}{L-1}}}{((L-1)e^{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-r_{x_{\text{in}}})}+1)^2} \end{split}$$

For large L, we can ignore the 1 in the denominator -

$$\sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2 = \frac{(e^{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-r_{x_{\text{in}}})\frac{L}{L-1}} - 1)}{(L-1)^2}$$

If L>>1 and  $\sigma^2_{x_{\rm in}}$  is small, we get the more simplified formula as -

$$\sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2 \approx \frac{(e^{(1-r_{x_{\text{in}}}^d)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2} - 1)}{L^2}$$
 (Assuming  $L >> 1$ )

Using the mean and variances, we can calculate the scale of softmax output as follows-

$$\begin{split} E[x_{\text{out}}^2] &= \sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2 + \mu_{x_{\text{out}}}^2 \\ &= \frac{(e^{(1 - r_{x_{\text{in}}}^d)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2)}}{L^2} \end{split}$$

The Jacobian of Softmax can be calculated as ((Kim et al., 2021)):

$$J_{i,j} = \begin{cases} x_{\text{out}_i}(1 - x_{\text{out}_i}) & \text{if } i = j \\ -x_{\text{out}_i} x_{\text{out}_j} & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

For large values of L this approximately becomes

# C.8 SCALED DOT-PRODUCT ATTENTION

**Assumption**: We assume the numerator and denominator of the scaled dot product attention to be independent. These approximations hold true if the denominator has a low variance. The resulting formulae are fairly accurate, as shown in the numerical verification section.

The forward pass of Scaled Dot-Product Attention is

$$\mathbf{X}_{\text{out}} = \text{Dropout}(\text{SoftMax}(\frac{\mathbf{QK^T}}{\sqrt{d_k}}))\mathbf{V}$$

Where,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{Q} &= \mathbf{X}_{\text{in}} \mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{Q}} \\ \mathbf{K} &= \mathbf{X}_{\text{in}} \mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{K}} \\ \mathbf{V} &= \mathbf{X}_{\text{in}} \mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{V}} \\ \mathbf{X}_{\text{out}} &= \text{Dropout}(\text{SoftMax}(\frac{\mathbf{X}_{\text{in}} \mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{Q}} \mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{K}}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{X}_{\text{in}}^{\mathrm{T}}}{\sqrt{d_{k}}})) \mathbf{X}_{\text{in}} \mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{V}} \end{split}$$

Let,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{O} &= \operatorname{Dropout}(\operatorname{SoftMax}(\frac{\mathbf{X}_{\operatorname{in}}\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{Q}}\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{K}}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{X}_{\operatorname{in}}^{\mathrm{T}}}{\sqrt{d_{k}}}))\mathbf{X}_{\operatorname{in}} \\ \mathbf{W} &= \frac{\mathbf{X}_{\operatorname{in}}\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{Q}}\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{K}}^{\mathrm{T}}}{\sqrt{d_{k}}} \\ \mathbf{O} &= \operatorname{Dropout}(\operatorname{SoftMax}(\mathbf{W}\mathbf{X}_{\operatorname{in}}^{\mathrm{T}}))\mathbf{X}_{\operatorname{in}} \end{split}$$

Using results from Linear Layer we have  $\sigma_w^2 = d_{
m in}\sigma_{x_{
m in}}^2\sigma_q^2\sigma_k^2 = d_{
m in}\sigma_{x_{
m in}}^2\sigma_{qk}^2$ 

$$\begin{split} O_{i,j} &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \operatorname{Dropout}(\operatorname{SoftMax}(\mathbf{WX}_{\mathrm{in}}^{\mathbf{T}}))_{i,k} X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}} \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \operatorname{Dropout}(\frac{\exp\left((\mathbf{WX}_{\mathrm{in}}^{\mathbf{T}})_{i,k}\right)}{\sum_{m=1}^{L} \exp\left((\mathbf{WX}_{\mathrm{in}}^{\mathbf{T}})_{i,m}\right)} X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}} \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \frac{\operatorname{Dropout}(\exp\left((\mathbf{WX}_{\mathrm{in}}^{\mathbf{T}})_{i,k}\right))}{\sum_{m=1}^{L} \exp\left((\mathbf{WX}_{\mathrm{in}}^{\mathbf{T}})_{i,m}\right)} X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}} \\ &= \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{L} \operatorname{Dropout}(\exp\left((\mathbf{WX}_{\mathrm{in}}^{\mathbf{T}})_{i,m}\right))}{\sum_{m=1}^{L} \exp\left((\mathbf{WX}_{\mathrm{in}}^{\mathbf{T}})_{i,m}\right)} \\ &= \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{L} \operatorname{Dropout}(\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,l} X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}}\right)) X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}}{\sum_{m=1}^{L} \exp\left((\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,n} X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}}\right)} \\ &= \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{L} \operatorname{Dropout}(\exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,n} X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}}\right)) X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}}{\sum_{m=1}^{L} \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{L} W_{i,n} X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}}\right)} \\ &= \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{L} \operatorname{Dropout}(\exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,n} X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}}\right))}{\sum_{m=1}^{L} \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{L} W_{i,n} X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}}\right)} \end{split}$$

Let,

$$\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j}) = \sum_{k=1}^{L} \operatorname{Dropout}(\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}} W_{i,l} X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}}\right) X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})$$
$$\operatorname{Den}(O_{i,j}) = \sum_{m=1}^{L} \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{d_{in}} W_{i,n} X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}}\right)$$

To get the expectation and variance of  $O_{i,j}$  we make the following assumptions, that we found to be reasonably accurate for large sequence lengths. This approximation is reasonable as long as the mean of the denominator elements are much larger than their variance, and the correlation is small between numerator and denominator, which is true for Large sequence lengths L:

$$\mathbb{E}[O_{i,j}] \approx \frac{\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j})]}{\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Den}(O_{i,j})]}$$
$$\mathbb{E}[O_{i,j}^2] \approx \frac{\mathbb{E}[(\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j}))^2]}{\mathbb{E}[(\operatorname{Den}(O_{i,j}))^2]}$$

Then to get expectation we have,

$$\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j})] = \mathbb{E}[\sum_{k=1}^{L} \operatorname{Dropout}(\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}} W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}}\right)X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})]$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Dropout}(\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}} W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}}\right)X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})]$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}} W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}}\right)X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}]$$

(Dropout doesn't change expectation)

$$\mathbb{E}[\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{i,l} X_{\text{in}_{k,l}}\right) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}] = \mathbb{E}[(\exp\left(W_{i,j} X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}\right) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}) \prod_{l=1, l \neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \exp\left(W_{i,l} X_{\text{in}_{k,l}}\right)]$$

As weights are initialized independently,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[\exp{(W_{i,j}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}}] &= 0 \qquad \text{(Integral of an Odd function from } -\infty \text{ to } \infty) \\ \mathbb{E}[\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}}] &= 0 \\ \mathbb{E}[\mathrm{Num}(O_{i,j})] &= 0 \\ \mathbb{E}[O_{i,j}] &= 0 = \mu_{x_{\mathrm{out}}} \end{split}$$

$$\mathbb{E}[O_{i,j}] = 0 = \mu_x$$

Similarly for variance (Drop signifies Dropout),

$$\mathbb{E}[(\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j}))^2] = \mathbb{E}[(\sum_{k=1}^{L} \operatorname{Drop}(\exp(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\operatorname{in}}} W_{i,l} X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}}) X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}))^2]$$

$$\begin{split} &= \mathbb{E}[\sum_{k=1}^{L} (\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}}))^{2}] + \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} (\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}}))(\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{m,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{m,j}}}))] \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[(\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}}))^{2}] + \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} \mathbb{E}[(\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}}))(\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{m,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{m,j}}}))] \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} (1-p)\mathbb{E}[\frac{(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})^{2}}{(1-p)^{2}}] + \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} (1-p)^{2}\mathbb{E}[\frac{(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})^{2}}{(1-p)^{2}}] + \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} \mathbb{E}[(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})^{2}] + \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} \mathbb{E}[(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})^{2}] + \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} \mathbb{E}}[\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})^{2}] + \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} \mathbb{E}}[\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})] \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \frac{1}{(1-p)}\mathbb{E}[\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})] + \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} \mathbb{E}}[\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}] + \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} \mathbb{E}}[\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}] + \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} \mathbb{E}}[\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}(X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}] \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} \mathbb{E}}[\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}(X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}] \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1,m\neq k}^{L} \mathbb{E}}[\mathbb{E}}[\mathbb{E}] \left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{i,l}(X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}\right] \\ &\sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1}^{L} \sum_{m=1}^{L} \mathbb{E}}[\mathbb{E}} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{m}} W_{l,l}(X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}}}X_{\operatorname{in}_$$

$$\mathbb{E}[\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}} 2W_{i,l} X_{in_{k,l}}\right) X_{in_{k,j}}^2] = \mathbb{E}[(\exp\left(2W_{i,j} X_{in_{k,j}}\right) X_{in_{k,j}}^2) \prod_{l=1, l \neq j}^{d_{in}} \exp\left(2W_{i,l} X_{in_{k,l}}\right)]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(2W_{i,j} X_{in_{k,j}}\right) X_{in_{k,j}}^2] \prod_{l=1, l \neq j}^{d_{in}} \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(2W_{i,l} X_{in_{k,l}}\right)]$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(2W_{i,j}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}\right)X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^{2}] &= \\ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) dX_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(2W_{i,j}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{w}} \exp\left(\frac{-W_{i,j}^{2}}{2\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right) dW_{i,j} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) \exp\left(2X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^{2}\sigma_{w}^{2}\right) dX_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}} \quad \text{(Using MGF of Normal Distribution)} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^{2}\left(1-4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\sigma_{w}^{2}\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) dX_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^{2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}{\sqrt{\left(1-4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\sigma_{w}^{2}\right)}}} \sqrt{\left(1-4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\sigma_{w}^{2}\right)} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^{2}\left(1-4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\sigma_{w}^{2}\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}\right) dX_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2}{\sqrt{2\pi} \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}} \sigma_{w}^2}}}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2 \left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) dX_{\rm in_{k,j}} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)^2}}}{\frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)^2}} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)^2} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)^2}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) dX_{\rm in_{k,j}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(2W_{i,j}X_{\rm in_{k,j}}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{w}} \exp\left(\frac{-W_{i,j}^2}{2\sigma_{w}^2}\right) dW_{i,j} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) \exp\left(2X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right) dX_{\rm in_{k,j}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2 \left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) dX_{\rm in_{k,j}} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2 \left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) dX_{\rm in_{k,j}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2 \left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) dX_{\rm in_{k,j}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2 \left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) dX_{\rm in_{k,j}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2 \left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) dX_{\rm in_{k,j}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}}} \exp\left(\frac{-X_{\rm in_{k,j}}^2 \left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) dX_{\rm in_{k,j}}} \\ \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 \sigma_{w}^2\right)}}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2} \sigma_{w}^2\right)} dX_{\rm in_{k,j}}} \\ \\ &= \frac{1}{$$

$$\begin{split} \exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{i,l}(X_{\text{in}_{k,l}} + X_{\text{in}_{m,l}}))X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}X_{\text{in}_{m,j}}} = & (\exp{(W_{i,j}(X_{\text{in}_{k,j}} + X_{\text{in}_{m,j}}))X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}X_{\text{in}_{m,j}})} \\ & \prod_{l=1,l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \exp{(W_{i,l}(X_{\text{in}_{k,l}} + X_{\text{in}_{m,l}}))} \\ & \mathbb{E}[\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{i,l}(X_{\text{in}_{k,l}} + X_{\text{in}_{m,l}}))X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}X_{\text{in}_{m,j}}]} = & \mathbb{E}[\exp{(W_{i,j}(X_{\text{in}_{k,j}} + X_{\text{in}_{m,j}}))X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}X_{\text{in}_{m,j}}]} \\ & \prod_{l=1,l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp{(W_{i,l}(X_{\text{in}_{k,l}} + X_{\text{in}_{m,l}}))]} \end{split}$$

Let  $W_{i,j} = w$ ,  $X_{in_{k,j}} = x_k$ ,  $X_{in_{m,j}} = x_m$ , and  $r_{x_{in}}^l = r$ . Then,

Using these results we have,

$$\mathbb{E}[(\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j}))^2] = L \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}{(1-p)(1-4\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\text{in}}}{2}+1}} + L(L-1) \frac{(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l + (1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}{(1-2(1+r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\text{in}}}{2}+1}}$$

For denominator,

$$\mathbb{E}[(\mathrm{Den}(O_{i,j}))^2] = \mathbb{E}[(\sum_{m=1}^{L} \exp(\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,n} X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}}))^2]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}[\sum_{m=1}^{L} \exp(2\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,n} X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}}) + \sum_{m_1=1}^{L} \sum_{m_2=1,m_2 \neq m_1}^{L} \exp(\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,n} (X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_1,n}} + X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_2,n}}))]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}[\sum_{m=1}^{L} \exp(2\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,n} X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}})] + \mathbb{E}[\sum_{m_1=1}^{L} \sum_{m_2=1,m_2 \neq m_1}^{L} \exp(\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,n} (X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_1,n}} + X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_2,n}}))]$$

$$= \sum_{m=1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[\exp(2\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,n} X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}})] + \sum_{m_1=1}^{L} \sum_{m_2=1,m_2 \neq m_1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[\exp(\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}} W_{i,n} (X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_1,n}} + X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_2,n}}))]$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(2\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}W_{i,n}X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}}\right)] &= \mathbb{E}[\prod_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}\exp\left(2W_{i,n}X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}}\right)] \\ &= \prod_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}\mathbb{E}[\exp\left(2W_{i,n}X_{\mathrm{in}_{m,n}}\right)] \\ &= \prod_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}\frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\sigma_{w}^{2}\right)^{2}}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\left(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\sigma_{w}^{2}\right)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}} \\ \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}W_{i,n}(X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_{1,n}}} + X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_{2,n}}})\right)] &= \mathbb{E}[\prod_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}\exp\left(W_{i,n}(X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_{1,n}}} + X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_{2,n}}})\right)] \\ &= \prod_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}\mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,n}(X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_{1,n}}} + X_{\mathrm{in}_{m_{2,n}}})\right)] \\ &= \prod_{n=1}^{d_{\mathrm{in}}}\frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - 2\left(1 + r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\sigma_{w}^{2}\right)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}} \end{split}$$

So we have,

$$\mathbb{E}[(\mathrm{Den}(O_{i,j}))^2] = \frac{L}{(1 - 4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}} + \frac{L(L-1)}{(1 - 2(1 + r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2 \sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}$$

From our assumption,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[O_{i,j}^2] &\approx \frac{\mathbb{E}[(\mathrm{Num}(O_{i,j}))^2]}{\mathbb{E}[(\mathrm{Den}(O_{i,j}))^2]} \\ &= \frac{L\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{(1-p)(1-4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}+1}} + L(L-1)\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l+(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{(1-2(1+r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}+1}}}{\frac{L}{(1-4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}} + \frac{L(L-1)}{(1-2(1+r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}}{\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2c_1^{-\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}{(1-p)(1-4\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)} + (L-1)\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l+(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}}{(1-2(1+r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)}} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2c_1^{-\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}} + (L-1)\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l+(1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}}}{c_1^{-\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}} \end{split}$$

Where  $c_1 = rac{1 - 4 d_{
m in} \sigma_{x_{
m in}}^4 \sigma_{qk}^2}{(1 - 2(1 + r_{x_{
m in}}^l) d_{
m in} \sigma_{x_{
m in}}^4 \sigma_{qk}^2)}$ 

$$\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{Var}(O_{i,j}) = \\ & \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{c_1^{\frac{-d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}} + (L-1)} \left( \frac{c_1^{\frac{-d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}{(1-p)(1-4d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^4\sigma_{qk}^2)} + (L-1) \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l + (1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^4\sigma_{qk}^2)}{(1-2(1+r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^4\sigma_{qk}^2)} \right) \end{aligned}$$

Now for covariance we have,

$$O_{i,j}O_{m,j} = \frac{\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Num}(O_{m,j})}{\operatorname{Den}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Den}(O_{m,j})}$$

We again make the approximation that,

$$\mathbb{E}[O_{i,j}O_{m,j}] \approx \frac{\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Num}(O_{m,j})]}{\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Den}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Den}(O_{m,j})]}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Num}(O_{m,j}) &= \\ & (\sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k_{1},l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k_{1},j}}))(\sum_{k_{2}=1}^{L}\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k_{2},l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k_{2},j}}))} \\ \operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Num}(O_{m,j}) &= \\ & \sum_{k=1}^{L}\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})}\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,j}})} + \\ & \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\sum_{k_{2}=1,k_{2}\neq k_{1}}^{L}\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k_{1},l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k_{1},l}})}\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\operatorname{in}_{k_{2},l}})X_{\operatorname{in}_{k_{2},l}})} \end{aligned}$$

Thus we have,

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Num}(O_{m,j})] = \\ & \mathbb{E}[\sum_{k=1}^{L}\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})} + \\ & \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\sum_{k_{2}=1,k_{2}\neq k_{1}}^{L}\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,2,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,2,j}})}] \\ & = \mathbb{E}[\sum_{k=1}^{L}\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})}] \\ & + \mathbb{E}[\sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\sum_{k_{2}=1,k_{2}\neq k_{1}}^{L}\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,2,j}})}] \\ & = \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})}] + \\ & \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\sum_{k_{2}=1,k_{2}\neq k_{1}}^{L}\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}})}] + \\ & \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\sum_{k_{2}=1,k_{2}\neq k_{1}}^{L}\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})})\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})}] + \\ & \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\sum_{k_{2}=1,k_{2}\neq k_{1}}^{L}\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})})\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})}] + \\ & \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\sum_{k_{2}=1,k_{2}\neq k_{1}}^{L}\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})})\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})})] \\ & \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\sum_{k_{2}=1,k_{2}\neq k_{1}}^{L}\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})})\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})})] \\ & \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\sum_{k_{2}=1,k_{2}\neq k_{1}}^{L}\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Drop}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{in}}W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})] \\ & \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{L}\sum_{k_{2}=1,k_{2}\neq k_{1}}^{L}\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Drop}(\exp$$

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}[\text{Dropout}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{i,l} X_{\text{in}_{k,l}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}}) \text{Dropout}(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{m,l} X_{\text{in}_{k,l}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}})] \\ &= (1-p)^2 \mathbb{E}[\frac{(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{i,l} X_{\text{in}_{k,l}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}})}{(1-p)} \frac{(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{m,l} X_{\text{in}_{k,l}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}})}}{(1-p)}] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{i,l} X_{\text{in}_{k,l}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}})(\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{m,l} X_{\text{in}_{k,l}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}})] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp{(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} (W_{i,l} + W_{m,l}) X_{\text{in}_{k,l}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}^2]} \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,j} + W_{m,j}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}^2] \prod_{l=1, l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \exp{((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l}) X_{\text{in}_{k,l}})]} \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,j} + W_{m,j}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}^2] \prod_{l=1, l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l}) X_{\text{in}_{k,l}})]} \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,j} + W_{m,j}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}^2] \prod_{l=1, l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l}) X_{\text{in}_{k,l}})]} \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,j} + W_{m,j}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}^2] \prod_{l=1, l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l}) X_{\text{in}_{k,l}})]} ] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,j} + W_{m,j}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}^2] \prod_{l=1, l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l}) X_{\text{in}_{k,l}})]} ] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,j} + W_{m,j}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}^2] \prod_{l=1, l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l}) X_{\text{in}_{k,l}})]} ] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,j} + W_{m,j}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}}^2] \prod_{l=1, l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l}) X_{\text{in}_{k,l}})]} ] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,j} + W_{m,j}) X_{\text{in}_{k,j}})} ] \prod_{l=1, l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp{((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l}) X_{\text{in}_{k,l}})}] ]$$

 $\mathbb{E}[\exp\left((W_{i,j}+W_{m,j})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}\right)X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,j}}^2] =$ 

Where  $W_{i,j} = w_1, W_{m,j} = w_2, X_{\text{in}_{k,j}} = x$ 

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x^2}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{x^2\sigma_w^2}{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{x^2\sigma_w^2}{2}\right) dx \qquad \text{(By MGF of Normal Distribution)} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x^2}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x^2(1-2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2\sigma_w^2)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}\right) dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1-2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2\sigma_w^2)}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x^2}{\sqrt{2\pi}\frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}}{\sqrt{(1-2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2\sigma_w^2)}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x^2(1-2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2\sigma_w^2)}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}\right) dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1-2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2\sigma_w^2)}} \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}{(1-2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2\sigma_w^2)} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}{(1-2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp\left((W_{i,l}+W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}}\right)] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x^2}{2\sigma_{x_{in}}^2}\right) dx \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(w_1x\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_w} \exp\left(\frac{-w_1^2}{2\sigma_w^2}\right) dw_1 \\ &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(w_2x\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_w} \exp\left(\frac{-w_2^2}{2\sigma_w^2}\right) dw_2 \end{split}$$

Where  $W_{i,l} = w_1, W_{m,l} = w_2, X_{\operatorname{in}_{k,l}} = x$ 

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x^2}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{x^2\sigma_w^2}{2}\right) \exp\left(\frac{x^2\sigma_w^2}{2}\right) dx \qquad \text{(By MGF of Normal Distribution)} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x^2(1-2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2\sigma_w^2)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1-2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2\sigma_w^2)}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}}{\sqrt{(1-2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2\sigma_w^2)}}} \exp\left(\frac{-x^2(1-2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2\sigma_w^2)}{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}\right) dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1-2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2\sigma_w^2)}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[\text{Dropout}(\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{i,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},l}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}})\text{Dropout}(\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{m,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}})] \\ &= (1-p)^{2}\mathbb{E}[\frac{(\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{i,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},l}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}})}{(1-p)}\frac{(\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{m,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}})] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[(\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{i,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},l}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}})(\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} W_{m,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}})] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(\sum_{l=1}^{d_{\text{in}}} (W_{i,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}))X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}} + W_{m,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}\prod_{l=1,l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \exp\left(W_{i,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right)] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}} + W_{m,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}\prod_{l=1,l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \exp\left(W_{i,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right)] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}} + W_{m,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}]\prod_{l=1,l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right)] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}} + W_{m,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}]\prod_{l=1,l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right)] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}} + W_{m,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}]\prod_{l=1,l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right)] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}} + W_{m,j}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}\right)X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},j}}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},j}}]\prod_{l=1,l\neq j}^{d_{\text{in}}} \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{1},l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\text{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right)]$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,j}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_{1},j}}+W_{m,j}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_{2},j}}\right)X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_{1},j}}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_{2},j}}] = \\ \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{1}x_{2}}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\sqrt{(1-r^{2})}} \exp\left(\frac{x_{1}^{2}+x_{2}^{2}-2rx_{1}x_{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-r^{2})}\right)dx_{1}dx_{2}. \\ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(w_{1}x_{1}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{w}} \exp\left(\frac{-w_{1}^{2}}{2\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)dw_{1}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(w_{2}x_{2}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{w}} \exp\left(\frac{-w_{2}^{2}}{2\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right)dw_{2}$$

Where  $W_{i,j} = w_1, W_{m,j} = w_2, X_{in_{k_1,j}} = x_1, X_{in_{k_2,j}} = x_2, r_{x_{in}}^l = r$ 

$$\begin{split} \text{Let } r' &= \frac{r}{1-c}, \text{ and } \sigma'^2(1-r'^2) = \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-r^2)}{1-c} \\ &= \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{1x_{2}}}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\sqrt{1-r^2}} \exp{(\frac{-(x_{1}^2+x_{2}^2-2r'x_{1}x_{2})}{2\sigma'^2(1-r'^2)})} dx_{1} dx_{2} \\ &= \frac{\sigma'^2\sqrt{1-r^2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\sqrt{1-r^2}} \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{x_{1x_{2}}}{2\sigma'^2\sqrt{1-r'^2}} \exp{(\frac{-(x_{1}^2+x_{2}^2-2r'x_{1}x_{2})}{2\sigma'^2(1-r'^2)})} dx_{1} dx_{2} \\ &= \frac{\sigma'^2\sqrt{1-r^2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\sqrt{1-r^2}} r'\sigma'^2 \\ &= \frac{r'\sigma'^4\sqrt{1-r^2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-r^2)^2\sqrt{1-r'^2}} \\ &= \frac{r'\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^4(1-r^2)^2\sqrt{1-r'^2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-r'^2)\sqrt{1-r'^2}} \\ &= \frac{r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(1-r^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}{(1-c)^3(1-r'^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \\ &= r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\left(\frac{(1-r^2)}{(1-c)^2(1-r'^2)}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ &= r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\left(\frac{(1-r^2)}{(1-c)^2(1-r'^2)}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ &= r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\left(\frac{(1-r^2)}{(1-c)^2-r^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ &= r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\left(\frac{(1-r'^2)}{(1+r-c)(1-r-c)}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ &= r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\left(\frac{(1-r'^2)}{(1-r'^2)-r^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ &= r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\left(\frac{(1-r'^2)}{(1-r'^2)-r^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ &= r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\left(\frac{1-r'^2}{(1-r'^2)-r^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ &= r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\left(\frac{(1-r'^2)}{(1-r'^2)-r^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ &= r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\left(\frac{1-r'^2}{(1-r'^2)-r^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ &= \frac{r\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[\exp\left(W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_{1},l}}+W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_{2},l}}\right)] &= \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(\frac{x_{1}^{2}+x_{2}^{2}-2rx_{1}x_{2}}{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}(1-r^{2})}\right)}{2\pi\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}\sqrt{(1-r^{2})}} dx_{1}dx_{2}.\\ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(w_{1}x_{1}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{w}} \exp\left(\frac{-w_{1}^{2}}{2\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right) dw_{1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp\left(w_{2}x_{2}\right)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{w}} \exp\left(\frac{-w_{2}^{2}}{2\sigma_{w}^{2}}\right) dw_{2} \end{split}$$

Where  $W_{i,l} = w_1, W_{m,l} = w_2, X_{in_{k_1,l}} = x_1, X_{in_{k_2,l}} = x_2, r_{x_{in}}^l = r$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \text{Let } r' &= \frac{r}{1-c}, \text{ and } \sigma t^2 (1-rt^2) = \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1-r^2)}{1-c} \\ &= \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \sqrt{1-r^2}} \exp\left(\frac{-(x_1^2 + x_2^2 - 2rtx_1 x_2)}{2\sigma t^2 (1-rt^2)}\right) dx_1 dx_2 \\ &= \frac{\sigma t^2 \sqrt{1-rt^2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \sqrt{1-r^2}} \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2\sigma t^2 \sqrt{1-rt^2}} \exp\left(\frac{-(x_1^2 + x_2^2 - 2rtx_1 x_2)}{2\sigma t^2 (1-rt^2)}\right) dx_1 dx_2 \\ &= \frac{\sigma t^2 \sqrt{1-rt^2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \sqrt{1-r^2}} \\ &= \frac{\sigma t^2 \sqrt{1-rt^2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1-c)(1-rt^2)\sqrt{1-rt^2}} \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1-c)(1-rt^2)\sqrt{1-r^2}}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 (1-c)(1-rt^2)\sqrt{1-r^2}} \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{\sqrt{1-r^2}}{(1-c)^2 (1-rt^2)}} \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{\sqrt{1-r^2}}{(1-c)^2 (1-rt^2)}} \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{\sqrt{1-r^2}}{(1-c)^2 (1-(\frac{r}{1-c})^2)}} \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{\sqrt{1-r^2}}{(1-c)^2 (1-(\frac{r}{1-c})^2)}} \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{\sqrt{1-r^2}}{(1+r)(1-r)}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1-(\frac{r}{1+r})(1-\frac{c}{1-r})}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1-(\frac{r}{1+r})(1-\frac{c}{1-r})}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1-(1-r)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2)(1-(1+rt^2)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2)}} \quad (c = (1-r^2)\sigma_w^2 \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1-(1-r)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \sigma_w^2)(1-(1+rt^2)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \sigma_w^2)}} \\ \end{aligned}$$

So we have,

$$\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Num}(O_{m,j})] = \\ L \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}{(1 - 2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\text{in}}}{2} + 1}} + L(L - 1) \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}{[(1 - (1 - r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \sigma_w^2)(1 - (1 + r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \sigma_w^2)]^{\frac{d_{\text{in}}}{2} + 1}}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{Den}(O_{i,j})\mathrm{Den}(O_{m,j}) &= (\sum_{k_1=1}^{L} \exp\big(\sum_{l=1}^{d_m} W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_1,l}}\big)\big)(\sum_{k_2=1}^{L} \exp\big(\sum_{l=1}^{d_m} W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_2,l}}\big)\big) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \exp\big(\sum_{l=1}^{d_m} (W_{i,l} + W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}}\big) \\ &+ \sum_{k_1=1}^{L} \sum_{k_2=1,k_2 \neq k_1}^{d_m} \exp\big(\sum_{l=1}^{d_m} (W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_1,l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_2,l}})\big) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \exp\big((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}}\big) \\ &+ \sum_{k_1=1}^{L} \sum_{k_2=1,k_2 \neq k_1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \exp\big((W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_1,l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_2,l}})\big) \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\mathrm{Den}(O_{i,j})\mathrm{Den}(O_{m,j})] = \mathbb{E}[\sum_{k=1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \exp\big((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}}) \\ &+ \sum_{k_1=1}^{L} \sum_{k_2=1,k_2 \neq k_1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \exp\big((W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_1,l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_2,l}}))] \\ &= \mathbb{E}[\sum_{k=1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \exp\big((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})] \\ &+ \mathbb{E}[\sum_{k_1=1}^{L} \sum_{k_2=1,k_2 \neq k_1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \exp\big((W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_1,l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_2,l}}))]] \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[\prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \exp\big((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})] \\ &+ \sum_{k_1=1}^{L} \sum_{k_2=1,k_2 \neq k_1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[\prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \exp\big((W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_1,l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_2,l}}))]] \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[\prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \mathbb{E}\exp\big((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})] \\ &+ \sum_{k_1=1}^{L} \sum_{k_2=1,k_2 \neq k_1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[\prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \exp\big((W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_1,l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_2,l}}))] \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \mathbb{E}[\exp\big((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})] \\ &+ \sum_{k_1=1}^{L} \sum_{k_2=1,k_2 \neq k_1}^{L} \mathbb{E}[\prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \exp\big((W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_1,l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_2,l}}))] \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \mathbb{E}[\exp\big((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})] \\ &+ \sum_{k_1=1}^{L} \sum_{k_2=1,k_2 \neq k_1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \mathbb{E}[\exp\big((W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_1,l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_2,l}}))] \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \mathbb{E}[\exp\big((W_{i,l} + W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})] \\ &+ \sum_{k_1=1}^{L} \sum_{k_2=1,k_2 \neq k_1}^{L} \prod_{l=1}^{d_m} \mathbb{E}[\exp\big((W_{i,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_1,l}} + W_{m,l}X_{\mathrm{in}_{k_2,l}}))] \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L} \sum_{l=1}^{d_m} \mathbb{E}[\exp\big((W_{k,l} + W_{m,l})X_{\mathrm{in}_{k,l}})] \\ &+ \sum_{k_1=1}^{L$$

Again using earlier results we get,

$$\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Den}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Den}(O_{m,j})] = L\frac{1}{(1 - 2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}} + L(L-1)\frac{1}{[(1 - (1 - r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)(1 - (1 + r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)]^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}$$

So we get the covariance as,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}[O_{i,j}O_{m,j}] &\approx \frac{\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Num}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Num}(O_{m,j})]}{\mathbb{E}[\operatorname{Den}(O_{i,j})\operatorname{Den}(O_{m,j})]} \\ &= \frac{L\frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{(1-2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}+1}} + L(L-1)\frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{[(1-(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)(1-(1+r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)]^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}+1}}}{L\frac{1}{(1-2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}} + L(L-1)\frac{1}{[(1-(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)(1-(1+r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2\sigma_w^2)]^{\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}} \end{split}$$

$$= \frac{\frac{\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}c_{2}^{\frac{-d_{in}}{2}} + (L-1)\frac{r_{x_{in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}}{(1-(1-r_{x_{in}}^{l})\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}\sigma_{w}^{2})(1-(1+r_{x_{in}}^{l})\sigma_{x_{in}}^{2}\sigma_{w}^{2})}}{c_{2}^{\frac{-d_{in}}{2}} + (L-1)}$$
Where  $c_{2} = \frac{1-2d_{in}\sigma_{x_{in}}^{4}\sigma_{qk}^{2}}{(1-(1-r_{x_{in}}^{l})d_{in}\sigma_{x_{in}}^{4}\sigma_{qk}^{2})(1-(1+r_{x_{in}}^{l})d_{in}\sigma_{x_{in}}^{4}\sigma_{qk}^{2})}$ 

$$\boxed{ \begin{array}{c} \mathrm{Cov}_{O}^{l} = \\ \\ \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{2}}{c_{2}^{\frac{-d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}} + (L-1)} \left( \frac{c_{2}^{\frac{-d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}{(1-2d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{4}\sigma_{qk}^{2})} + \frac{(L-1)r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}}{(1-(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{4}\sigma_{qk}^{2})(1-(1+r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{4}\sigma_{qk}^{2})} \right) }$$

Now it's easy to see both these constants are always less than 1.

If they are significantly smaller than 1 (which happens if  $\sigma_{qk}$  is of considerable value) and  $d_{in}$  is also sufficiently large, the approximations for variance and covariance become,

$$\operatorname{Var}(O_{i,j}) \approx \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{(1-p)(1-4d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^4\sigma_{q_k}^2)} \qquad (c_1^{-\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}} \gg L)$$
$$\operatorname{Cov}_O^l \approx \frac{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{(1-2d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^4\sigma_{q_k}^2)} \qquad (c_2^{-\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}} \gg L)$$

The above situation corresponds to scenarios where one of the input to Softmax is extremely large compared to the others, hence resulting in degenerate attention only attending to one token. This can also be observed experimentally by setting  $\sigma_{qk}$  considerably large, such as by initializing them to a few times larger than the standard Xavier initialization.

To avoid this degenerate attention, we choose smaller values of  $\sigma_q$ ,  $\sigma_k$ , resulting in values of  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  almost equal to 1. In that scenario, the approximate value for variance and covariance are,

To get the final variance and covariance we can use results of Linear layer to account for  $\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{V}}$ . If we initialize  $\sigma_q$  and  $\sigma_k$  to be small, in initial phase of training the output of Softmax layer can be treated as being a constant  $= \frac{\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{L}}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{L}}}{\mathbf{L}}$ . Using this assumption we have,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{X}_{\text{out}} &\approx \text{Dropout}(\frac{\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{L}}}{\mathbf{L}})\mathbf{X}_{\text{in}}\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{V}} \\ \implies \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{X}_{\text{in}}} &\approx \text{Dropout}(\frac{\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{L}}}{\mathbf{L}})^{T}\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{X}_{\text{out}}}\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{V}}^{T} \\ &= \text{Dropout}(\frac{\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{L}}^{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{L}}}{\mathbf{L}})\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{X}_{\text{out}}}\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{V}}^{T} \end{split}$$

$\mu_{g_{ m in}}=0$
$\sigma_{g_{\rm in}}^2 = \frac{\sigma_{g_{\rm out}}^2 d\sigma_v^2}{L(1-p)} (1 + (L-1)r_{g_{\rm out}}^l(1-p))$
$\operatorname{Cov}_{g_{\text{in}}}^{l} = \frac{\sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^{2} d\sigma_{v}^{2}}{L} (1 + (L - 1)r_{g_{\text{out}}}^{l})$

# D MOMENT PROPAGATION THROUGH TRANSFORMER BLOCKS

# D.1 TRANSFORMER ATTENTION BLOCK

A forward pass through attention block consists of LayerNorm, followed by Scaled Dot-Product Attention, followed by an output projection layer (a Linear Layer), and finally a Dropout. Using the results from above we get,

$$\begin{split} \mu_{x_{\text{out}}} &= 0 * 0 * 0 * 0 = 0 \\ \sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2 \\ &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \cdot d_{\text{in}} \sigma_v^2}{c_1^{\frac{-d_{\text{in}}}2} + (L-1)} \left( \frac{c_1^{\frac{-d_{\text{in}}}{2}}}{(1-p)(1-4d_{\text{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} + (L-1) \frac{(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l + (1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)d_{\text{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)}{(1-2(1+r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)d_{\text{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} \right) \cdot \frac{d_{\text{in}}\sigma_o^2}{(1-p)} \\ &= \frac{d_{\text{in}}^2 \sigma_o^2 \sigma_v^2 \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}{(1-p)(c_1^{\frac{-d_{\text{in}}}{2}} + (L-1))} \left( \frac{c_1^{\frac{-d_{\text{in}}}{2}}}{(1-p)(1-4d_{\text{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} + (L-1) \frac{(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l + (1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)d_{\text{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)}{(1-2(1+r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)d_{\text{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} \right) \end{split}$$

 $\operatorname{Cov}_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^{l}$ 

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 d_{\rm in} \sigma_v^2}{c_2^{\frac{-d_{\rm in}}{2}} + (L-1)} \left( \frac{c_2^{\frac{-d_{\rm in}}{2}}}{(1-2d_{\rm in}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} + \frac{(L-1)r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{(1-(1-r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)d_{\rm in}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)(1-(1+r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)d_{\rm in}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} \right) .d_{\rm in}\sigma_o^2 .1 \\ &= \frac{d_{\rm in}^2 \sigma_o^2 \sigma_v^2 \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{c_2^{\frac{-d_{\rm in}}{2}} + (L-1)} \left( \frac{c_2^{\frac{-d_{\rm in}}{2}}}{(1-2d_{\rm in}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} + (L-1) \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{(1-(1-r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)d_{\rm in}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)(1-(1+r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)d_{\rm in}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} \right) .d_{\rm in}\sigma_o^2 .1 \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{g_{\text{in}}}^2 &= \sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^2 * \frac{1}{(1-p)} * d_{\text{in}} \sigma_o^2 * \frac{d_{\text{in}} \sigma_v^2}{L(1-p)} (1 + (L-1) r_{g_{\text{out}}}^l (1-p)) \\ &= \frac{d_{\text{in}}^2 \sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^2 \sigma_v^2 \sigma_o^2}{L(1-p)^2} (1 + (L-1) r_{g_{\text{out}}}^l (1-p)) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Cov}_{g_{\text{in}}}^{l} &= \sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^{2} * 1 * d_{\text{in}} \sigma_{o}^{2} * \frac{d_{\text{in}} \sigma_{v}^{2}}{L} (1 + (L - 1) r_{g_{\text{out}}}^{l}) \\ &= \frac{d_{\text{in}}^{2} \sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^{2} \sigma_{v}^{2} \sigma_{o}^{2}}{L} (1 + (L - 1) r_{g_{\text{out}}}^{l}) \end{aligned}$$

## D.2 TRANSFORMER FFN BLOCK

A forward pass through the FFN block of a transfer has a LayerNorm, then a Linear layer from d to 4d, which is then passed through a ReLU gate, the output of which is the projected back to d dimension using another Linear layer, and eventually passed through a Dropout. Again using the results from above we get,

$$\begin{split} \mu_{x_{\text{out}}} &= 0 & \text{(Last Linear Layer makes it 0)} \\ \sigma_{x_{\text{out}}}^2 &= 1 * d_{\text{in}} \sigma_{w_1}^2 * \left(\frac{\pi - 1}{2\pi} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\right) * 4 d_{\text{in}} \sigma_{w_2}^2 * \frac{1}{(1 - p)} * \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \\ &= \frac{2 d_{\text{in}}^2 \sigma_{w_1}^2 \sigma_{w_2}^2}{(1 - p)} \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \\ \text{Cov}_{x_{\text{out}}}^l &= d_{\text{in}} \sigma_{w_1}^2 * \left(\frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l}{4} + \frac{(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)^{0.5}}{2\pi} + \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l \sin^{-1}(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)}{2\pi} - \frac{1}{2\pi} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\right) * 4 d_{\text{in}} \sigma_{w_2}^2 * \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \\ &= 4 d_{\text{in}}^2 \sigma_{w_1}^2 \sigma_{w_2}^2 \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 \left(\frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l}{4} + \frac{(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)^{0.5}}{2\pi} + \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l \sin^{-1}(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)}{2\pi}\right) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{r}_{x_{\text{out}}}^{l} &= 2*(1-p)*(\frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}}{4} + \frac{(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})^{2})^{0.5}}{2\pi} + \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}\sin^{-1}(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})}{2\pi}) \\ &\approx (1-p)*(\frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}}{2} + \frac{1}{\pi} + (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\pi})r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l}^{2}) \qquad (\text{Fitting a 2-nd order polynomial}) \\ \sigma_{g_{\text{in}}}^{2} &= \sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^{2} * \frac{1}{(1-p)} * d_{\text{in}}\sigma_{w_{2}}^{2} * \frac{1}{2} * 4d_{\text{in}}\sigma_{w_{1}}^{2} \\ &= \frac{2d_{\text{in}}^{2}\sigma_{w_{1}}^{2}\sigma_{w_{2}}^{2}\sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^{2}}{(1-p)} \\ \text{Cov}_{g_{\text{in}}}^{l} &= \text{Cov}_{g_{\text{out}}}^{l} * 1 * d_{\text{in}}\sigma_{w_{2}}^{2} * (\frac{1}{4} + \frac{\sin^{-1}(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})}{2\pi}) * 4d_{\text{in}}\sigma_{w_{1}}^{2} \\ &= 4d_{\text{in}}^{2}\sigma_{w_{1}}^{2}\sigma_{w_{2}}^{2} \text{Cov}_{g_{\text{out}}}^{l} (\frac{1}{4} + \frac{\sin^{-1}(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{l})}{2\pi}) \end{split}$$

# E SUMMARY TABLE OF MOMENT PROPAGATION THROUGH TRANSFORMER COMPONENTS

In Table 11, Table 12, Table 13, Table 14, Table 15 and Table 16, we summarize the signal propagation formulae for all the transformer components.

Table	11:	Moment	Propagation	(mean)	during	forward	pass	through	components	of	transformer
model											

Component	$\mu_{x_{ ext{out}}}$
Embeddings	0
FFN $(d_1.d_2)$	0
ReLU	$rac{\sigma_{x_{ m in}}}{\sqrt{(2\pi)}}$
GeLU	$\frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{\sqrt{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2+1)}}$
LayerNorm (d)	0
Dropout ( <i>p</i> )	$\mu_{x_{ ext{in}}}$
Softmax	$\frac{1}{L}$
SHA Block (without V)	0
Attn Block	0
FFN Block	0

Component	$\sigma^2_{x_{ m out}}$
Embeddings	0
FFN $(d_1.d_2)$	$d_1\sigma_w^2(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2+\mu_{x_{\rm in}}^2)$
ReLU	$rac{(\pi-1)}{(2\pi)}\sigma_{x_{ ext{in}}}^2$
GeLU	$\frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{2\pi} \big( \frac{\pi}{2} - \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{1 + \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2} + \sin^{-1} \big( \frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{1 + \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2} \big) + \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{(1 + \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)\sqrt{1 + 2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}} \big)$
Layer Norm (d)	1
Dropout (p)	$\frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + p \mu_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{1-p}$
Softmax	$\frac{(e^{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\frac{L}{L-1}}-1)e^{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\frac{L}{L-1}}}{((L-1)e^{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)}+1)^2}$
SHA (without V)	$\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{(1-p)(c_1^{\frac{-d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}} + (L-1))} \left(\frac{c_1^{\frac{-d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}{(1-p)(1-4d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2\sigma_k^2)} + (L-1)\frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l + (1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2\sigma_k^2)}{(1-2(1+r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2\sigma_k^2)}\right) - \frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{(1-2(1+r_{\mathrm{in}}^l)d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2\sigma_k^2)} + (L-1)\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{(1-2(1+r_{\mathrm{in}}^l)d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2\sigma_k^2)} + (L-1)\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{(1-2(1+r_{\mathrm{in}}^l)d_{\mathrm{in}}}\sigma_q^2\sigma_k^2)} + (L-1)\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}}{(1-2(1+r_{i$
Attn Block (Approx)	$\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}^2 \sigma_v^2 \sigma_v^2 \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{(1-p)(c_1^{\frac{-d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}} + (L-1))} \left( \frac{c_1^{\frac{-d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}{(1-p)(1-4d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} + (L-1) \frac{(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l + (1-(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2)d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)}{(1-2(1+r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} \right)$
FFN Block	$rac{2d_{ ext{in}}^2\sigma_{w_1}^2\sigma_{w_2}^2\sigma_{x_{ ext{in}}}^2}{(1-p)}$

Table 12:	Moment Propagation	(variance) during	g forward pass	through co	omponents of t	transformer
model.						

Component	$\sigma^2_{g_{ ext{in}}}$
Embeddings	-
FFN $(d_1.d_2)$	$d_2\sigma_w^2\sigma_{g_{ m out}}^2$
ReLU	$rac{1}{2}\sigma_{g_{ ext{out}}}^2$
GeLU	$\left[\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\sin^{-1}\left(\frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + 1}\right) + \frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2(5\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + 3)}{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + 1)(2\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}}\right]\sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^2$
LayerNorm (d)	$rac{\sigma_{g_{ ext{out}}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{ ext{in}}}^2}$
Dropout ( <i>p</i> )	$rac{1}{1-p}\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^2$
Softmax	$\big(\frac{(e^{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\frac{L}{L-1}-1)e^{2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)\frac{L}{L-1}}}{((L-1)e^{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)+1)^2}+\frac{1}{L^2}\big)\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^2$
SHA Block (without V)	$\frac{d_{\rm in}\sigma_{g_{\rm out}}^2}{L(1-p)^2}(1+(L-1)r_{g_{\rm out}}^l(1-p))$
Attn Block (Approx)	$\frac{d_{\rm in}^2 \sigma_{g_{\rm out}}^2 \sigma_v^2 \sigma_o^2}{L(1-p)^2} (1 + (L-1)r_{g_{\rm out}}^l (1-p))$
FFN Block	$\frac{2d_{\mathrm{in}}^2\sigma_{w_1}^2\sigma_{w_2}^2\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^2}{(1-p)}$

Table 13: Moment Propagation (variance) during backwards pass through components of transformer model.

Component	$\operatorname{Cov}_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^{l}$
Embeddings	$\sum rac{N_i st (N_i-1)}{L st (L-1))} st \sigma_{w_{ ext{embd}}}^2$
FFN $(d_1.d_2)$	$d_1\sigma_w^2(\mathrm{Cov}_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l+\mu_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2)$
ReLU	$(rac{1}{4}+rac{\sin^{-1}{(r_{x_{ ext{in}}}^l)}}{2\pi}) ext{Cov}_{x_{ ext{in}}}^l-(1-\sqrt{(1-(r_{x_{ ext{in}}}^l)^2)})rac{\sigma_{x_{ ext{in}}}^2}{2\pi}$
GeLU	$\frac{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{4\pi} \big( \pi r_{x_{\rm in}}^l + 2r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sin^{-1} \big( \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1} \big) + \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 (1 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2) + 1 + (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)^2)}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1) \sqrt{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)^2 - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^l \sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2)^2}} - \frac{2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2 + 1)} \big)$
LayerNorm (d)	$(1-rac{1}{d})rac{\mathrm{Cov}_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l}{\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}$
Dropout ( <i>p</i> )	$\mathrm{Cov}_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l$
SHA (without V)	$\frac{d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2}{c_2^{\frac{-d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}} + (L-1)} \left( \frac{c_2^{\frac{-d_{\mathrm{in}}}{2}}}{(1-2d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} + (L-1) \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l}{(1-(1-r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)(1-(1+r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} \right)$
Attn Block (Approx)	$\frac{\overline{d_{\text{in}}^2 \sigma_o^2 \sigma_v^2 \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}}{c_2^{\frac{-d_{\text{in}}}{2}} + (L-1)} \left( \frac{\frac{c_2^{\frac{-d_{\text{in}}}{2}}}{(1-2d_{\text{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)} + (L-1) \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l}{(1-(1-r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)d_{\text{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)(1-(1+r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)d_{\text{in}}\sigma_q^2 \sigma_k^2)}} \right)$
FFN Block	$4d_{\mathrm{in}}\sigma_{w_1}^2\sigma_{w_2}^2\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^2(\frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l}{4} + \frac{\sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)^2}}{2\pi} + \frac{r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l\sin^{-1}(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^l)}{2\pi})$

Table 14:	Covariance (	(along	sequence	length)	propagation	through	the compo	onents of	transformer
model.									

 Table 15: Covariance (hidden dimension) propagation through the components of transformer model.

Component	$\operatorname{Cov}^d_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}$
Embeddings	0
FFN $(d_1.d_2)$	0
ReLU	$(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{\sin^{-1}\left(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{d}\right)}{2\pi})\text{Cov}_{x_{\text{in}}}^{d} - (1 - \sqrt{(1 - (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^{d})^{2})})\frac{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^{2}}{2\pi}$
GeLU	
LayerNorm (d)	$-rac{1}{d-1}$
Dropout ( <i>p</i> )	$\mathrm{Cov}^d_{x_\mathrm{in}}$
SHA Block(without V)	0
Attn Block	0
FFN Block	0

Component	$\mathrm{Cov}_{g_{in}}^{l}$
Embeddings	-
FFN $(d_1.d_2)$	$d_2 \sigma_w^2 { m Cov}_{g_{ m out}}^l$
ReLU	$(rac{1}{4}+rac{\sin^{-1}\left(r_{x_{ ext{in}}}^{l} ight)}{2\pi}) ext{Cov}_{g_{ ext{out}}}^{l}$
GeLU	$\left[\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\sin^{-1}\left(\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}}{\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1}\right) + \frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2}((2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 3)(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1) - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2})}{2\pi(\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1)((\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2} + 1)^{2} - (r_{x_{\rm in}}^{l}\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^{2})^{2})^{\frac{3}{2}}}\right]r_{g_{\rm out}}^{l}\sigma_{g_{\rm out}}^{2}$
LayerNorm (d)	$rac{ ext{Cov}_{g_{ ext{out}}}^l}{\sigma_{x_{ ext{in}}}^2}$
Dropout ( <i>p</i> )	$\operatorname{Cov}_{g_{\operatorname{out}}}^{l}$
SHA Block (without V)	$rac{d_{ ext{in}}\sigma_{g_{ ext{out}}}^2}{L}(1+(L-1)r_{g_{ ext{out}}}^l)$
Attn Block (Approx)	$\frac{d_{\text{in}}^2\sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^2\sigma_v^2\sigma_o^2}{L}(1+(L-1)r_{g_{\text{out}}}^l)$
FFN Block	$4d_{\rm in}^2\sigma_{w_1}^2\sigma_{w_2}^2{\rm Cov}_{g_{\rm out}}^l(\frac{1}{4}+\frac{\sin^{-1}(r_{x_{\rm in}}^l)}{2\pi})$

Table 16: Gradient covariance (along sequence length) propagation through the components of transformer model.

# F NUMERICAL VERIFICATION

We perform numerical verification for the formulae reported in Table 11, Table 12, Table 13, Table 14, Table 15 and Table 16. The parameter ranges have been provided in Table 18. For each parameter, 3-5 values were sampled uniformly (or log uniformly) across the range for numerical simulation. Table 17 provides the percentage error corresponding to the  $50_{th}$ ,  $90_{th}$  and  $99_{th}$  percentile. These simulation results are all fully reproducible using our code released as supplementary material. Even at 99 percentile, no error (other than SHA backwards) is larger than 10%, verifying our assumptions.

Table 17: Percentage Errors [50th, 90th, 99th percentile] for the theoretical formulas corresponding to forward and backward pass through components of the transformer model.

Component	$\mu_{x_{ ext{out}}}$	$\sigma^2_{x_{ m out}}$	$\sigma_{g_{ m in}}^2$	$\operatorname{Cov}_{x_{\operatorname{out}}}^l$	$\operatorname{Cov}_{g_{\operatorname{in}}}^{l}$
FFN	[0.0, 0.4, 1.3]	[0.4, 1.4, 2.8]	[0.2, 1.0, 2.2]	[0.4, 1.4, 2.8]	[0.2, 1.0, 2.2]
ReLU	[0.3, 1.3, 2.3]	[0.5, 1.9, 3.4]	[0.6, 1.5, 2.6]	[0.3, 1.6, 3.1]	[0.2, 1.1, 2.3]
GeLU	[0.1, 1.0, 2.4]	[0.2, 0.6, 1.3]	[0.2, 0.6, 1.1]	[0.1, 0.5, 1.2]	[0.1, 0.4, 0.9]
LayerNorm	[0.0 , 0.0, 0.0]	[0.0, 0.0, 0.0]	[0.4, 1.5, 3.2]	[0.1, 0.5, 1.0]	[0.2, 0.9, 2.2]
Dropout	[0.0, 0.1, 0.5]	[0.1, 0.5, 1.5]	[0.1, 0.7, 1.5]	[0.0, 0.4, 1.3]	[0.1, 0.5, 1.2]
Softmax	[0.0 , 0.0, 0.0]	[0.2, 0.9, 4.0]	[0.1, 0.6, 4.5]	-	-
Single-Head Atten.	[0.2, 1.0, 2.5]	[1.4, 4.1, 7.9]	[2.2, 13.3, 44.5]	[1.3, 3.9, 7.5]	[1.6, 4.5, 8.2]

Table 18: Range of input variance/correlations used for theoretical formula verification reported i
Table 17 for the theoretical formulas corresponding to forward and backward pass through compo
nents of the transformer model. The dropout probability range was $[0,1)$ for Dropout and Single
Head Attention, and $\sigma_w^2$ for FFN was $[10^{-2}, 10^2]/d_{in}$ .

Component	$\mu_{x_{ ext{in}}}$	$\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2$	$\sigma_{g_{\rm out}}^2$	$\mathrm{Corr}_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l}$	$\operatorname{Corr}^l_{g_{\operatorname{out}}}$	$d_{ m in}$	$d_{\mathrm{out}}$	L
FFN	[-10, 10]	[0.1, 10]	[0.1, 10]	[0, 1.0)	[0, 1.0)	$[10^1, 10^3]$	$[10^1, 10^3]$	$[10^2, 10^3]$
ReLU	[0]	[0.1, 10]	[0.1, 10]	[0, 1.0)	[0, 1.0)	-	-	$[10^2, 10^3]$
GeLU	[0]	[0.1, 10]	[0.1, 10]	[0, 1.0)	[0, 1.0)	-	-	$[10^2, 10^3]$
LayerNorm	[-10, 10]	[0.1, 10]	[0.1, 10]	[0, 1.0)	[0, 1.0)	$[10^2, 10^3]$	-	$[10^2, 10^3]$
Dropout	[-10, 10]	[0.1, 10]	[0.1, 10]	[0, 1.0)	[0, 1.0)	$[10^2, 10^3]$	-	$[10^2, 10^3]$
Softmax	[0]	$[10^{-4}, 1]$	[0.1, 10]	[0, 1.0)	-	-	-	$[300, 10^4]$
Single-Head Atten.	[0]	[1]	[0.1, 10]	[0, 1.0)	[0, 1.0)	$[10^2, 10^3]$	[32, 64, 128, 256]	$[300, 10^4]$

# G RANK COLLAPSE AND CORRELATION ANALYSIS

In the previous sections, we derived the formulas that determine how the correlation will change through the Attention and FFN blocks both for forward and backward pass. Both attention and FFN blocks modify the correlation as shown in the Table 19.

Table 19: Approximate Correlation Propagation during forward and backward pass through the blocks of a transformer layer.

Component	$\sigma^{2}_{\mathbf{x}_{\mathrm{out}}}$	$r^l_{x_{out}}$	$\sigma^{2}_{\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{in}}}$	$r^{l}_{g_{in}}$
Attention Block	$\frac{d^2\sigma_o^2\sigma_v^2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2*r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{(1-p)}$	1 - p	$\frac{d^2\sigma_o^2\sigma_v^2*\sigma_{g_{\rm out}}^2}{(1-p)}r_{g_{\rm out}}^l$	1-p
FFN Block	$\frac{2d^2\sigma_{w_1}^2\sigma_{w_2}^2\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2}{(1-p)}$	$(1-p)(\frac{1}{\pi}+\frac{r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}{2}+(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{\pi}){r_{x_{\rm in}}^l}^2)$	$\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{out}}}^2 \ast \sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^2$	$(1-p)(\frac{1}{2}+rac{\sin^{-1}(r_{x_{\mathrm{in}}}^{l})}{\pi})r_{g_{\mathrm{out}}}^{l}$

Simplifying the formulae in the table above, we rewrite the output variance for the attention block as  $\sigma_{x_{\text{atm}}}^2 = C_1 * r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l * \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2$ , and the output of the FFN block is  $\sigma_{x_{\text{ffn}}}^2 = C_2 * \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2$ , where  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are defined as follows.

$$C_1 = \frac{d^2 \sigma_o^2 \sigma_v^2}{(1-p)}, C_2 = \frac{2d^2 \sigma_{w_1}^2 \sigma_{w_2}^2}{(1-p)},$$

This also helps us to rewrite the backward pass as the  $\sigma_{g_{\text{attn}}}^2 = C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out}}}^l * \sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^2$  and  $\sigma_{g_{\text{ffn}}}^2 = C_2 * \sigma_{g_{\text{out}}}^2$ . Specifically in case of Xavier initialization with 0.1 dropout,  $C_1 = 2.2, C_2 = 0.4$ .

Assuming a dropout of 0.1, the FFN block (with the ReLU) will reduce the correlation if it rises above 0.64 (where  $r_{x_{out}}^l < r_{x_{in}}^l$  for FFN block). And the attention block will never output a correlation higher than 0.9. Hence correlation will never reach 1, but rather a steady, stable value between ReLU's maximum correlation and that of the attention block. Dropout's effect in preventing rank collapse was also observed in Rong et al. (2019).

We can approximate the stable value of correlation after many layers based on the weightage average of the correlation in the Attention output and FFN output. When the attention output is added to the skip connection, the new correlation will be a weighted (by variance) average of the correlation among the tokens of attention output and among the tokens in the skip connection. And the same will happen after the FFN block.

A weighted average of the correlations of FFN and attention blocks gives the stable asymptotic correlation  $r_{x_{max}}^l$ 

$$r_{x_{\max}}^{l} = \frac{C_1 * (1-p) + C_2 * (1-p)(\frac{1}{\pi} + \frac{r_{x_{\max}}^{l}}{2} + (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\pi})r_{x_{\max}}^{l-2})}{C_1 + C_2}$$

Specifically for the case of xavier initialization, solving the above equation with  $C_1 = 2.2, C_2 = 0.4$ , gives  $r_{x_{\text{max}}}^l \approx 0.88$ .

Similarly, the correlation for backward gradient will also converge at a stable value  $r_{g_{\text{max}}}^l$ , obtained by solving the below equation -

$$r_{g_{\text{max}}}^{l} = \frac{C_1 * (1-p) + C_2 * (1-p)(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\sin^{-1}(r_{x_{\text{max}}}^{l})}{\pi})r_{g_{\text{max}}}^{l}}{C_1 + C_2}$$

Specifically for the case of xavier initialization, this gives  $r_{g_{\text{max}}}^l = 0.87$ . Note how  $r_{g_{\text{max}}}^l \approx r_{x_{\text{max}}}^l$ .

**Discussion on Noci et al. (2022)** Noci et al. (2022) focuses primarily on linear activation, we theoretically analyze the change in output correlation caused by ReLU. We find that ReLU (or any asymmetric non-linearity in general) critically affects correlation. As our closed form expressions suggest, both FFN block (because of ReLU) and dropout reduce the correlation. While Noci et al. (2022) mentions the use of dropout, as we show above and observe empirically in Figure 6, rank will not collapse with dropout, and perhaps Noci et al. (2022) did not use dropout. Further, we observed that Figure 10 of the supplementary of Noci et al. (2022) shows a correlation above 1, which is impossible.

We replicated the experimental settings of Noci et al. (2022) without dropout, and observed that the rank collapse occurs due to incorrect initialization. They use a rather non-standard version of xavier initialization - instead of  $\frac{2}{fan_{in}+fan_{out}}$ , they use  $\frac{1}{fan_{out}}$ . Hence, they initialize a much higher value for V as  $fan_{in}$  is much greater than  $fan_{out}$  ("Number of heads" times greater), and this results in variance of the output of the attention block C1 being much higher than FFN C2. As attention block outputs a much higher correlation than the FFN block, increasing its output variance without using dropout will result in rank collapse. This highlights the criticality of correct initialization, as well as the explainability power of our theoretical framework proposed in the paper.

# H MOMENT PROPAGATION THROUGH THE ENTIRE TRANSFORMER MODEL

#### H.1 VANILLA PRE-LN

We will use the approximations listed in Table 2 here.

#### H.1.1 FORWARD PASS

For forward pass, a Transformer Pre-LN has LayerNorm followed by the Attention block, residual connection, LayerNorm, and then the FFN block. Let  $\sigma_{layer}^2$  be the output variance after 1 such layer, and  $\sigma_{model}^2$  be the output variance after the entire model of N layers.

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{x_{\text{attn}}}^2 &= \frac{d^2 \sigma_o^2 \sigma_v^2 * r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l}{(1-p)} \\ \sigma_{x_{\text{ffn}}}^2 &= \frac{2d^2 \sigma_{w_1}^2 \sigma_{w_2}^2}{(1-p)} \\ \sigma_{x_{\text{layer}}}^2 &= \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + \sigma_{x_{\text{attn}}}^2 + \sigma_{x_{\text{ffn}}}^2 \end{split}$$

$$= \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + \frac{d^2 \sigma_o^2 \sigma_v^2 * r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l}{(1-p)} + \frac{2d^2 \sigma_{w_1}^2 \sigma_{w_2}^2}{(1-p)}$$
Let,  $C_1 = \frac{d^2 \sigma_o^2 \sigma_v^2}{(1-p)}, C_2 = \frac{2d^2 \sigma_{w_1}^2 \sigma_{w_2}^2}{(1-p)bu},$ 
Then,  $\sigma_{x_{\text{layer}}}^2 = \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + C_1 * r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l + C_2$ 

As we discuss in Section 3.4, the correlation  $r_{x_{in}}^l$  quickly reaches a stable constant maximum value  $r_{x_{max}}^l$ , which can be found using the calculations in Appendix G. Let  $r_{x_{min}}^l > 0$  be the minimum value of this correlation, let  $C_3 = C_1 * r_{x_{max}}^l + C_2$ , and  $C_4 = C_1 * r_{x_{min}}^l + C_2$ . Then,

$$\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + C_4 \le \sigma_{x_{\text{layer}}}^2 \le \sigma_{x_{x_{\text{in}}}}^2 + C_3$$

Hence after N layers,

$$\sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + N * C_4 \le \sigma_{x_{\text{model}}}^2 \le \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + N * C_3$$
$$\implies \sigma_{x_{\text{model}}}^2 = \Theta(N)$$
(2)

This shows that output variance of Pre-LN will increase linearly with number of layers N.

In practice, because the correlation quickly reaches  $r_{x_{\text{max}}}^l$ , the variance of the entire model  $\sigma_{x_{\text{model}}}^2 \approx \sigma_{x_{\text{in}}}^2 + N * C_3$ .

**Discussion:** This has the effect that transformer blocks near the output can affect the model output much less, as the skip connection variance increases but block output variance is constant. We conjecture that parameters in these are hence not being utilized to their full potential. Specifically in case of Xavier initialization,  $C_1 = 2.2, C_2 = 0.4, r_{x_{max}}^l = 0.85$ . For large d,  $\sigma_{x_{in}}^2$  will be negligibly small compared to  $\sigma_{x_{layer}}^2$ , so we have -

$$\sigma_{x_{\text{model}}}^2 \approx C_3 * N \approx (2.2 * 0.85 + 0.4) N \approx 2.2 N$$

# H.1.2 BACKWARD PASS

For the backward pass, a Transformer Pre-LN gradient will first backpropagate through the FFN block, then gets rescaled by Layernorm, and added with the skip connection. It then backpropagates through the Attention block, gets rescaled by Layernorm, and finally added with the skip connection. Let  $\sigma_{g,n}^2$  be the gradient variance backpropagating from the  $n^{th}$  layer, and  $\sigma_{g_{model}}^2$  be the gradient variance after the entire model of N layers.

For the Attention block, let  $\sigma_{g_{\text{attn}},n-1}^2$  be the gradient backpropagating from the block. Then for long sequence length L we have -

$$\begin{split} \sigma^2_{g_{\text{attn}},n-1} &= \frac{d^2 \sigma_o^2 \sigma_v^2 * \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2}{L(1-p)} (1+(L-1)r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l) \\ &\approx \frac{d^2 \sigma_o^2 \sigma_v^2 * r_{g_{\text{out},l}}^l * \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2}{(1-p)} \end{split}$$

 $\sigma_{g_{\text{atm}},n-1}^2$  is then rescaled by the Layernorm to give  $\sigma_{g_{\text{atm-layernorm}},n-1}^2$ . As Layernorm scales gradient by the inverse of the input variance  $\sigma_{x_{\text{in}},n-1}^2$ , which from the section above, we know is approximately  $\sigma_{x_{\text{in}},n-1}^2 = C_3 * (n-1)$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{g_{\text{attn}},n-1}^2 &= C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l * \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2 \\ \sigma_{g_{\text{attn-layernorm}},n-1}^2 &= \frac{C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l * \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}},n-1}^2} \\ &\approx \frac{C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l * \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2}{C_3 * (n-1)} \end{split}$$

Therefore, the final gradient  $\sigma^2_{g_{\text{attn-laver}},n-1}$  after addition with the skip connection is

$$\sigma_{g_{\text{attn-layer}},n-1}^2 = (1 + \frac{C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l}{C_3 * (n-1)}) \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2$$

Similarly, we can get  $\sigma_{g_{\text{fin-layer}},n-1}^2$  for the ffn block. Then to get the gradient backpropagated through the entire layer  $\sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n-1}^2$ , we have,

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{g_{\text{fin-layer},n-1}}^2 &= (1 + \frac{C_2}{C_3 * (n-1)}) \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \\ \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n-1}}^2 &= (1 + \frac{C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l}{C_3 * (n-1)}) (1 + \frac{C_2}{C_3 * (n-1)}) \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \\ \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n-1}}^2 &\approx (1 + \frac{C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l}{C_3 * (n-1)} + \frac{C_2}{C_3 * (n-1)}) \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \\ &= (1 + \frac{C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l + C_2}{C_3 * (n-1)}) \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \\ &= (1 + \frac{C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l + C_2}{(C_1 * r_{x_{in,n}}^l + C_2) * (n-1)}) \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \end{split}$$

Where, ignore higher order terms for large n. As we discuss in the main paper, the correlation  $r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l$  quickly reaches a stable constant maximum value  $r_{g_{\text{max}}}^l$ , which is approximately equal to (but slightly less than)  $r_{x_{\text{max}}}^l$ . Hence, we can approximately replace the correlations with their maximum values. Note that while  $r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l$  and  $r_{x_{\text{in},n}}^l$  will have slightly different stable values, the term n-1 will dominate in the following equations. Hence,

$$\begin{split} \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n-1}} &= (1 + \frac{C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l + C_2}{(C_1 * r_{x_{\text{in},n}}^l + C_2) * (n-1)}) \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n}} \\ &\approx (1 + \frac{C_1 * r_{g_{\text{max}}}^l + C_2}{(C_1 * r_{x_{\text{max}}}^l + C_2) * (n-1)}) \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n}} \\ &\approx (1 + \frac{C_{g_{pre}}}{n-1}) \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n}} \end{split}$$

Since  $C_{g_{pre}} > 0$ , we will witness an increase in gradient going backward. Applying the above equation repeatedly until the final layer N, this recurrence can be approximately solved by treating  $\sigma_{g_{out},n}^2$  as a continuous function of n, taking logarithm of both sides, and integrating. This gives the following solution for  $\sigma_{g_{out},n}^2$ :

$$\sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2 = \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},N}^2 * \left(\frac{N}{n}\right)^{C_{g_{pre}}}$$

If  $C_{g_{pre}} \approx 1$ , we get hyperbolic growth as shown below

$$\sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2 = \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},N}^2 * (\frac{N}{n})$$

This shows that gradient variance of Pre-LN will increase hyberbolically with number of layers N while going backwards.

**Discussion:** This has the effect that much lower learning rate is required for the entire model, because the gradients near the input layers are much higher, slowing down learning and making the model unstable.

#### H.2 VANILLA POST-LN

#### H.2.1 FORWARD PASS

The forward pass of Post-LN is trivially always 1 at initialization, because the skip connection does not cross the LayerNorm.

#### H.2.2 BACKWARD PASS

Following an analysis similar to that for Pre-LN, we get

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{g_{\text{fin-layer}},n-1}^2 &= \frac{1+C_2}{1+C_1*r_{x_{\text{out}},n-1}}^2 \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \\ \sigma_{g_{\text{attn-layer}},n-1}^2 &= \frac{1+C_1*r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l}{1+C_2} \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \\ \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n-1}}^2 &= \frac{1+C_1*r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l}{1+C_2}*\frac{1+C_2}{1+C_1*r_{x_{\text{out},n-1}}}*\sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \\ &= \frac{1+C_1*r_{g_{\text{out},n-1}}^l}{1+C_1*r_{x_{\text{out},n-1}}}^2 \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \end{split}$$

Let  $C_{5,n} = \frac{1+C_1*r_{gout,n}^l}{1+C_1*r_{xout,n-1}^l}$ . As we discuss in Appendix G, the correlations both quickly reach a maximum stable value. But the  $r_{g_{out,n}}^l$ 's maximum value  $r_{g_{max}}^l$  is slightly different than  $r_{x_{max}}^l$ . Let  $C_5 = \frac{1+C_1*r_{g_{max}}^l}{1+C_1*r_{xmax}^l}$ , then  $C_5$  can be either greater or smaller than 1. Hence, we get

$$\sigma_{g_{\text{attn-layer}},n-1}^{2} = C_{5,n} \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^{2}$$

$$= \prod_{i=n}^{N} C_{5,i} \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},N}^{2}$$

$$\approx C_{5}^{(N-n)} \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},N}^{2}$$

$$\sigma_{g_{\text{attn-layer}},n-1}^{2} = C_{5}^{(N-n)} \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},N}^{2}$$
(3)

This shows that gradient variance of Post-LN will decrease/increase exponentially with number of layers N while going backwards. Even very slightly different value of  $C_5$  from 1, such as 0.96, will cause a 2000x fall in gradient after 200 layers.

**Discussion:** This shows why Post-LN transformer is much more difficult to train for deeper models than Pre-LN. While for Pre-LN the backwards gradient increases hyber-bolically to a maximum of N, in Post-LN the gradient can increase or decrease exponentially, stopping the model from converging.

## H.3 DEEPSCALELM PRE-LN

# H.3.1 FORWARD PASS

In DeepScaleLM, the weight initialization are chosen specifically so that  $\sigma_{x_{\rm atm}}^2$  and  $\sigma_{x_{\rm fin}}^2$  are both equal to 1 for all layers, by iteratively calculating  $r_{x_{\rm in}}^l$  as detailed in Appendix M. Also, the embeddings are initialized so that  $\sigma_{x_{\rm in}}^2$  is also 1. Hence,

$$\sigma_{\text{layer}}^2 = \lambda^2 * \sigma_{\text{skip}}^2 + \beta^2 * \sigma_{\text{block}}^2$$
$$= \lambda^2 + \beta^2 = 1$$

Hence the forward pass variance remains 1 throughout the model.

#### H.3.2 BACKWARD PASS

For the FFN-block, we have  $\sigma_{x_{in},n-1}^2 = \sigma_{x_{out},n-1}^2 = 1$ , as per equations in Table 2 of the main paper. Similar to Vanilla-PreLN, we arrive at

$$\sigma_{g_{\text{attn-layernorm}},n-1}^2 = \frac{C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l * \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}},n-1}^2}$$

Here,  $\sigma_{x_{in},n-1}^2 = 1$  as shown above, and since weights are initialized so that  $C1 * r_{x_{in}}^l = 1$ . Let  $C_{6,n} = \frac{r_{g_{out},n}^l}{r_{x_{out},n-1}^l}$ , and  $C_6 = \frac{r_{g_{max}}^l}{r_{x_{max}}^l}$ . As we show in the main paper,  $C_6 \approx 1$ . Similarly to previously, we use the maximum values of these correlations instead to get -

$$\sigma_{g_{\text{attn-layernorm},n-1}}^{2} = \frac{r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^{l}}{r_{x_{\text{in},n-1}}^{l}} * \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^{2}$$
$$= C_{6,n} * \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^{2}$$

Therefore, assuming no covariance between block gradients and skip connection (which will be true at initialization), the final gradient  $\sigma_{g_{attn-layer},n-1}^2$  after addition with the skip connection is

$$\begin{split} \sigma^2_{g_{\text{attn-layer}},n-1} &= \lambda^2 \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out}},n} + \beta^2 \sigma^2_{g_{\text{attn-layernorm}},n-1} \\ &= \lambda^2 \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out}},n} + \beta^2 C_{6,n} \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out}},n} \\ &= (\lambda^2 + \beta^2 C_{6,n}) * \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out}},n} \\ &= (1 + \frac{C_{6,n} - 1}{N}) * \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out}},n} \end{split}$$

Similarly for the FFN layer,  $\sigma_{g_{\text{ffn-layer}},n-1}^2 = \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2$ , as  $\sigma_{x_{\text{in}},n-1}^2 = \sigma_{x_{\text{out}},n-1}^2 = 1$ . Hence,

$$\begin{split} \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n-1}} &= (1 + \frac{C_{6,n} - 1}{N}) * \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n}}, \\ \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},1}} &= \prod_{i=1}^N (1 + \frac{C_{6,n} - 1}{N}) * \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},N}}, \\ &\approx \prod_{i=1}^N (1 + \frac{C_6 - 1}{N}) * \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},N}}, \\ &\approx (1 + \frac{C_6 - 1}{N})^{N-1} * \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},N}}, \\ &= e^{C_6 - 1} * \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},N}}. \end{split}$$

$$\approx \sigma_{g_{\rm out},N}^2$$

, where we applied  $(1 - \frac{k}{N})^N \approx e^{-k}$ , and  $C_6 \approx 1$ .

**Discussion:** Hence for DeepScaleLM, the backward variance of gradient remains constant (bounded by a constant almost 1) across all layers.

#### H.4 DEEPSCALELM POST-LN

#### H.4.1 FORWARD PASS

Same as vanilla Post-LN, this will remain preserved at 1.

## H.4.2 BACKWARD PASS

Following an analysis similar to that for Vanilla Post-LN, we get

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{g_{\text{fin-layer}},n-1}^2 &= \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2 \\ \sigma_{g_{\text{attn-layer}},n-1}^2 &= (\lambda^2 * 1 + \beta^2 * C_1 * r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l) \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2 \\ &= (\lambda^2 + \beta^2 * \frac{r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l}{r_{x_{\text{in},n}}^l}) \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2 \\ \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n-1}^2 &= (\lambda^2 + \beta^2 * \frac{r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l}{r_{x_{\text{in},n}}^l}) \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \end{split}$$

Similar to Pre-LN, we use the maximum value of these correlations, and assume  $C_6 = 1$ . We get

$$\begin{split} \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out}},n-1} &= (\lambda^2 + \beta^2 * \frac{r_{g_{\text{max}}}^l}{r_{x_{\text{max}}}^l}) \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n}} \\ &= (\lambda^2 + \beta^2 C_6) \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n}} \\ &\approx (\lambda^2 + \beta^2) \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n}} \\ &= \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n}} \end{split}$$

Hence for DeepScaleLM, the backward variance of gradient remains constant across all layers.

**Discussion:** Similar to DeepScale-LM Pre-LN, the assumption  $C_6 = 1$  is not required, and yields the same constant bound if we do not assume it to be 1.

## H.5 DEEPSCALELM (SIMPLIFIED) PRE-LN

# H.5.1 FORWARD PASS

For simplified DeepScaleLM, the initialization for the FFN block does not change, so its output remains 1 same as DeepScaleLM. For the Attention block, we changed its initialization to mimic that of the FFN block. We will show that initially, simplified DeepScaleLM's forward pass is bounded.

$$\sigma_{x_{\text{ffn}}}^2 = 1$$
 as DeepScaleLM,  $\sigma_{x_{\text{attn}}}^2 = \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^2}{2}$ . Therefore, the output variance after layer  $n$  will be

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{x_{\text{attn-skip}},n}^2 &= \lambda^2 * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},n-1}}^2 + \beta^2 * \sigma_{x_{\text{attn}}}^2 \\ &= (1 - \frac{2}{N}) * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},n-1}}^2 + \frac{1}{N} * r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l \end{split}$$

Similarly after the FFN block, the output skip will be -

$$\sigma_{x_{\mathrm{layer}},n}^2 = \lambda^2 * \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{attn-skip}},n}^2 + \beta^2 * \sigma_{x_{\mathrm{ffn}}}^2$$

$$= (1 - \frac{2}{N}) * ((1 - \frac{2}{N}) * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},n-1}}^2 + \frac{1}{N} * r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l) + \frac{2}{N} * 1$$
  
=  $(1 - \frac{2}{N})^2 * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},n-1}}^2 + (1 - \frac{2}{N}) * \frac{1}{N} * r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l + \frac{2}{N}$ 

As correlation coefficient  $r_{x_{in}}^l \leq 1$ , we get,

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{x_{\text{layer}},n}^2 &\leq (1 - \frac{2}{N})^2 * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},n-1}}^2 + (1 - \frac{2}{N}) * \frac{1}{N} * 1 + \frac{2}{N} \\ &= (1 - \frac{2}{N})^2 * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},n-1}}^2 + \frac{3}{N} - \frac{2}{N^2} \\ &\leq (1 - \frac{2}{N})^2 * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},n-1}}^2 + \frac{3}{N} \end{split}$$

Applying the above recurrence equation N times, we get

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{x_{\text{layer}},N}^2 &\leq (1-\frac{2}{N})^{2N} * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},0}}^2 + \frac{3}{N} * \sum_{i=0}^N (1-\frac{2}{N})^{2i} \\ &= (1-\frac{2}{N})^{2N} * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},0}}^2 + \frac{3}{N} * \frac{1-(1-\frac{2}{N})^{2N}}{1-(1-\frac{2}{N})^2} \end{split}$$

Since  $\lambda^2 + \beta^2 = 1$  and  $\beta^2$  is small for large N. We can rewrite the above equations completely in terms of  $\beta$  as follows

$$\sigma_{x_{\text{layer},N}}^2 = (1-\beta^2)^{2N} * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},0}}^2 + \frac{3}{2}\beta^2 * \frac{1-(1-\beta^2)^{2N}}{1-(1-\beta^2)^2}$$
(4)

$$\approx (1 - \beta^2)^{2N} * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},0}}^2 + \frac{3}{4} (1 - (1 - \beta^2)^{2N})$$
(5)

For large N, we know  $(1-\frac{k}{N})^N\approx e^{-k}.$  So the above becomes -

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{x_{\text{layer}},N}^2 &\approx e^{-4} * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},0}}^2 + \frac{3}{N} * \frac{1 - e^{-4}}{\frac{4}{N} - \frac{4}{N^2}} \\ &\leq e^{-4} * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},0}}^2 + \frac{3}{N} * \frac{1 - e^{-4}}{\frac{4}{N}} \\ &= e^{-4} * 1 + \frac{3}{4} * (1 - e^{-4}) \\ &= \frac{3}{4} + \frac{1}{4e^4} \end{split}$$

This gives us an upper bound on the output variance after N layers. By setting  $r_{x_{in}}^l = 0$  instead of 1 in the equation above, and proceeding similarly, we can also arrive at a lower bound of  $\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2e^4}$ .

$$\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2e^4} \le \sigma_{x_{\text{layer}},N}^2 \le \frac{3}{4} + \frac{1}{4e^4} \tag{6}$$

**Discussion** Informally, this is because the attention block output variance will be between 0 and 0.5, and ffn block output always 1. Because of our  $\lambda, \beta$  scaling, the output will slowly converge to be in between the two outputs.

Note that the above derivation assumes no correlation between the block output and the skip connection. As we mentioned in our main paper, we do observe correlation between the input and the output. As such, theoretically, after every block, the variance  $\sigma_{x_{\text{layer},n}}^2$  can increase by  $\sigma_{x_{\text{block}}}^2 + \sqrt{\sigma_{x_{\text{layer},n}}^2}$ . This will cause the final output variance to increase by factors of  $2 * \sqrt{N}$ . In practice however, we observe the output variances to not grow too large.
#### H.5.2 BACKWARD PASS

Similar to DeepScaleLM Pre-LN, we arrive at

$$\begin{split} \sigma^2_{g_{\text{attn-layernorm}},n-1} &= \frac{C_1 * r^l_{g_{\text{out}},n} * \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out}},n}}{\sigma^2_{x_{\text{in}},n-1}} \\ &\approx \frac{0.5 * C_6}{\sigma^2_{x_{\text{in}},n-1}} * \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out}},n} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{g_{\text{attn-layer},n-1}}^2 &= \lambda^2 \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 + \beta^2 \sigma_{g_{\text{attn-layernorm},n-1}}^2 \\ &= (\lambda^2 + \beta^2 * \frac{0.5 * C_6}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in},n-1}}^2}) * \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \\ &= (1 + \frac{2}{N} * (\frac{0.5 * C_6}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in},n-1}}^2} - 1)) * \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \end{split}$$

Similarly, for the FFN layer, we get

$$\sigma^2_{g_{\rm ffn-layer},n-1} = (1 + \frac{2}{N} * (\frac{1}{\sigma^2_{x_{\rm in},n-1}} - 1)) * \sigma^2_{g_{\rm out},n}$$

Multiplying these, we get

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n-1}}^2 &= (1 + \frac{2}{N} * (\frac{0.5 * C_6}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in},n-1}}^2} - 1)) * (1 + \frac{2}{N} * (\frac{1}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in},n-1}}^2} - 1)) * \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \\ &\approx (1 + \frac{2}{N} * (\frac{0.5 * C_6}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in},n-1}}^2} + \frac{1}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in},n-1}}^2} - 2)) * \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \end{split}$$

As  $0.5 \le \sigma_{x_{\text{in}},n-1}^2$ , we get  $-4 \le \left(\frac{C_6}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}},n-1}^2} + \frac{2}{\sigma_{x_{\text{in}},n-1}^2} - 4\right) \le 2C_6 + 2$ . Hence, on applying the above recurrence N times, we get

$$e^{-4}*\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}},N}^2 \leq \sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}},n-1}^2 \leq e^{2C_6+2}*\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}},N}^2$$

Hence, we show that even for simplified DeepScaleLM Pre-LN, the maximum relative increase/fall in gradient variance is bounded across layers.

**Discussion:** The above derivations will also be valid if there is correlation in the input. Correlation will cause  $\sigma_{x_{in},n-1}^2$  to increase, effectively decreasing the backpropagated gradient through the block to decrease (as Layernorm will scale by inverse of  $\sigma_{x_{in},n-1}^2$ ). However, even in that case, our gradient will still be bounded by the above lower-bound.

Intuitively, as the gradient can flow freely through the skip connection, hence,  $\sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n-1}^2 \ge \lambda^4 * \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2$ , which when applied N times, yields  $\sigma_{g_{\text{out}},1}^2 \ge e^{-4} * \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},N}^2$ 

#### H.6 DEEPSCALELM (SIMPLIFIED) POST-LN

#### H.6.1 FORWARD PASS

The forward pass variance for Post-LN is trivially bounded.

#### H.6.2 BACKWARD PASS

Following an analysis similar to that for DeepScaleLM Post-LN, we get

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n-1}^2 &= \frac{\lambda^2 + 0.5 * \beta^2 * r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l}{\lambda^2 + 0.5 * \beta^2 * r_{x_{\text{in},n}}^l} \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \\ &= \frac{1 + \frac{2}{N} (0.5 r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l - 1)}{1 + \frac{2}{N} (0.5 r_{x_{\text{in},n}}^l - 1)} \sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2 \end{split}$$

Applying taylor expansion, we get,

$$\begin{split} \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n-1}} &\approx (1 + \frac{2}{N} ((0.5r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l - 1) - (0.5r_{x_{\text{in},n}}^l - 1))) \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n}} \\ &= (1 + \frac{1}{N} (r_{g_{\text{out},n}}^l - r_{x_{\text{in},n}}^l)) \sigma^2_{g_{\text{out},n}} \end{split}$$

The above equation can be rewritten in terms of  $\beta$  as follows

$$\sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n-1}^2 = (1 + \frac{\beta^2}{2} (r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l - r_{x_{\text{in}},n}^l)) \sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n}^2$$
(7)

As  $-2 \leq (r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l - r_{x_{\text{in}},n}^l) \leq 2$ , applying the above recurrence N times we get

$$e^{-2}*\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}},N}^2 \leq \sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}},n-1}^2 \leq e^2*\sigma_{g_{\mathrm{out}},N}^2$$

**Discussion:** The above derivations assume no correlation in the input, and hence is only correct at initialization. However, if there is correlation between the block output and skip connection  $(r_x)$ , the layernorm will cause  $\sigma_{g_{out},n-1}^2$  to be down-scaled by a factor of  $1 + \frac{2*r_x}{\sqrt{N}}$ , where c is some constant, as opposed to  $1 + \frac{2}{N}$  above. However, if there is also correlation in the gradients of the block and skip connection  $(r_g)$ , the numerator in the equations above for  $\sigma_{g_{out},n-1}^2$  will also be increased, by a factor of  $1 + \frac{2*r_g}{\sqrt{N}}$ . Hence if the correlations among the gradients and among the output are similar, the above bounds will remain. If  $\beta^2$  is set as  $\frac{1}{N^2}$ , then even if input correlations exist, the backward gradient will be bounded, following a similar derivation as above. However, we conjecture that this decreases the ability of the transformer layers to modify the skip connection too strongly, decreasing the "expressivity" of the model. This is similar to the approach of DSInit, which we show in our main paper does indeed decrease model performance.

## I MODEL MOMENT FIGURES

# I.1 VALIDITY OF THEORETICAL PREDICTIONS AND EXPLODING GRADIENTS EVEN AFTER TRAINING

When training a 64-layer Language Model, we observed repeated gradient explosions causing model divergence. Also, our 64-layer model initially performed worse than a smaller 48-layer model. We observed that (1) The norm of the model output was increasing going forwards (2) The backpropagated gradient was increasing going backward. These issues were more pronounced in the deeper 64-layer model compared to the 48-layer model. We applied our formulae to understand these instabilities.

In Figure 9, we can see the observed growth in the output of a 48-layer PreLN model after 100k training steps. The observed growth across 48 layers remains very close to our predicted values. We observe a similar trend for the backward pass of our 64-layer PreLN model after it was trained for 150k steps. Figure 8 shows the observed gradient explosion hows the observed gradient explosion vs. our hyperbolic growth estimation. Interestingly, our theoretical estimates hold approximately even after the models have been trained for a large number of steps. The model stays in the regime it is initialized with, highlighting the importance of correct initialization.

# I.2 IMPORTANCE OF RESIDUAL SCALING

Any value for  $\lambda$  or  $\beta$  such that  $\lambda^2 + \beta^2 = 1$  is sufficient to preserve the output (similar to Liu et al. (2020b)) and gradients at initialization. However, we observe that for high  $\beta$ , as training progresses,



Figure 8: Gradient explodes backward for 64-layer pre-LN, increasing hyperbolically with number of layers N, after 150k training steps. Our theoretical models still hold - the model never escapes the regime it is initialized in.



Figure 10: Gradient vanishes for Deep-ScaleLM, decreasing exponentially with layers N, using fixed  $\lambda^2 = 0.9$  and  $\beta^2 = 0.1$ , after 50k training steps.



Figure 9: Linear growth in the forward pass for a 48-layer 1024-d PreLN model after training for 100k steps. Our theoretical models still hold well.



Figure 11: Gradient does not vanish for DeepScaleLM, using fixed  $\lambda^2 = 1 - \frac{1}{N}$  and  $\beta^2 = \frac{1}{N}$ , after 50k training steps.

the gradient starts to vanish, as shown in Figure 10. This is because Cov(residual, block) is no longer zero, which causes the forward output to grow across layer and the gradient to vanish.

On the contrary when we choose  $\beta^2 = \frac{1}{N}$ , gradient is conserved even after 50k steps of training as shown in Figure 11.

# J COMPUTE

#### J.1 THEORETICAL COMPUTE

Table 20 provides the exact compute for the models reported in Table 4. We follow the code provided by Electra (Clark et al., 2020) to calculate the each model's compute (FLOPs). We observe that up to 200 layers, the extra compute is within 6 - 7% of the original shallow model.

Layers(N)	d	<b>Compute (Flops)</b>	% Extra
		165M	
12	1024	1.06e20	-
48	512	1.03e20	-2.5%
192	256	1.12e20	6.3%
784	128	1.38e20	30.6%
		330M	
24	1024	1.92e20	-
96	512	1.96e20	2.3%
384	128	2.19e20	14.5%

Table 20: Model compute with increasing depth (keeping  $Nd^2$  constant).

#### J.2 WALL CLOCK TIMES

We also compared wall clock time overheads, and found them to not be too large. For example, the 48-layer-512-d model has only 9.8% overhead in wall clock time compared to 12-layer-1024-d model. Even when larger number of layers, such as 96-layer-512-d, the overhead is only 14.9% compared to 24-layer-1024-d model. Profiling revealed majority of the overhead was due to extra latency of added GPU kernel launches. Hence, approaches such as cudaGraphs (which batches kernel launches together) or graph compilation techniques may decrease this overhead further.

This overhead will decrease the bigger the original model size, and becomes much smaller. For example, for a 5B params model with 24-Layers-4096d (a reasonable shape in contemporary models, for example, LLaMa 7B has 32L-4096D) has much less compute overhead - only 6.6% overhead at 96 layers, and 13.6% overhead at 192 layers.

Despite this wall-clock time overhead, due to large performance gains from increasing depth, the 165M params 192-L model from Table 4 outperforms the vanilla 330M bert-large 24-L model with 2x more params, even at equal wall times.

Furthermore, a large fraction of the perplexity improvements mentioned happen when increasing the number of model layers by 4x - and as shown above, the wall clock time overhead is minimal. Making standard models 4x more deep to 50 - 100 layers, will provide a large fraction of performance gains without much overhead.

# K DISCUSSION OF RELATIVE STRENGTH

In Equation 4, we discussed that the backward recurrence equation for PreLN can be written as

$$\sigma_{x_{\text{layer}},N}^2 \approx (1-\beta^2)^{2N} * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},0}}^2 + \frac{3}{4}(1-(1-\beta^2)^{2N})$$

Replacing  $\beta^2 = \frac{k}{N^{\alpha}}$  and using  $(1 + \frac{k}{N^{\alpha}})^N = e^{kN^{1-\alpha}}$ , we get

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},N}}^2 &\approx e^{2cN^{1-\alpha}} * \sigma_{x_{\text{layer},0}}^2 + \frac{3}{4}(1 - e^{2cN^{1-\alpha}}) \\ &= e^{2cN^{1-\alpha}} * (\sigma_{x_{\text{layer},0}}^2 - \frac{3}{4}) + \frac{3}{4} \end{split}$$

Hence, the fall in gradient for  $\beta^2 = \frac{k}{N^{\alpha}}$  is  $\mathcal{O}(e^{kN^{1-\alpha}})$ . Similarly for PostLN, we can use Equation 7

$$\sigma_{g_{\text{out}},n-1}^2 = (1 + \frac{\beta^2}{2}(r_{g_{\text{out}},n}^l - r_{x_{\text{in}},n}^l))\sigma_{g_{\text{out},n}}^2$$

$$(1-\beta^2)\ast\sigma^2_{g_{\mathrm{out}},N}\leq\sigma^2_{g_{\mathrm{out}},n-1}\leq(1+\beta^2)\ast\sigma^2_{g_{\mathrm{out}},N}$$

Hence, for N layers, the gradient fall/growth is again  $\mathcal{O}(e^{\pm kN^{1-\alpha}})$ .

## L DISCUSSION OF APPROXIMATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS

#### L.1 ILLUSTRATIVE APPROXIMATIONS OF FULL FORMULAE IN MAIN PAPER

Some values listed in Table 1 are approximations/illustrative simplifications of their full closed forms in Appendix E and Appendix C. We discuss all of these below.

For ReLU forward correlation, we used a simple polynomial regression of the closed form formula. This simple regression is a remarkably good fit, as shown in figure Figure 12.

For layernorm, we ignored the factor of 1 compared to d, or 1/d compared to 1, assuming large enough hidden dimension d.

For SHA without V, we used the final simplified formulae for  $\sigma_{x_{out}}^2$  and output correlation from Appendix C.8. For the gradient, we further simplified the formulae in Appendix C.8, assuming  $L \approx L - 1$ .

In Table 2, we applied a similar approximation as above for ReLU, from the full formula in Appendix E for output correlation. This polynomial approximation is also a very good fit, as shown in Figure 13.



Figure 12: Approximation of the Relu forward correlation formula



Figure 13: Approximation of the FFN forward correlation formula, without dropout. Dropout will reduce the above correlation by 1 - p.

#### L.2 ASSUMPTIONS AND APPROXIMATIONS IN DERIVATIONS

Except for attention and softmax all other derivations of transformer components - Embeddings, FFN, ReLU/GeLU, Dropout, FFN Block are fully exact, assuming only normal distribution of inputs, weights and gradients. Furthermore for LayerNorm and softmax, we only add the assumption that the sequence length/hidden dimension is large.

For simplification of these formulae when doing empirical analysis, we used additional assumptions. For embeddings, we assumed Zipf's law to calculate initial input correlation in tokens, as well as assumed uniform distribution for segment lengths for next sentence prediction task of BERT. Note that this assumption is not strictly required, and can also be empirically observed and given as input to our method.

For LayerNorm, we assume the hidden dimension is large, d >> 1 (so that we can ignore factors related to d - 1 or 1/d). For softmax, we assume sequence length L is large so that the sum of

log-normals can be written as another log-normal. The single-head attention requires some more assumptions as are listed in Appendix C.8.

## M DEEPSCALELM PSEUDOCODE

```
## Define constants for scaling residual and output \lambda^2 = 1-\frac{2}{N} ; \beta^2 = \frac{2}{N} ## Define constants for embedding and FFN block
\sigma_e^2 = \frac{1-p}{3} ; \sigma_f^2 = \frac{1}{d} * \sqrt{\frac{1-p}{2}}
## Scale skip connection and block output
def add_skip(x, f(x)):
      return \lambda * x + \beta * f(x)
## Find layerwise input correlation upto N layers
def corr_input_layerwise(r, N):
       r_{N} = []
      for i in range(N):
r = \lambda^2 . r + \beta^2(1-p)
            \mathbf{r} = \lambda^2 \cdot \mathbf{r} + \beta^2 (1-p) (r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l + \frac{(1-(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)^2)^{0.5}}{\pi} - \frac{r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l \cos^{-1}(r_{x_{\text{in}}}^l)}{\pi})
             r_N.append(r)
       return \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{N}}
## Define constants for attention block
\sigma_{l,o}^2 = \frac{1}{d} * \sqrt{\frac{1-p}{r_{x_{in}}^{l,n}}}; \ \sigma_{qk}^2 = \frac{1}{d} ; r=r_{x_{in}}^l
where r_{x_{in}}^{l,n} = \text{corr_input_layerwise(r, N)[n]}
## Stable initialization of weights
def dslm_init(w, l):
       if w is ['ffn']:
      nn.init.normal_(w, gain = \sigma_f)
elif w is ['v_proj', 'out_proj']:
      nn.init.normal_(w, gain = \sigma_{l,o})
elif w is ['q_proj', 'k_proj']:
            nn.init.normal_(w, gain = \sigma_{qk})
       elif w is ['embd']:
             nn.init.normal_(w, gain = \sigma_{e})
```

Figure 14: Pseudo-code for our proposed method DeepScaleLM: We scale the block output and the skip connection before adding, and keep track of correlation across layers. We appropriately initialize the weights. (N: num of layers, d: model hidden dimension, p: dropout probability,  $r_{x_{in}}^l$  is calculated based on expressions provided in subsection C.1.)

```
## Define constants of DeepScaleLM

\lambda^2 = 1 - \frac{2}{N}; \beta^2 = \frac{2}{N}

\sigma_e^2 = \frac{1-p}{3}; \sigma_{qk}^2 = \frac{1}{d}; \sigma_f^2 = \frac{1}{d} * \sqrt{\frac{1-p}{2}}

## Scale skip connection and block output

def add_skip(x, f(x)):

    return \lambda * x + \beta * f(x)

## Stable initialization of weights

def init(w):

    if w is ['ffn', 'v_proj', 'out_proj']:

        nn.init.normal_(w, gain = \sigma_f)

    elif w is ['q_proj', 'k_proj']:

        nn.init.normal_(w, gain = \sigma_{qk})

    elif w is ['embd']:

        nn.init.normal_(w, gain = \sigma_e)
```

Figure 15: Pseudo-code for simplified version of our DeepScaleLM method.

# N HYPER-PARAMETERS

We used Megatron-LM's default BertWordPieceLowerCase tokenizer, with the original BERT lower-cased vocab, and with trainable position embeddings. The same hyper-parameters (including LR schedule, warmup) were used for all models, and LR search over the range below was performed for all models. The final best models always had optimal LR within the range and not at the boundary of the LR range for all of our experiments.

Parameters	Values	
Optimizer	Adam	
$\beta_2, \beta_2$	0.9, 0.999	
Effective Batch Size	256	
Drop-out $(p)$	0.1	
Sequence Length	256	
Train Iters	100,000	
Num GPUs	8	
Learning rate	$[1, 3, 5, 7, 10]*10^{-4}$	
Schedule	Linear	
LR Decay Iterations	98%	
Warmup steps	1%	
Min LR	$1 * 10^{-5}$	
Gradient clipping	1.0	
Batch Size / GPU	2	
Grad Accum Steps	16	

Table 21: Training Hyper-Parameters. We use all original hyper-parameters of BERT, except for learning-rate(LR).